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Consolidated Key Figures

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Incoming orders (EUR million) 63.7 155.8 104.8 72.8 95.6

Revenue (EUR million) 112.6 98.3 84.7 77.6 91.1

EBIT (operating) (EUR million) 5.6 3.3 3.0 1.6 4.1

EBITDA (IFRS) (EUR million) 13.9 9.7 9.1 7.8 12.1

EBIT (IFRS) (EUR million) –2.7 0.8 –0.5 –3.9 4.3

Consolidated profit (IFRS) (EUR million) –5.4 –1.2 –0.1 –4.6 2.9

Earnings per share (IFRS) (EUR) –0.60 –0.13 –0.01 –0.50 0.31

Non-current assets (EUR million) 56.6 64.4 62.5 64.3 70.6

Current assets (EUR million) 46.5 46.1 40.8 40.9 46.1

Equity (EUR million) 54.6 61.8 63.5 63.0 69.6

Equity ratio (in %) 53.0 56.0 61.5 59.9 59.6

Cash and cash equivalents (EUR million) 4.9 6.8 9.6 10.2 14.9

Number of employees (annual average) 432 395 388 399 404
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, EMPLOYEES, PARTNERS AND FRIENDS OF SOFTING AG,

To get straight to the point: even though we faced a number of challenges in 2023, it was a good year for 
Softing. We made significant headway not only in terms of growth and profitability, but also in product and 
market development. Some measures had a visible impact as early as 2023, but other steps are only just 
starting to take effect or will do so in subsequent years.

Softing gained momentum once more, with revenue comfortably passing the EUR 100 million threshold 
for the first time ever on a purely organic basis. We lifted revenue by over 14% to EUR 112.6 million from 
EUR 98.3 million in the previous year. In addition to the development of new customer relationships and 
the expansion of existing ones, this is thanks in no small measure to the clearing of backorders from 2022. 
Yet, even if – due to the delivery backlog – we look at the average of revenue for 2022 and 2023 instead 
of revenue for the individual year, we still achieved organic growth of around 8% in this two-year period.

The materials procurement teams, which we strengthened in response to the supply chain issues, were 
highly successful and became increasingly skilled at procuring the required quantities of electronic com-
ponents and repeatedly aligning production with the components available. This in turn enabled us to 
make deliveries within significantly shorter time frames. As a result, incoming orders in 2023 returned a 
more normal level of EUR 63.7 million, down from the extremely high figure of EUR 155.8 million recorded 
for the previous year, which was dominated by concerns about delivery deadlines. If we also averaged 
this over two years, annual incoming orders would be around EUR 110 million. The faster delivery times 
also benefited orders on hand, which stood at EUR 45.1 million as of December 31, 2023 (previous year: 
EUR 89.9 million).

Once again, the Industrial segment made the largest contributions to both revenue and earnings, gener-
ating revenue of EUR 83.0 million (previous year: EUR 72.0 million). We are especially pleased about the 
trend in operating EBIT in our largest segment, which climbed to EUR 9.8 million from EUR 4.9 million in 
2022, giving an operating EBIT margin of around 12%. EBIT came in at a slightly lower level, at EUR 8.8 
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million (previous year: EUR 4.1 million). The main contributors to this improvement were our companies in 
the United States and Germany. Italy and China delivered a weaker performance than in the previous year, 
impacted by local economic factors.

The Automoti ve segment achieved long-term sales success with new hardware and soft ware products. 
We expanded our customer base for diagnosti c and testi ng soluti ons by adding new and advanced soft -
ware soluti ons, primarily increasing the proporti on of business done with soft ware leasing (SaaS) models. 
Installing test benches at new customers also gave our revenue a signifi cant boost, resulti ng in an 18.1% 
increase in revenue from EUR 19.3 million to EUR 22.8 million for the Automoti ve segment. This fi gure 
does not yet include any relevant revenue from the major order placed by a premium manufacturer to 
equip its global producti on faciliti es. The resulti ng surge in revenue will only start in the current year. All of 
the core areas of the Automoti ve segment made a positi ve contributi on to EBIT.

Our Globalmati X subsidiary won additi onal customers for piloti ng its telemati cs soluti ons for vehicles. 
However, orders for feasibility studies were postponed by customers and revenue fell signifi cantly short 
of the guidance. We developed and tested new products to be used for innovati ve ti re protecti on, key-
less operati on of rental fl eets and concealed theft  protecti on. While this kept costs high, it diff erenti ates 
us from generic low-cost soluti ons on the market and will serve as a jumping-off  point for revenue growth 
in subsequent years. Even in the opening months of the current year, we received new orders that sent 
out an important signal. We believe that these and very specifi c discussions about near-term deliveries 
confi rm our strategy despite the negati ve impact on the Automoti ve segment caused by Globalmati X. We 
expect revenue to rise in the current year, which will at least signifi cantly ease fi nancial pressure. 

The conti nued high level of market entry investments in the area of telemati cs services eroded improve-
ments in the Automoti ve segment to some degree. Operati ng EBIT, our primary key performance indica-
tor, increased by EUR 1 million to EUR –0.9 million (previous year: EUR –1.9 million), but remained nega-
ti ve and points to a need for further acti on. In additi on, EBIT for the Automoti ve segment was reduced by 
non-recurring eff ects of over EUR 3.0 million caused by the correcti on of goodwill and the amount capital-
ized for Globalmati X soft ware.

It was a turbulent year for the IT Networks segment. We signifi cantly expanded our product portf olio last 
year and closed gaps, parti cularly in the area of fi ber opti c technology. The fi nal market launch of the 
LinkXpert series took place in the latt er half of the year, when we also took over sales of arc fusion splic-
ers for connecti ng fi ber opti c cables. However, because the typical lead ti me in this market segment is 
six to eight months, the eff ects will only become fully visible in the current year, for which we anti cipate 
double-digit growth. In 2023, the surprise total loss of a contract manufacturer from the United States 
also impacted on our operati ons. Despite moving the orders to two German manufacturers right away, it 
meant that we were unable to deliver two product lines, each with an annual revenue potenti al in excess 
of EUR 1 million, for seven and eleven months respecti vely due to the lead ti mes. 



Our acquisition of Psiber Data GmbH led to the creation of the IT Networks segment. Transforming from 
a sales organization with third-party products into a company that manufactures most of its own prod-
ucts had a financial impact. For accounting reasons, the figures recognized for distribution, which are now 
declining, may not be offset against the figures for the new product business. Goodwill was corrected in 
the amount of EUR 5.1 million. Even though this one-off correction had no impact whatsoever on cash 
flow, it had a significant adverse effect on segment EBIT. 

Revenue for the IT Networks segment was slightly lower at EUR 7.3 million (previous year: EUR 7.7 million) 
due to the protracted supply disruption for the two top-selling device series. This, along with the ongo-
ing costs of setting up a pan-European sales organization and the expenses for developing a core product 
for IT Networks from scratch, kept operating EBIT in negative territory at EUR –2.6 million (previous year: 
EUR –2.4 million). We expect earnings to shoot up in the current year now that the entire portfolio can be 
delivered from stock and an important new product is due out in the fall. 

Operating EBIT for the entire Softing Group, i. e. EBIT adjusted for capitalized development services of 
EUR 5.7 million and amortization and impairment of EUR 6.2 million on these as well as effects from pur-
chase price allocation, totaled EUR 5.6 million in 2023 (previous year: EUR 3.3 million), significantly exceed-
ing the prior-year figure for operating EBIT of EUR 3.0 million to EUR 3.5 million in spite of the challenges 
described above. 

EBIT for the 2023 financial year is mainly impacted by the restatement of goodwill in the IT Networks 
and GlobalmatiX segments in the aggregate amount of EUR 6.2 million and the related valuation allow-
ances recognized on internally developed software of EUR 2.0 million. The one-off correction of goodwill 
reduced consolidated EBIT to EUR –2.7 million in 2023 from EUR 0.8 million in the previous year. Even after 
adjusting for non-recurring impairment losses, EBIT significantly exceeded the guidance at EUR 5.5 million. 

The current political and economic backdrop remains very challenging for our work, to say the least. Sum-
ming up the political situation briefly: Russia continues to wage war in Europe, a new, horrific conflict has 
broken out in the Gaza Strip, and China continues to augment its military capabilities at record speed 
despite its economic problems. The last remaining military superpower – the USA – goes to the polls 
this year, and we could well see the election of an egomaniac who is intellectually unfit to lead the West-
ern world. Meanwhile, Germany is essentially lacking political leadership, rendering it insignificant on the 
world stage. Instead of using tax revenue primarily to fund growth and education, the federal government 
is squandering them on completely excessive social benefits for purely consumption-oriented measures 
and businesses wherever it can. In short, remaining calm and optimistic in this difficult situation requires 
some energy. 
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Economic forecasts for Germany and Europe assume stagnati on or at most slight growth – at least for the 
fi rst half of 2024. Major US companies in the automati on industry project that demand will initi ally decline 
and do not expect fresh growth sti mulus unti l the second half of the year. China is not expected to grow at 
all this year. The 5% growth forecast by the Chinese government is wishful thinking at best. Soft ing’s strat-
egy is therefore to exploit potenti al with our existi ng customers to the fullest, to examine opportuniti es for 
non-organic growth and to shore up profi tability through disciplined cost management.

We anti cipate that Industrial Automati on will post weaker revenue in the fi rst half of the year before recov-
ering at least to some extent in the second half. For Automoti ve we expect to see higher revenue with 
much bett er margins thanks to the strong positi oning in longer-term projects. Revenue for Globalmati X 
should rise signifi cantly, creati ng an improved earnings positi on. IT Networks will benefi t from the avail-
ability of the enti re product range and from signifi cantly expanded sales channels – the latt er boosti ng rev-
enue in the second half of the year in parti cular. 

In view of the economic situati on, we project revenue of between EUR 105 million and EUR 113 million at 
Group level for 2024. We expect the Soft ing Group to generate operati ng EBIT of between EUR 5.0 million 
and EUR 7.0 million, with a much-improved positi ve EBIT in the range of EUR 3.0 million to EUR 4.5 million. 

The Executi ve Board conti nues to base its planning on a normal procurement situati on for electronic com-
ponents and an only moderate recession in the global economy. Due to the large number of geopoliti -
cal hotspots and their impact on the global economy, increased forecasti ng uncertainty is inevitable, as 
refl ected in the revenue and earnings ranges menti oned above.

We look forward to your sustained support and hope you will accompany us as we implement our goals. 

Sincerely yours,

Dr. Wolfgang Trier
(Chief Executi ve Offi  cer)
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So ing S ares

ISIN/WKN DE0005178008/517800
Super sector Information Technology (IT)
Sector Software
Subsector IT-Services
Ticker symbol SYT
Bloomberg/Reuters SYT GR/SYTG
Trading segment Prime Standard, Official trading, EU-regulated market
Stock exchanges XETRA, Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Munich, Hamburg, Düsseldorf, Berlin, 

Bremen, Tradegate
Initial listing (IPO) May 16, 2000
Indices Prime All Share Performance Index
Share class No-par bearer ordinary share with a notional value of EUR 1.00 

per share
Share capital EUR 9,105,381
Authorized Capital EUR 4,552,690 until May 5, 2027
Contingent Capital EUR 4,552,690 until May 5, 2027
Designated sponsors ICF Bank AG Wertpapierhandelsbank

M.M. Warburg & CO (AG & CO.) KGaA
Research coverage Warburg Research

KEY DATA OF SOFTING SHARES

EQUITY MARKETS IN 2023
The 2023 trading year was dominated by three 
factors in particular: Russia’s war of aggression 
against Ukraine, the battle to curb inflation, and 
rising interest rates. The mood in the equity mar-
kets reached rock bottom after a banking crisis in 
the spring that peaked with the collapse of Swiss 
banking giant Credit Suisse. This caused Germa-
ny’s DAX share index to drop to 14,600, an annual 
low it reached again in October before the market 
turned a corner and the DAX rose above 17,000 
points for the first time in its history. By year-end it 
sat at 16,752 points, 20% higher than at the start 
of the year.

SOFTING SHARES
Softing’s shares started the year at a price of 
EUR 5.24 and, on the back of positive figures 
announced for the first quarter, reached their first 
interim high of EUR 7.40 on April 19 and remained 
above EUR 7.00 until mid-June. The share price 
then declined to EUR 6.40 over the next four 
weeks before rebounding to EUR 7.15 on July 17. 
After that, Softing’s shares steadily trended down-
wards to EUR 6.00 until October 30, albeit with 
several smaller upward movements along the way. 
In November, the stock reached an interim high of 
EUR 6.50 before falling sharply to its annual low of 
EUR 5.30 by December 27. The shares were trad-
ing at EUR 5.40 at year-end on December 29. At 
the December 31, 2023 reporting date, the mar-
ket capitalization of Softing AG was EUR 49.2 mil-
lion, slightly above the previous year’s figure of 
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EUR 48.3 million. The share capital of Softing AG 
remains unchanged at EUR 9,105,381, divided into 
the same number of no-par-value shares. Softing 
shares are currently (March 20, 2024) trading at 
EUR 5.60.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Earnings per share (EPS) were EUR –0.63 in 2023, 
compared with EUR –0.13 in the previous year. 
Softing AG calculates earnings per share in accor-
dance with IAS 33 on the basis of the average num-
ber of shares outstanding.

GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 
RESOLVES TO DISTRIBUTE A DIVIDEND
On May 4, 2023, the General Shareholders’ Meet-
ing of Softing AG again resolved to distribute a divi-
dend of EUR 0.10 per share based on the earnings 
generated in the 2022 financial year.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 
As far as the Company is aware, Helm Trust Com-
pany Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, UK, remains the 
single largest investor in Softing’s 9,105,381 shares 
with 2,043,221 shares (22.4%). The next major 
shareholder is Mr. Alois Widmann, Vaduz, Princi-
pality of Liechtenstein, who holds 1,450,000 shares 
(15.9%), followed by a number of institutional 
investors and several private anchor investors. The 
remaining shares are in free float.

ANALYST RECOMMENDATIONS 
Warburg Research has analyzed Softing shares reg-
ularly for years in research reports and has pub-
lished six studies and updates on the shares in 
2023. The most recent update of December 18, 
2023 continues to recommend buying the shares 
and states a price target of EUR 8.90.
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Information about analysts’ reports on Softing 
shares is available at www.softing.com under Inves-
tor, News & Publications, Research. The Press & 
Interviews section contains information about the 
growth prospects of the Softing Group published 
in a variety of financial newspapers and magazines 
such as 4investors, Börsengeflüster, Börse Online, 
Der Aktionär, Effecten-Spiegel, Börse Global, 
Börsengeflüster.de, Value-Depesche, Nebenwerte 
Journal Extra, Nebenwerte Magazin, Frankfurter 
Börsenbrief, finanzen.net, Plusvisionen and others. 

CAPITAL MARKET COMMUNICATIONS 
Investor relations are a key concern of the Group. 
To continuously ensure the necessary attention 
and attractiveness on the capital markets, Softing 
in 2023 participated in investor conferences, such 
as the German Equity Forum held in Frankfurt am 
Main in November and the Munich Capital Mar-
ket Conference (MKK), also in November. In the 
current year 2024, Softing will again take part in 
selected analyst conferences to provide ongoing 
support to investors. 

The activities in financial communications were 
complemented by numerous meetings with insti-
tutional and private investors as well as repre-
sentatives of the press. On the Company’s web-
site, investors can find relevant information on the 
Softing shares (Investor section) and about the 
Company.
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CORPORATE BOARDS AND 
DIRECTORS’ HOLDINGS

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
March 28, 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements /Annual Report 2023
May 7, 2024 Interim Management Statement Q1/3M 2024
May 8, 2024 General Shareholders’ Meeting 2024
August 14, 2024 Half-yearly Report 2024
November 12, 2024 Interim Management Statement Q3/9M 2024
November 13, 2024 Munich Capital Market Conference
November 25–27, 2024 German Equity Forum, Frankfurt/Main
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Co ined anage ent Report o  So ing  
and t e So ing roup or t e  Finan ial ear

FUNDAMENTAL INFORMATION 
ABOUT THE COMPANY AND THE GROUP

BUSINESS MODEL
The Softing Group’s Business Model
The Softing Group is an established international 
software and systems house in three segments: 
Industrial, Automotive and IT Networks. The Com-
pany develops and markets complex, high-quality 
software, hardware and complete system solu-
tions. Hardware prototypes are developed by 
Softing itself; production takes place externally.

Softing’s Executive Board is of the opinion that 
through its Industrial seg ent the Company is a 
leading provider worldwide of industrial communi-
cations solutions and products for the manufactur-
ing and process industry. The products are tailored 
to the requirements of system and device manu-
facturers, machinery and plant engineers as well as 
end users, and they are known for being extremely 
user-friendly and offering functional advantages. It 
focuses on components and tools for fieldbus sys-
tems and industrial control systems, as well as on 
solutions for production automation.

Diagnostics, measurement and testing, the core 
topics covered by Softing’s uto oti e seg ent, 
represent key technologies in automotive elec-
tronics as well as such closely related areas in elec-
tronics as the commercial vehicle or agricultural 
machinery industry. The segment’s range of prod-
ucts and services encompasses hardware and soft-
ware, customized solutions as well as on-site con-
sulting and engineering. Softing specializes in the 
entire life cycle of electronic control units and sys-
tems – from development to production all the 
way to services. Development work in Automotive 

is focused on standardization. Softing is an active 
member in the major standards bodies for auto-
motive electronics such as ASAM and ISO. With 
the acquisition of GlobalmatiX AG, remote data 
transmission has taken on a new dimension for the 
Group in recent years and was brought to market 
maturity in 2019. 

The IT et or s seg ent is dedicated to test-
ing, qualifying and certifying cabling in IT systems 
based on worldwide technological standards. Cus-
tomers use IT Networks’ measuring devices for 
copper, fiber optic and WiFi networks to optimize 
their daily work processes and create security in 
data exchange.

Consulting, analyses, studies and training round 
out the range of services offered by all three oper-
ating segments. Softing primarily offers its services 
and products to the European and North Ameri-
can markets. But the Asian markets such as China, 
Japan and Korea are becoming more and more 
important.

Presentation of the Segments
Segmentation of the Softing Group is based on its 
internal reporting and organizational structure, 
taking into account the different risks and income 
structures of each individual division. Segmenta-
tion by divisions entails allocating Softing’s activi-
ties to the Automotive, Industrial and IT Networks 
segments. Please see the section on segment 
reporting in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details as well as quantita-
tive disclosures on the Softing Group’s segments.
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The Group’s Business Model

Industrial Segment
So ing Industrial uto ation 
Softing Industrial Automation GmbH, domiciled in 
Haar near Munich, in the opinion of the Executive 
Board is a leading provider worldwide of industrial 
communications solutions and products for the 
manufacturing and the process industry. The prod-
ucts are tailored to the requirements of system and 
device manufacturers, machinery and plant engi-
neers or end users, and they are known for being 
user-friendly and offering functional advantages. 
Shaped by well over 30 years of expertise and 
experience in software and embedded engineer-
ing, Softing Industrial Automation and its employ-
ees today benefit from a strong Softing brand that 
is renowned for the excellence of its industrial 
communications solutions.

The ongoing trend towards all-pervasive digita-
lization marked by a strong focus on IoT and IIoT 
(“Industrial Internet of Things”) not only strength-
ens Softing’s market position but drives solid 
demand for the Company’s products and services 
that target applications both at existing manufac-
turing sites and new production facilities.

So ing Italia s r l
Softing Italia is a subsidiary of Softing Industrial 
Automation GmbH and supports customers in the 
manufacturing and process industries locally in 
Italy and the Southern Balkans. 

nline e elop ent In  ( I) and So ing In  
Online Development Inc. and Softing Inc. (both 
domiciled in Knoxville, TN), and the sales office 
Softing Inc. (Newburyport, MA) are organizationally 

subsidiaries of Softing North America Holding Inc 
domiciled in Delaware. A leading Original Design 
Manufacturer (ODM) for almost 30 years in the 
opinion of the Executive Board, OLDI offers a port-
folio of hardware and software products that sup-
ports a large number of industrial market seg-
ments. Major brand manufacturers use OLDI’s 
wealth of expertise in industrial data processing 
and communication to enhance the market launch 
of both innovative and proven technologies. 
Softing Inc. is a sales company serving the North 
American market with products for industrial auto-
mation and IT infrastructure diagnostics. Softing 
Inc. thus manages the majority of Softing’s prod-
uct business in North America.

Bu au  uto ation 
The sales office Buxbaum Automation GmbH, 
Eisenstadt, serves customers in the manufacturing 
and process industries locally in Austria and some 
neighboring countries. 

IT Networks Segment
So ing IT et or s  and 
So ing Singapore te  td  
Softing IT Networks GmbH, domiciled in Haar, near 
Munich, Germany, provides IT network diagnos-
tic equipment, which is used in office installations, 
industrial automation and data centers. Softing Sin-
gapore, domiciled in Singapore, supplies test and 
measuring devices for copper and glass fiber data 
networks. This includes both the development and 
manufacture of ultra-high performance products 
in this field and accessories to support sales activi-
ties. Apart from managing sales and distribution in 
Asia, Softing Singapore provides technical support 
and calibration services for the products offered.



Automotive Segment
So ing uto oti e Ele troni s 
Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH, domiciled 
in Haar near Munich, Germany, offers products and 
services for diagnostics and test automation. The 
comprehensive process-based approach of the 
Softing solutions enhances quality and reliability 
in control unit communications. With over 80,000 
installations, Softing in the opinion of the Execu-
tive Board holds a leading position in the market 
for diagnostic and test systems in the field of auto-
motive electronics. Automobile manufacturers 
and system and control unit suppliers around the 
world rely on Softing’s proven hardware and soft-
ware tools and solutions. 

So ing Engineering  Solutions 
Softing Engineering & Solutions GmbH domiciled 
in Kirchentellinsfurt organizationally is a subsidiary 
of Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH. Softing 
has successfully engaged in the field of automo-
tive test solutions for more than 20 years and 
offers extensive expert knowledge on every aspect 
of automated testing of automotive electronics. 
The Company has already implemented functional 
tests and test designs for many control units used 
in motor vehicles. To offer the best possible sup-
port, Softing Engineering & Solutions GmbH pro-
vides high-quality services directly on customers’ 
premises if required. Competent consulting and 
engineering services focused on the Company’s 
core competence – diagnostics, measurement 
and testing – are rendered to customers. Its well-
trained staff in some cases work directly on site. 
Establishing close links between all important par-
ticipants is a hallmark of the approach of Softing 
Engineering & Solutions GmbH and plays a decisive 
role in the success of its projects. The products of 
Softing Mess-Technik (SMT) also cover the field of 
mobile and stationary data logging systems. 

lo al ati   lo al ati  In  
and lo al ati  
GlobalmatiX AG, domiciled in Liechtenstein and 
represented with sales companies in the USA 
and Germany, is a mobile virtual network opera-
tor (MVNO) offering mobile data communications 
for vehicles and machinery in Europe and North 
America where such technology is needed in the 
areas of (semi-)autonomous driving and other 
connected services for vehicles and machinery. 
Globalmatix supports its customers in managing 
their fleets more efficiently. As GlobalmatiX offers 
not only the necessary hardware, but also ongo-
ing data analysis and data collection, GlobalmatiX 
generates ongoing service revenue in addition to 
device revenue as its customer base grows. 

Other Companies
So ing Ser i es 
Softing Services GmbH, domiciled in Haar 
near Munich, Germany, provides services for 
Softing AG’s operating companies.

So ingRo  s r l
The subsidiary SoftingROM s.r.l. (SoftingROM), 
which is domiciled in Cluj, Romania, is a subsidiary 
of Softing Services GmbH. SoftingROM forms an 
important pool of IT specialists for complex devel-
opment tasks within the Softing Group and is a 
strategically important part of the Softing Group.

So ing S R
Softing S.A.R.L., domiciled in Paris, France, pro-
vides the legal and organizational framework for 
the sales and marketing activities of the Softing 
Group in France.

So ing Ele troni  S ien e  Te nology 
(S ang ai) Co  td
Softing Services GmbH and Beijing Windhill Tech-
nology Co., Ltd. operate a joint venture concern-
ing the marketing of Softing Group products in the 
Chinese market. 
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So ing ort  eri a olding In  
ela are S

Softing North America Holding Inc. is the cen-
tral holding company for the North American 
subsidiaries.

Business Model of Softing AG
Softing AG acts as a management holding com-
pany for the Softing Group. It generates revenue 
from invoicing for management services, legal 
assistance and quality management services pro-
vided to the subsidiaries. Beyond this, the business 
model is limited to the management of the equity 
investments. 

These consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared in accordance with Section 315e (1) German 
Commercial Code subject to application of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as applicable within the European Union.

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
The Softing Group uses key performance indicators 
(KPIs) to manage its business; these KPIs include 
consolidated revenue; earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT), operating EBIT (EBIT adjusted for 
capitalized development services and their amorti-
zation as well as the effects of purchase price allo-
cation), which is derived from EBIT. Working capital 
is also managed via selected KPIs. Working capital 
mainly comprises inventories as well as trade receiv-
ables and trade payables. With regard to Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR), reference is made to 
the disclosures in the Sustainability Report, https://
investor.softing.com/corporate-governance-code/
sustainability-report.html.

Inventory is analyzed on an ongoing basis and 
reviewed at regular intervals for parts that are 
no longer needed and written down as neces-
sary. Short-term sales forecasts are used to man-
age orders for new goods based on inventory 

availability. The aim is to have delivery capacity at 
all times so that our customers can also be sup-
plied with products at short notice. During the 
COVID-19 pandemic and procurement crisis, there 
were delays in supply capability, most of which 
were resolved during 2023.

Trade receivables are periodically monitored based 
on their aging structure and tested for impairment. 
Customers are usually subject to internal credit lim-
its. There is strict follow-up of past-due receivables.

There was no increase in bad debts during the 
political and social upheavals seen in recent years.

Trade payables are mostly settled using available 
cash discounts.

On account of its business model, internal man-
agement at Softing AG is based mainly on the prof-
its or losses under profit transfer agreements and 
dividends of Group companies. By managing the 
subsidiaries as explained above, Softing AG also 
manages the profits or losses under profit transfer 
agreements in the parent company itself.

Research and Product Development
For years, the Softing Group has invested a large 
portion of the cash generated by its revenue in 
research and development. In total, the Softing 
Group invested EUR 18.8 million (previous year: 
EUR 15.9 million) in the development of new prod-
ucts and the enhancement of existing ones in con-
nection with customer projects. This corresponds 
to an investment ratio (ratio of development costs 
to revenue) of 16.7% (previous year: 16.2%). The 
Softing Group capitalized 30.0% (previous year: 
25.1%) of its development costs.

In the past financial year, amortization (EUR 4.2 mil-
lion) and impairment (EUR 2.0 million) of capital-
ized development costs added up to EUR 6.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 4.6 million).



At year-end, 252 employees were engaged in 
research and development (previous year: 224). 
Softing AG itself is not engaged in any research and 
development activities. These take place exclu-
sively at the operating segments. The focus areas 
in 2023 are shown below:

Industrial Seg ent
The new 2-wire Advanced Physical Layer (APL) 
Ethernet communications technology was spe-
cially designed for the requirements of the pro-
cess industry in 2023. In addition to expanding its 
technology integration products and services, the 
Company expects this innovation to boost growth 
due in particular to an all-new product family – APL 
switches. Softing also invested in edge connectiv-
ity (factory automation / machine connectivity) 
and expanding its products and services for access 
to asset monitoring (process automation / device 
connectivity).

IT et or s Seg ent
Work in the IT Networks segment focused on the 
WireXpert product family, with product refine-
ments, add-ons and new developments. Devel-
opment also focused on additional digitalization 
opportunities and simpler ways for customers to 
use existing devices for analysis.

uto oti e Seg ent
In the Automotive segment, Softing AG continues 
to focus on two areas:

In the traditional automotive business, we con-
tinued to work on integrating the various prod-
uct segments with high-level customer solutions in 
2023, utilizing the product market teams initiated 
in 2022. We also worked on the next generation 
of products for the flexible integration of database 
systems as well as the expansion of ‘remote’ use 
cases, and continued to develop the DTS9 as well 
as VCI (Vehicle Communication Interfaces). The 
next generation of the TDX product segment cur-
rently under development features highly scalable 
clout technologies that facilitate the flexible inte-
gration of additional customer backend systems. 
The first successful pilot projects have already 
been carried out, and the product was launched in 
the 2023 financial year. Initial customer orders for 
the projects mentioned above showed how impor-
tant these developments in recent years are; this 
has also been reported in the press. 

In telematics, we continued to develop the central 
platform (cloud platform) for the realization of new 
“Connected Car” applications by further improving 
and stabilizing the platform’s performance.
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REPORT ON ECONOMIC POSITION

MACROECONOMIC AND SECTOR-SPECIFIC 
ENVIRONMENT IN 2023
The global economy performed better than 
expected in 2023 amid the inflation shock and sig-
nificant monetary policy tightening, even if eco-
nomic expansion was moderate. Inflation rates are 
now falling. In advanced economies, considerable 
uncertainty about the economic environment is 
reducing growth, while fiscal stimuli are also com-
ing to an end. In China, economic momentum vir-
tually came to a standstill due to huge problems 
in the real estate sector, Western sanctions result-
ing from aggressive military conduct in Southeast 
Asia, and demographic trends. As a result, China 
is increasingly mutating into the global economy’s 
brakes instead of being its engine. Overall, global 
economic growth reached 3.1% in 2023 based on 
purchasing power parities (PPPs). (Source: IfW, Kiel 
Institute Economic Reports, No. 109 and No. 110, 
www.ifw-kiel.de, as well as adjustments from the 
publications of ifo Institute, Munich)

In terms of current disruption to manufacturing 
output, the situation recently eased on both the 
supply and demand side (compared to the start 
of the fourth quarter of 2023). 43% of compa-
nies in the German Electrical and Electronic Man-
ufacturers’ Association (ZVEI e.V.) were still report-
ing a lack of orders and 29% a shortage of skilled 
and unskilled workers, while 21% cited raw mate-
rial shortages as an issue. After an initial rebound 
in December, the business climate in the German 
electrical and electronic manufacturing indus-
try continue to improve in January 2024. All in all, 
although the current situation is assessed as being 
exactly the same as in the previous month, gen-
eral business expectations are rising considerably, 
with 22% of electrical firms rating their situation as 
good in January, while 52% said their situation was 
unchanged and 26% assessed it as poor. Looking 
ahead to the next six months, 15% of companies in 
this sector expected business to pick up, with 58% 
anticipating unchanging volumes and 27% envis-
aging a decline in activity. Export expectations also 
rose in January and were very slightly positive once 

again for the first time in six months, with the bal-
ance of companies expecting to make more or 
fewer deliveries abroad in the next three months 
increasing by 4.5 percentage points. (Source: ZVEI 
Economic Barometer, February 2024 edition, www.
zvei.org)

COURSE OF BUSINESS
The Softing Group’s revenue significantly exceeded 
the EUR 100 million mark for the first time in the 
2023 financial year. This is also due to the fact that 
large order books from 2022 were still being pro-
cessed in 2023. Revenue amounted to EUR 112.6 
million in the year under review (previous year: 
EUR 98.3 million), an increase of 14.5%. Incoming 
orders returned to a more normal level of EUR 63.7 
million after EUR 155.8 million in the previous 
year, resulting in an average annual order intake 
of around EUR 110 million across both financial 
years. Orders on hand amount to EUR 45.1 million 
as of December 31, 2023 (previous year: EUR 89.9 
million). 

EBITDA amounted to EUR 13.9 million in the 
year under review (previous year: EUR 9.7 mil-
lion), and the EBITDA margin was 12.3% (previ-
ous year: 9.9%). Operating EBIT (EBIT adjusted for 
capitalized development services) of EUR 5.7 mil-
lion and amortization of EUR 6.2 million on these 
as well as effects from purchase price allocation 
in the amount of EUR 7.8 million) in 2023 totaled 
EUR 5.6 million (previous year: EUR 3.3 million), 
thus exceeding the previous year’s forecast for 
operating EBIT of EUR 3.0 – 3.5 million. 

In the 2023 financial year, EBIT was adversely 
impacted by impairment of indirectly acquired 
goodwill in the IT Networks segment and Global-
matiX totaling EUR 6.2 million and associated 
loss allowances for internally generated soft-
ware amounting to EUR 2.0 million. Goodwill 
impairments totaled EUR 120 thousand in the 
previous year. 



The impairment is attributable to the fact that 
goodwill was recognized at the time of the respec-
tive company acquisition on the basis of the 
expected income from the businesses known or 
anticipated at the acquisition date. Current plan-
ning showed that the present value of expected 
future cash flows is estimated to be lower than at 
the acquisition date given the continuous interest 
rate hikes and a changing business model due to 
the phase-out of the legacy products in the Psi-
ber GmbH CGUs. At GlobalmatiX AG, the afore-
mentioned impairment losses were attributable to 
the continuous interest rate hikes and the longer-
term market penetration with a changed portfolio 
of services.

As a result of the aforementioned loss allowances, 
EBIT deteriorated from EUR 0.8 million in the pre-
vious year to EUR –2.7 million in 2023; these were 
also the main reasons behind the deviation from 
the forecast issued in the 2022 Annual Report.

Excluding the impairment of goodwill and loss 
allowances for internally generated software, earn-
ings would have significantly exceeded the target 
corridor of EUR 1.0 million to EUR 1.5 million at 
EUR 5.5 million.

The financial result was EUR –0.5 million and pri-
marily included interest expenses on loans taken 
out (previous year: EUR –1.3 million). The financial 
result in the previous year was adversely impacted 
by the EUR 1.1 million decrease in the fair value 
of an unlisted equity instrument (investment in 
YOMA Solutions GmbH). 

Taxes rose by around EUR 1.8 million due to the 
increase in annual earnings for the US subsidiary 
and deferred taxes on own work capitalized.

Overall, this resulted in consolidated profit after 
interest and taxes of EUR –5.7 million (previous 
year: EUR –1.2 million).

Segment development was as follows:

Industrial Segment
Demand for industrial products was brisk amid 
the recovery from the procurement crisis for elec-
tronic components. This meant that project back-
logs were largely resolved as planned while nega-
tive effects on the cost side due to high inflation 
continued.

The Industrial segment generated revenue of 
EUR 83.0 million (previous year: EUR 72.0 mil-
lion). EBITDA totaled EUR 12.5 million (previous 
year: EUR 7.2 million). Boosted by higher reve-
nue, EBIT grew sharply to a strong EUR 8.8 mil-
lion after EUR 4.1 million in the previous year. The 
segment’s operating result rose to EUR 9.8 million 
after EUR 4.9 million in 2022.

Automotive Segment
New products and services allowed the segment to 
once again expand its customer base for diagnostic 
and testing solutions and increase the proportion 
of business done with software leasing models. We 
were also able to gain new test bench customers. 
Overall, the core areas of the Automotive segment 
continued to a positive contribution to EBIT.

The telematics business continued to be bur-
dened by high expenses for the ongoing devel-
opment of the platform and for customer acqui-
sition, which is carried out through numerous 
pilot projects that led to expenses but not yet to 
income. The EBIT figure of EUR –4.6 million (pre-
vious year: EUR –2.4 million) is still negative due 
to the high market entry investments made in the 
area of telematics services and the loss allowance 
of EUR 3.1 million recognized at GlobalmatiX AG 
described above.

The Automotive segment’s revenue increased by 
18.5% overall from EUR 19.2 million to EUR 22.8 
million, producing EBITDA of EUR 1.8 million after 
EUR 1.3 million in the previous year, while oper-
ating EBIT improved from EUR –1.9 million to 
EUR –0.9 million in financial year 2023.
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IT Networks Segment
After resolving production problems, Softing 
launched two new proprietary product lines 
(CableMaster and LinkXpert) in the second half of 
the 2023 financial year. These products were avail-
able in the necessary quantities for the first time 
in the second half of 2023. The unavailability of 
a manufacturing partner meant that deliveries of 
another product (NetXpert) with considerable rev-
enue potential only resumed in December 2023; 
this product has been available in the necessary 
quantities since then. We also experienced slightly 
lower demand for WireXpert in 2023. A new prod-
uct line for sales of premium fiber optic cable splic-
ing units also became available in the second half 
of the year. However, the shift from being a sales 
organization with third-party products, as was pri-
marily the case when the business was acquired, 
to a product organization with its own products 
required a goodwill adjustment of EUR 5.1 million. 
This adjustment had a significant adverse impact 
on segment EBIT. 

Driven mainly by the lack of availability of high-reve-
nue products, revenue in the IT Networks segment 
fell slightly from EUR 7.7 million to EUR 7.3 million, 
with EBITDA of EUR –1.3 million (previous year: 
EUR –1.2 million), and EBIT of EUR –7.4 million 
(previous year: EUR –2.3 million) after account-
ing for the correction of goodwill mentioned previ-
ously. The operating EBIT dropped from EUR –2.4 
million to EUR –2.6 million.

Course of Business of Softing AG
In the financial year 2023, there was a net loss 
of EUR 4.2 million (previous year: net profit of 
EUR 0.2 million). The net loss for the year resulted 
mainly from lower other operating income and 
cost increases as well as a surplus of loss absorp-
tion over income from profit transfers amounting 
to EUR 3.3 million.

Results o  perations o  t e So ing roup
The Group’s primary financial key performance 
indicators are revenue, operating EBIT and EBIT. 

In the past financial year, consolidated revenue 
grew by EUR 14.3 million to EUR 112.6 million, an 
increase of 14.5%. The Industrial segment showed 
an increase in revenue of EUR 11.1 million. Own 
work capitalized (product developments) was 
EUR 5.7 million, up 44% on the previous year’s 
level. The share of own work capitalized as a per-
centage of consolidated revenue rose from 4.0% to 
5.0% in the 2023 financial year. 

Other operating income decreased by EUR 2.0 mil-
lion from EUR 3.7 million to EUR 1.7 million. This 
decrease was primarily due to previous year’s 
reclassification of exchange differences previously 
recognized in equity totaling EUR 2.0 million, which 
were reclassified to the income statement in 2022. 
The Group also received grants for participating in 
a research program amounting to EUR 0.8 million.

The cost of materials increased by EUR 3.6 million to 
EUR 51.9 million, or 7.3%. This rise mainly reflects 
the growth in revenue generated by the Group’s 
segments. All told, the cost of materials ratio (cost 
of materials relative to revenue) was 46.0% (pre-
vious year: 49.1%), with gross profit (revenue less 
cost of materials) increasing at a faster rate from 
EUR 50.0 million to EUR 60.8 million.

Staff costs rose by 11.5% to EUR 40.1 million due to 
the increase in headcount for future growth and an 
inflation-driven rise in labor costs. As of the report-
ing date, the Softing Group had 432 employees 
(previous year: 395), which represents growth of 
around 9%.



Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 
on intangible assets, and property, plant and 
equipment /right-of-use-assets increased from 
EUR 9.0 million to EUR 16.6 million. This increase 
was mainly due to the impairment loss on goodwill 
(EUR 6.2 million) and internally generated software 
(EUR 2.0 million) adding up to EUR 8.2 million.

The Group’s expense items developed as follows: 2023
EUR million

2022
EUR million

Cost o  aterials 

E ployee Benefits Costs

epre iation  a orti ation and i pair ent losses

t er operating e penses

Operating expenses 122.7 105.2

Other operating expenses increased by EUR 2.2 mil-
lion to EUR 14.1 million. This trend in the 2023 
financial year is attributable to an increased vol-
ume of sales and marketing activities as well as 
travel. There were also increased expenses for IT 
security and infrastructure costs, as well as exter-
nal services.

A key parameter for evaluating and managing 
results of operations is earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) of EUR –2.7 million (previous year: 
EUR 0.8 million), which was below the guidance of 
EUR 1 – 1.5 million issued in the previous year. This 
deviation is mainly due to the impairment of good-
will and internally generated intangible assets, 
despite significantly better business performance 
seen in the Industrial segment. Operating EBIT of 
EUR 5.6 million (previous year: EUR 3.3 million) 
was significantly above the previous year’s guid-
ance of EUR 3 – 3.5 million because operating EBIT 
does not include any depreciation, amortization 
or impairment on internally generated assets and 
goodwill. This is why the positive business perfor-
mance, particularly in the Industrial segment, had 
a stronger impact here.

The interest result and other finance costs 
amounted to EUR –0.5 million (previous year: 
EUR –1.3 million). The other finance income/
finance costs of EUR 0.0 million (previous year: 
EUR –1.0 million) in the previous year related to a 
reduction of the fair value by EUR 1.1 million of a 
minority interest in Yoma Solutions GmbH. 

Taxes rose by EUR 1.8 million. The main reason for 
this were the significantly higher earnings before 
taxes generated in the USA. Furthermore, impair-
ment of goodwill and internally generated soft-
ware of EUR 8.2 million has no effect on calculat-
ing taxes.

Results of Operations of Softing AG
As a management holding company, Softing AG 
only generated revenue from performing services 
for its subsidiaries. These services principally 
entailed active corporate management of the sub-
sidiaries as well as legal assistance and quality 
management services. Fixed portions of the costs 
incurred for these services were charged to the 
subsidiaries. The costs for general controlling activ-
ities were not allocated to the subsidiaries.
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Softing AG does not itself operate directly in the 
market, instead receiving income from equity 
investments and from profit and loss transfer 
agreements.

Income from profit transfer is a key control param-
eter for Softing AG and constitutes the financial 
key performance indicator. This changed from 
EUR –0.3 million to EUR –3.3 million in the past 
financial year. This was due to a correction of 
Softing Industrial Automation GmbH’s investment 
in Softing IT Networks GmbH in the amount of 
EUR 4.1 million, accompanied by the correction of 
the goodwill of IT Networks GmbH at Group level.

Other operating income decreased from EUR 2.7 
million to EUR 0.1 million due to the non-recurring 
effect of currency gains seen in the previous year. 

Staff costs rose from EUR 2.2 million to EUR 2.7 mil-
lion due to higher variable salary components. 

Other operating expenses increased by EUR 0.9 mil-
lion to EUR 1.1 million. This rise was mainly caused 
by higher capital market costs and increased cur-
rency expenses.

Due to slightly higher costs related to the man-
agement of subsidiaries, revenue from affiliated 
companies in 2023 rose from EUR 3.1 million to 
EUR 3.2 million.

In the 2023 financial year, Softing AG transferred 
its shares in GlobalmatiX AG, Liechtenstein, and 
receivables due from GlobalmatiX AG, Liechten-
stein, to Softing North America Holding Inc, essen-
tially at their previous carrying amounts. The mar-
ket value of these shares was below their previous 
carrying amount at the time of disposal. The pur-
chase price receivable is reported under invest-
ments at its nominal value, taking into account the 
less strict lower of cost or market principle. This 
transfer at carrying amounts led to the realiza-
tion of hidden reserves in the equity investment in 
Softing North America Holding Inc. This transaction 

helps to strengthen the equity of Softing AG and 
increases distributable assets. Write-downs of 
EUR 12.8 million and investment income of 
EUR 13.0 million resulting from the transaction are 
reported in the income statement.

During the year under review, Softing AG also 
sold its shares in Softing IT Networks GmbH and 
Softing Singapore Ltd. to Softing Industrial Auto-
mation GmbH at their carrying amount. In addi-
tion, Softing AG sold its loan to SoftIng Indus-
trial Automation GmbH. At the end of the year, 
Softing Industrial Automation GmbH carried out an 
impairment test of the equity investment in Softing 
IT Networks. The result of this impairment test is 
included in the income statement of Softing AG as 
part of the control and profit transfer agreement 
with Softing Industrial Automation GmbH.

In the reporting period, no provisions for taxes 
were recognized for obligations arising from corpo-
ration tax and trade tax related to the past financial 
year (previous year: EUR 0.1 million).

The net loss for the year amounts to EUR –4.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 0.2 million).

FINANCIAL POSITION
Financial Position of the Softing Group
Finan ial anage ent
As part of the Group’s financial management, the 
German subsidiaries are included in a cash pooling 
system managed by Softing AG. Where deemed 
necessary, the cash flows of companies doing busi-
ness in foreign currencies are hedged using con-
ventional forwards. 

Capital Stru ture
The equity of the Softing Group at the end of 
2023 stood at EUR 54.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 61.8 million). The decrease is primarily due to 
the dividend payment made in May 2023 and the 
consolidated net loss for the year.



The equity ratio reached 52.7% (previous year: 
55.9%).

Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 21.3 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 23.2 million). The decrease 
is mainly due to the scheduled repayment of loans 
of EUR 2.9 million. 

Current liabilities rose by EUR 2.0 million to 
EUR 27.5 million, due mainly to the increase in 
short-term borrowings and the increase in con-
tract liabilities and current financial liabilities. 
The decrease in trade payables in the amount of 
EUR 2.5 million had an offsetting effect.

Capital E penditure
In the past financial year, the Softing Group invested 
EUR 6.5 million (previous year: EUR 5.0 million) 
in internally and externally generated intangible 
assets. Investments in other non-current assets 
amounted to EUR 1.4 million in 2023 (previous 
year: EUR 1.0 million), not including the increase 
in right-of-use-assets pursuant to IFRS 16. Please 
refer to the Research and Development section 
for information on investments in the specific 
segments.

iquidity
Cash flow from operating activities of EUR 9.0 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 3.8 million) primarily rose 
due to the increase in cash flow for the period 
to EUR 13.5 million (previous year: EUR 6.5 mil-
lion) and a EUR 4.1 million reduction in receiv-
ables; this was offset by the increase in inventories 
(EUR 4.7 million) and reduction in trade payables 
(EUR –2.5 million).

Funds used for investing activities amounted to 
EUR 7.9 million (previous year: EUR 6.1 million), 
comprising mainly investments in new product 
development and replacement investments.

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
EUR –3.1 million (previous year: EUR –0.7 million). 
Repayments of short- and long-term bank loans 
of EUR 4.0 million were made and new loans of 
EUR 4.1 million were taken out.

The cash available to the Group amounted to 
EUR 4.9 million at year-end (previous year: 
EUR 6.8 million).

Financial Position of Softing AG
Capital Stru ture
Equity fell by 10.9% from EUR 47.0 million to 
EUR 41.9 million, primarily due to the dividend 
payment made in May 2023 as well as the current 
net loss for the year. 

The equity ratio was 61.0% (previous year: 65.0%)

The increase in provisions from EUR 3.2 million to 
EUR 3.4 million is mainly the result of higher pro-
visions for variable remuneration and higher pen-
sion provisions.

Other liabilities fell slightly from EUR 4.5 million to 
EUR 4.4 million.

Liabilities to banks decreased slightly by EUR 0.3 
million due to the scheduled repayment of long-
term loans on the one hand and new short-term 
borrowings on the other.

iquidity
The subsidiaries obtained financing almost exclu-
sively from Softing AG’s cash pooling system and its 
own cash contributions to the operations of subsid-
iaries not participating in the cash pooling system. 
Separate bank loans were taken out by subsidiar-
ies only to a minor extent. To finance the fixed pur-
chase price of OLDI and to finance GlobalmatiX AG 
and product innovations, Softing AG has taken out 
loans totaling EUR 14.0 million from two German 
commercial banks in 2019. As of December 31, 
2023, these loans were measured at EUR 6.7 mil-
lion. There is also a bullet loan of EUR 2.5 million 
that matures in mid-2025.

Funds at year’s end were EUR 3.0 million (previ-
ous year: EUR 4.3 million). There are unused credit 
lines in the amount of EUR 1.6 million (previous 
year: EUR 4.6 million).
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NET ASSETS
Net Assets of the Softing Group
Non-current assets comprise items including intan-
gible assets, goodwill, property, plant, and equip-
ment, and deferred tax assets and at the end of 
2023 represented 54.9% of total assets (previous 
year: 58.3%). This was offset by equity and non-
current liabilities together representing 73.4% of 
equity and liabilities (previous year: 77.0%).

Non-current assets fell by EUR 7.8 million to 
EUR 56.6 million. As described above, this was 
mainly due to the adjustment of the goodwill of 
Softing IT Networks GmbH and GlobalmatiX AG. 

Current assets comprise inventories, trade receiv-
ables, and cash and cash equivalents. Current 
assets edged up only slightly from EUR 46.1 million 
to EUR 46.5 million.

Total assets in the reporting year fell to EUR 103.1 
million (previous year: EUR 110.4 million).

Net Assets of Softing AG
The total assets of Softing AG decreased by 
EUR 3.6 million year-on-year to EUR 68.6 million 
(previous year: EUR 72.2 million).

The shares in Softing IT Networks GmbH and 
Softing Singapore Pte Ltd held by Softing AG were 
transferred to Softing Industrial Automation GmbH 
at their carrying amounts; a capital increase for the 
same amounts was carried out at Softing Industrial 
Automation GmbH at the same time. The shares in 
GlobalmatiX AG were transferred to the US hold-
ing company at slightly more than their carrying 
amount (EUR 0.2 million). As a result, equity inter-
ests in affiliated companies fell by EUR 30.6 million 
to EUR 22.9 million.

Bank loans of EUR 2.8 million were repaid in the 
2023 financial year, and new short-term bank loans 
of EUR 2.5 million were taken out. In the course of 

obtaining these loans, Softing AG agreed to com-
ply with financial covenants entailing an obligation 
to maintain certain financial ratios. The financial 
covenants require Softing to maintain a specified 
equity ratio and not exceed a maximum debt-to-
equity ratio for the Group. During the financial 
year, Softing AG again comfortably fulfilled the cov-
enants regarding equity ratio and maximum debt-
to-equity ratio.

Loans to affiliated companies increased by EUR 4.3 
million to EUR 26.6 million due to a new loan 
and the conversion of the purchase price of Glo-
balmatiX AG shares in Softing North America Inc. 
into a long-term loan. Cash and cash equivalents 
decreased to EUR 3.0 million due to repayments 
of loans.

Receivables from affiliated companies were up 
from EUR 14.6 million to EUR 15.6 million as a 
result of an increase in trade receivables.

REPORTING ON NON-FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Employee expertise, qualifications, motivation 
and satisfaction are among the most important 
resources for the Softing Group’s sustained suc-
cess as a technology and development company. 
The Group therefore attaches particular impor-
tance to its employees and their training. The 
knowledge, skills, continuing development and 
dedication of its employees are essential ingredi-
ents in the Softing Group’s past and future success. 
The Group therefore sees employee turnover as 
an important non-financial performance indicator 
and endeavors to keep it below 10% where possi-
ble. In the past financial year, employee turnover 
fell from 13.9% to 10% at the German companies 
due to a slight improvement of the labor market. 
The offices abroad showed similar employee turn-
over. Initiatives have been introduced to improve 
this key performance indicator further.



OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF THE COURSE 
OF BUSINESS AND POSITION OF THE 
SOFTING GROUP AND OF SOFTING AG
The course of business of the Softing Group saw 
an encouraging 14.5% increase in revenues amid 
a challenging geopolitical environment. The order 
situation returned to normal levels over the course 
of the year. On the cost side, however, procure-
ment bottlenecks, higher inflation and non-recur-
ring goodwill impairment caused costs to rise 
sharply, which meant the Group ultimately gener-
ated a net loss for the year. In terms of financial 
position and net assets, this resulted in a slight fall 
in equity and a reduction in cash. Nevertheless, the 
Executive Board believes that the financial position 
and net assets of the Softing Group proved to be 
stable in these times of global crises. 

The course of business of Softing AG was domi-
nated by income from invoicing subsidiaries for 
management services performed and negative 
income from profit and loss transfer agreements. 
Softing AG also generated investment income 
totaling EUR 13.0 million from the sale of shares in 
GlobalmatiX AG to the US holding company. Write-
downs of EUR 12.8 million were also recognized 
prior to the disposal in connection with the invest-
ment income. The Group’s financial position and 
net assets were adversely affected by a loss for the 
year. Together with the dividend, this resulted in a 
reduction in equity of EUR 4.2 million. According to 
the Executive Board, the financial position and net 
assets remain stable.
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REPORT ON OPPORTUNITIES, 
RISKS AND FORECASTS 

REPORT ON OPPORTUNITIES
The information provided applies to the Softing 
Group and to Softing AG in equal measure. The 
opportunities and risks arise in the individual 
subsidiaries of Softing AG. Due to the profit and 
loss transfer agreements in place and the invest-
ment income generated, these also have a direct 
effect on the single-entity financial statements of 
Softing AG, possibly with a time lag compared with 
IFRS accounting.

Industrial Segment
By a process of establishing and expanding strate-
gic partnerships with leading providers in the field 
of automation, the solution portfolio for data con-
nectivity will be further extended while achieving 
major improvements to Softing’s visibility. The syn-
ergy effects for sales and marketing created by part-
nerships as well as the positioning of the Company 
as a solution provider also constitute an opportu-
nity for growth in 2024. One key driver for growth 
remains the trend toward OT/IT convergence and 
the strategic expansion of a cloud connectivity 
portfolio, namely components for the edge con-
nectivity market. Another series of products in this 
area is being launched on the market in 2024 and 
will help to further round out the products and ser-
vices on offer. The introduction of a new hardware 
platform mid-year will enable a gateway delivery 
model for all future containerized software prod-
ucts, which in turn can be expected to significantly 
boost the frequency of product launches. In the 
medium term, the goal is to maintain Softing’s posi-
tion as a leading provider of machine and control 
connectivity for factory automation, while staying 
strictly neutral as regards the customer’s preferred 
network architecture (hardware or software, OT or 
IT, Windows or Linux). In process automation, the 
comparatively high level of capital spending – with 
correspondingly long plant and technology lifecy-
cles – can be expected to result in further digita-
lization of field devices such as sensors and drive 

elements while favoring marketing opportunities 
for products that make data available for asset 
management applications. Softing’s outstand-
ing position in the field of technology integration 
will continue to be leveraged as a driver for busi-
ness success going forward. Complementing the 
expansion of its portfolio, the Company also aims 
to strengthen its sales and marketing organiza-
tion with a focus on internationalization, targeting 
dynamic, investment-friendly regions around the 
world and closer integration with Softing’s global 
branches. Initial and highly successful participation 
at international trade shows (India, Singapore) in 
2023 underscores the international opportunities 
for growth, which are buttressed by a systematic 
expansion of both direct and indirect sales distri-
bution capacities, for example in France, India, and 
Spain.

Further capacity expansions to service depart-
ments at locations in Knoxville and Singapore, now 
offering a global level of support, will meet steadily 
increasing consulting service needs from automa-
tion customers while contributing additional reve-
nues via service level agreements (SLAs).

IT Networks Segment
Over the last few years, Softing IT Networks has 
refreshed its product portfolio and relocated pro-
duction for its NetXpert and LinkXpert series 
from the USA to Germany, the latter also granting 
greater flexibility in addition to much more efficient 
and reliable delivery routing. While these activities 
have significantly strengthened the product portfo-
lio’s central segment, the lower portfolio segment 
has gained the CableMaster 210 and CableMaster 
FO products, which round off the overall offering 
here. The strengthening of sales channels for inter-
national business as well as the digital presence 
have been instrumental in raising the international 
profile of this business unit. In 2024, Softing IT Net-
works will launch further own-branded products 



on the market to continue to accommodate new 
market trends and standards. Softing IT Networks 
therefore has a robust opportunity pipeline, due to 
the stated investments and market activities.

Automotive Segment
Rising global demand for integrated solutions 
related to automotive testing and flash appli-
cations is working to strengthen Softing’s mar-
ket position. As a recognized specialist in all of 
the necessary fields of expertise, Softing Auto-
motive is able to generate profitable, long-term 
growth. Softing offers its customers modular, stan-
dards-based products as well as integration proj-
ects ranging from the application to the embedded 
device, including onboard. The continuing decen-
tralization of our customers’ work processes in the 
form of working from home and remote working 
remains an important driver. Efficiency improve-
ments at our customers are achieved with paral-
lel, remote or autonomously operated solutions. 
Softing will continue to focus on key strategic cli-
ents and its existing customer base.

By deploying the GlobalmatiX telematics solu-
tion, we are laying the groundwork for the digi-
talization of our Connected Vehicle concept. This 
will improve transparency, cost-effectiveness, and 
customer orientation for the complex return pro-
cesses in rental, car-sharing, leasing and fleet ser-
vices. Keyless access to vehicles also means that 
these can then be rented from vehicle rental loca-
tions outside their normal hours of business. The 
creation of a digital vehicle file (“Car CV”) increases 
the vehicle’s resale value while reducing wait times, 
as the sale process can start before the fleet vehi-
cle has been returned. Minor damage, speedome-
ter readings and servicing data can also be logged 
remotely and on an ongoing basis. Increasingly, the 
evaluation of big data applications in real time and 
at high levels of granularity requires cloud-based 
platforms-as-a-service, and the demand for these 
is now also coming from OEMs and their suppliers. 
Moreover, the GlobalmatiX telematics interface is 
seeing greater use as an interconnected telematics 

and data logger interface for Connected Battery, 
Connected Tire or Connected Diagnostics. The 
telematics interface samples sensor data at high 
rates and transfers these data to the cloud data-
base before processing them with artificial intelli-
gence and self-learning to drive business decision-
making. Based on “security by design,” the Global-
matiX security patent for Connected Vehicle helps 
to protect worldwide data transactions between 
vehicles and the cloud from unauthorized access.

In the 2023 financial year, Softing Engineering &
Solutions GmbH was already seeing strong 
demand, and believes this will continue – due to 
manufacturer outsourcing, for example – going for-
ward, both for engineering and inspection / testing 
systems. The current portfolio was also extended 
in the fourth quarter of 2023 to include test bench 
solutions for electric truck axles, for example. This 
is another point of integration for current and 
future vehicle technologies. Nothing in the port-
folio is drive system-dependent, with Softing Engi-
neering & Solutions GmbH serving both the com-
bustion engine market along with all of the other, 
newer drive technologies.

RISK REPORT
The information provided applies to the Softing 
Group and to Softing AG in equal measure. The risks 
arise in the individual subsidiaries of Softing AG. 
Due to the profit and loss transfer agreements in 
place and the investment income generated, these 
also have a direct effect on the single-entity finan-
cial statements of Softing AG, possibly with a time 
lag compared with IFRS accounting. The risks pre-
sented affect all segments. 

Softing is an internationally operating company 
involved in industrial automation technology, 
automotive electronics and network communica-
tion. The Company is exposed to a number of risks 
that are inextricably linked to its entrepreneurial 
activities. 
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In particular, this concerns risks resulting from 
market development, the positioning of prod-
ucts and services, contractual and non-contrac-
tual liability, and business processes. The Group’s 
business policy is to best exploit existing business 
opportunities. It is the task of risk policy to care-
fully weigh the risks associated with this. Risk man-
agement is therefore an integral component of all 
business processes and company decisions. The 
risk management system of the Softing Group and 
of Softing AG comprises both risks and opportuni-
ties in equal measure.

Risk principles are defined by the Executive Board. 
They include statements on risk strategy, the 
willingness to take risks and the scope of these 
principles.

Risk analysis entails assessing identified risks in 
terms of the probability of their occurring (quan-
titative dimension) and the potential loss (dimen-
sion of intensity). Since the fall of 2023, Softing has 
been using the CRISAM risk management software, 
which applies modern statistical methods (e. g. 
Monte Carlo simulation) to calculate the impact of 
losses and thus meets the stricter requirements of 
IDW AuS 340. Risk assessment is subject to practi-
cal limits, however – especially in the area of oper-
ating risks – because the number of potential risks 
is high but, more often than not, the available 
risk data is incomplete. As a result, subjective risk 
assessments must be made in many areas exposed 
to risk because the expenditure for risk manage-
ment should be reasonable.

Risk-bearing capacity is the maximum level of risk 
which the Company is able to bear without jeopar-
dizing its going-concern status. This entails a com-
parison of the aggregate risk with the funds avail-
able for risk coverage, the so-called cover funds. 
The latter comprise the resources available within 
the scope of the Company’s net assets, financial 
position and results of operations which will be 
drawn upon to cushion the effects in the event of 
risks being realized. If the ratio of the cover funds 

to aggregate risk is not sufficient, a Company’s 
existence might be jeopardized in case of various 
risks materializing at the same time. As of the end 
of the financial year, the Executive Board assumes 
that short-term cover funds of EUR 4.9 million 
are available by way of uncommitted cash and 
cash equivalents. There are also unused credit 
lines in the amount of EUR 3.2 million as well as 
trade receivables which exceed trade payables by 
EUR 5.5 million. 

To be able to assess the risks, they have been 
divided into several risk classes. The risk class is 
the product of multiplying the probability of occur-
rence by the extent of loss:

The Group differentiates between the following 
risk classes:

a. Class 1: Minor risks are insignificant for the 
Company and no action needs to be taken to 
mitigate the risk.

b. Class 2: The extent of loss in moderate risks is 
limited and there is a moderate probability of 
occurrence. There is no immediate need for 
action. Efficient, effective measures are suffi-
cient to reduce moderate risks or to manage 
them rapidly in the event of an emergency.

c. Class 3: Major risks including potential going-
concern risks cause greater loss and/or have a 
higher probability of occurrence than moder-
ate risks. These risks should be reduced through 
appropriate controls or process optimization. 
Where possible, appropriate measures should 



be taken to reduce the major gross risk to the 
moderate or minor level of risk. In case of 
going-concern risks, measures must be taken 
immediately to reduce the gross risk.

The Group uses a number of control systems to 
monitor and control its risks. In addition to the 
CRISAM software, these include a centralized com-
pany planning process, among other things. Softing 
regularly monitor the achievement of its business 
goals and the risks that are connected to this.

The risks involved in individual business processes 
were periodically recorded, analyzed and evaluated 
in the reporting period. The Group also assessed 
whether individual risks which are of minor impor-
tance when viewed in isolation could develop into 
a risk threatening the Company’s existence when 
combined.

The risk factors mentioned below could have a 
strong negative impact on the Company’s business 
performance, cash flows and profit or loss. Risks 
that are believed to be of little relevance to the 
Group’s business at this time are not mentioned.

Supply Chain Risk
There remains a greater focus on the longer-term 
economic impacts in 2023 and beyond, which 
result from economic upheaval caused by the 
Russian war of destruction, among other things. 
These impacts include a strained supply chain and 
the associated risk of potential revenue shifts and 
losses as well as some sharp price increases among 
the suppliers Softing AG has to deal with. Softing 
sees a further risk exacerbating the procurement 
risk in a conflict between China and Taiwan/USA, 
which could take the procurement crisis for elec-
tronic components to new heights and to which 
Softing would only be partially able to react.

Softing AG is partially addressing the risk of deliv-
ery delays by working with new suppliers, replacing 
specific parts in products and increasing its safety 
stock wherever possible. In spite of the measures 

taken, the risks cannot be avoided. There is a possi-
bility of revenue being shifted to later periods. Sup-
ply bottlenecks may also result in higher cost prices 
for Softing if it has to switch to more expensive 
products in order to ensure its ability to deliver. 
We counter this risk with price increases and direct 
consultation with our customers on the subject of 
price versus delivery time.

Softing AG is addressing some of the risk of delayed 
supplies and sharp price increases or rising pro-
curement prices for Softing products by increas-
ing its inventories and concluding long-term pro-
curement and cost transfer agreements with its 
customers.

Supply chain risk is categorized into risk class 3.

Market and Sales Risks
Geopolitical uncertainty is also increased consider-
ably due to factors such as Russian war of destruc-
tion in Ukraine. The sanctions adopted may lead 
to weaker demand. As the Softing Group’s custom-
ers are primarily based in Western countries, it 
does not envisage any direct consequences for the 
Company; however, any escalation of the conflict 
could result in energy shortages and an economic 
downturn that would also impact Softing AG.

As a general precaution, Softing AG pursues a 
financing and capital management approach that 
provides a buffer against sudden unexpected risks.

However, there is always a risk both of underutiliza-
tion of capacities and sustaining pressure on realiz-
able revenues due to factors such as revenue being 
delayed as a result of supply chain issues with cus-
tomers or weaker demand. Softing addresses these 
risks with stricter cost management measures and 
flexible working hour models so that it can quickly 
adapt to any changes in demand. Overall, this risk 
is assigned to risk class 3. If the risk management 
measures were not effective, this could result in a 
going-concern risk.
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Development /Product Risks
The situation on the market is characterized by a 
rapid change of the employed technologies. This 
means that there is a danger that acquired know-
how may prematurely lose value due to an unex-
pected market development. This may lead to the 
impairment of capitalized goodwill and develop-
ment costs and have a negative impact on sales 
and earnings performance in the long term. Softing 
address this risk by actively participating in a large 
number of national and international working 
groups, which enables it to recognize technologi-
cal trends early on and help actively shape them.

The automotive parts supplier industry in partic-
ular is currently undergoing a prolonged process 
of transformation. As in previous years, the Group 
was unable to avoid the effects of these develop-
ments in the reporting year, and therefore contin-
ues to invest in new development work (especially 
in telematics) while keeping a close eye on cost 
levels to increase profitability over the medium to 
long term. 

In the IT Networks segment, Softing has invested 
heavily in the development of new products and 
the expansion of its product range, with new prod-
ucts now being successively launched on the 
market.

Should the sector fail to recover over the medium 
and long term, however, this would create a lasting 
impact on the level of earnings overall and compro-
mise the development of the Softing Group. While 
the Group does not believe this to be a likely sce-
nario, The financial repercussions for the Group’s 
results of operations would be considerable if the 
scenario did occur because it could result in the 
impairment of goodwill and capitalized develop-
ment costs.

Overall, development risk is therefore assigned to 
risk class 3.

Operational Risks
In certain areas of the Group’s business, both in the 
Industrial and the Automotive segment, Softing is 
involved in the complex development projects of 
customers. These projects entail a certain realiza-
tion risk regarding the planned budgets and time 
frames. Any deviations could lead to a deterio-
ration of profit and claims for damages. Softing 
addresses with this risk by planning such projects 
in accordance with a process model defined by its 
quality management system, and by carefully mon-
itoring project progress with an alarm controlling 
system. The Group makes continual investments to 
further improve its already high quality standard.

The Group’s products and services are used in the 
production of industrial goods. Downtime or mal-
function can result in significant damage to per-
sons and property. Softing reduces this risk by fol-
lowing a careful development process which is 
tailored to the specific scope of application. Signif-
icant residual risks are covered through insurance 
policies. Overall, this risk is assigned to risk class 2.

Financial Risks
Credit risks have not played a significant role in 
the past. The Group’s restrictive credit manage-
ment process allows it to identify imminent insol-
vencies faster and thus to counteract them in due 
time. Together, all of these measures again helped 
to forestall major defaults on receivables in 2023 
despite increased risks due to the Ukraine crisis. 
Most of the Softing Group’s customers are well-
known and leading industrial companies. Overall, 
this risk is classified as a small risk and assigned to 
risk class 1.

se o  Finan ial Instru ents
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks as 
a result of its business activities. The aim of risk man-
agement is to minimize potential negative effects 
on the Group’s financial position. The Group does 
not make use of derivative financial instruments. 
Due to its international scope, the Group is exposed 
to a currency risk whereby fluctuations in the USD, 



British pound, Swiss francs and Singapore dollar in 
particular could have an impact on the assets, lia-
bilities, financial position and results of operations 
of the Group. The majority of transactions are 
inherently hedged, as transactions within the euro 
area are processed by the American subsidiary. 
The Group considers the residual risks from trans-
actions in foreign currencies to be acceptable, and 
thus deliberately does not use any currency hedg-
ing instruments. The Group can hedge transactions 
in exceptional cases, for example by entering into 
short-term foreign currency forwards. 

The Group relies on fixed lending rates for long-
term loans to secure its financing. No interest rate 
hedging has been agreed for the existing variable-
rate overdraft lines of credit. The Group does not 
hedge against interest rate fluctuations beyond 
agreeing fixed interest rates.

The Group does not hold any separate financial 
instruments to protect against defaults on receiv-
ables. The risk of defaults on receivables is low 
due to the high creditworthiness of the customer 
base. The Group participates in the reverse fac-
toring program of a major customer in the USA to 
increase its liquidity further. Under this program, 
receivables are sold to a reputable bank and the 
Group receives payment immediately following 
the acquisition. 

Other than the financial instruments described 
here, the Company does not hold any other finan-
cial instruments that are relevant for assessing its 
situation or expected development.

Overall, this risk is assessed as a class 2 risk.

Currency Risks
A substantial part of the Group’s business activities 
is located in the USA. In particular, Softing AG has 
significant foreign currency loans denominated in 
USD in its single-entity financial statements. This 
means that currency fluctuations in the USD in par-
ticular could have both a positive and a negative 
impact on the results of operations and net assets 
of the Group. The Group views this as a moderate 
risk. The Group only hedges against currency risks 
in individual cases. Overall, this risk is assigned to 
risk class 2.

Information Security Risks
As in all companies, the smooth functioning of busi-
ness processes depends on the availability of the IT 
infrastructure. Attacks from the Internet, as well as 
other IT failures or damage to the IT infrastructure, 
pose a serious threat to the Company’s ability to 
function. Softing has taken appropriate measures 
to protect its IT infrastructure and constantly mon-
itors and reviews their effectiveness. The Group 
takes the issue of cyber security and the potential 
widening of hostilities in this area extremely seri-
ously. It has implemented the recommendations 
issued by authorities, and is currently adjusting 
them by coordinating and comparing with other 
companies to determine its own position. Softing 
has invested substantial sums in cyber security 
and provides its staff with regular training on the 
subject. As no company is immune from a cyber 
attack, it is essential to ensure that resilience and 
recoverability are built into IT systems and that all 
employees remain vigilant. Softing achieved TISAX 
Level 3 Certification for data security in the auto-
motive sector during the first half of 2022. Overall, 
this risk is assessed as a class 1 risk.
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Personnel Risks
The financial success of the Softing Group is rooted 
to a large extent in the skills and qualifications of 
its employees. For this reason, all employees are 
trained on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
quality of their performance corresponds to the 
requirements of customers.

There is keen competition for highly qualified pro-
fessionals and executives in the labor market at 
this time. Qualified staff are a material prerequisite 
for boosting the Company’s shareholder value. 
Hence Softing always seeks to recruit new, very 
well trained personnel; integrate them as best as 
possible; promote them and establish a long-term 
collaboration with them. In addition to attractive 
employment conditions, Softing also offers its staff 
targeted training and continued education. But 
there is the potential risk that suitable profession-
als or executives cannot be recruited in the mar-
ket in due time, and that this might have a nega-
tive effect on the Company’s results of operations, 
financial position and net assets. Overall, this risk is 
assigned to risk class 2.

Compliance Risks
Even though not a single compliance case has so 
far arisen at Softing, the Executive Board and the 
legal department continue to take the issue of 
compliance very seriously. Through workshop par-
ticipation and a series of presentations, the Group 
ensures that current trends and issues are taken 
on board and adapted to the situation at Softing. 

In management’s view, there are currently no 
acute risks that would jeopardize the Company’s 
existence as a going concern or negatively impact 
its development. 

Based on the risk policy and the current assess-
ment of the risks, the risk exposure of both the 
Group and Softing AG is regarded as manage-
able. Despite a variety of political upheavals, the 
financial position and net assets are expected to 
improve in 2023. Regarding financial year 2023, 
the Executive Board believes that the Group will be 
able to bear the residual risks not covered by insur-
ance even in the event of unfavorable develop-
ments. Overall, this risk is assigned to risk class 2.

The Executive Board ensures that it is familiar at all 
times with any changes in customs regulations and 
is able to implement measures at short notice in 
case of any changes.

REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS
Europe’s Economic Engine Is Misfiring
According to the Kiel Institute for the World Econ-
omy (IfW), Germany’s economy is struggling. While 
economic output is generally expected to increase 
in the coming year, the economy is not likely to 
gain significant momentum. The strong growth in 
real disposable income in particular will boost pri-
vate consumption. However, interest rate increases 
continue to weigh heavily on the construction 
industry and there are no signs ahead of significant 
impetus from the world economy, which is under 
threat from Russia’s sustained military aggres-
sion. An even more relevant military and eco-
nomic development is the uncertainty created by 
China in the South China Sea. The fiscal consolida-
tion triggered by the Federal Constitutional Court’s 
ruling on the supplementary budget for 2021 will 
also slow economic expansion, as the current fed-
eral government is prioritizing an increase in con-
sumptive social spending over investment. There 
is uncertainty about the exact structuring of the 



savings as well as their economic impact. Accord-
ing to the IfW’s forecast, the lack of focus on invest-
ment will lower the rate of gross domestic prod-
uct (GDP) growth to just 0.3 percentage points in 
2024. Overall, the IfW now expects GDP to rise 
by 0.9% in the coming year and thus at a slower 
rate than in its autumn forecast (1.3%). Economic 
output is then likely to increase by 1.2% in 2025 
(autumn forecast: 1.5%). The decline in the current 
year of 0.3% will be slightly lower than expected 
in the fall (–0.5%). Inflation has started to fall. The 
IfW expects inflation rates of 2.3% (2024) and 1.8% 
(2025) for the next two years after 5.9% in the cur-
rent year. The low economic momentum is leav-
ing its mark on the labor market. However, demo-
graphic change and the associated shortage of 
skilled labor are counteracting this trend.

Industrial Segment
Despite the persistently volatile economic envi-
ronment, Softing Industrial Automation GmbH 
remains in an excellent position both in techno-
logical and supply terms to achieve its ambitious 
growth targets for 2024 as well. This optimistic 
assessment is supported by the structural change 
and strategic focus in sales and marketing and is 
further bolstered by the creation of additional syn-
ergy effects within the Softing Group. Risks con-
tinue to arise from the ongoing shortage of skilled 
workers whereas the procurement situation for 
components has largely eased.

The outlook for Softing’s business in the USA 
remains mixed in 2024. Opportunities are driven 
by a product portfolio aimed at a broad range of 
customers, a continued optimization of sales struc-
tures and an improved availability of products. 
However, the Group expects its revenue and oper-
ating result to decrease compared to the record 

year of 2023, with the currently prevailing eco-
nomic environment causing a significant degree of 
uncertainty due to high levels of inflation, the pres-
idential election and the realignment of industry in 
North America. 

Automotive Segment 
Many customers continue to seek strategic suppli-
ers of efficiency-enhancing tools and solutions in 
order to be able to successfully master the tech-
nological challenges of the future. There is further 
sales potential here for the Automotive segment. 
As a number of new technologies and approaches 
relating to the “test and flash” of vehicles in par-
ticular will be introduced in the coming years, the 
segment’s product portfolio means it is well posi-
tioned to respond to this trend. 

With supply chains working again and having 
adopted a new marketing and sales approach, 
GlobalmatiX will also accelerate growth in 2024. 
We are continuing to push ahead with the further 
rollout of projects for major customers and have 
set up exciting pilot installations which already 
generated initial orders. Delivery and installation 
volumes will reach five digits in 2024. Our custom-
ers are also continuing to pursue ambitious expan-
sion targets beyond Germany. 

IT Networks Segment
The combination of new products, new sales posi-
tions and expansion of the distribution area will 
steadily lead the IT Networks segment towards 
profit and growth – particularly after a significant 
improvement in the production situation during 
2023. As a result, a product portfolio consisting 
of three product lines with different specifications 
and a variety of tiered products will be available 
from 2024 onwards. In its certification, qualifying 
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and verification segments, Softing will use this to 
continue reinforcing its position as a technology 
leader. As our partners’ percentage of web-based 
sales continues to grow steadily, this opens up fur-
ther opportunities for Softing IT Networks to place 
its own products in additional markets.

Outlook for the 2024 Financial Year 
for the Softing Group
Softing’s declared goal remains to further boost 
the operational excellence of the Group by opti-
mizing market penetration to ensure regional bal-
ance in line with our focus. Softing is firmly com-
mitted to continuing the pursuit of this goal in 
2024. Based on the Softing Group’s positioning 
and customer feedback and a good level of orders 
on hand from the previous year, Softing sees good 
opportunities to generate stable revenue in finan-
cial year 2024. We expect a strong improvement in 
EBIT and consolidated net profit for the year due 
to the elimination of non-recurring expenses com-
pared to 2023. Softing will again face numerous 
unavoidable uncertainties in 2024 regarding eco-
nomic developments in Europe as well as in Asia 
and North America. Softing would not be able to 
avoid the impact of downturns in the demand 
markets. External risks are taken into account in 
the forecast as dampening factors.

As a leading technology group, Softing must and 
will work to actively shape technical change 
going forward. The speed of change continues 
to increase substantially in all segments. For this 
reason, Softing plans to use the expertise that its 
current portfolio and acquisitions provide for the 
extensive development of new products and the 
extensive refinement of existing ones in financial 
year 2024. For 2024, Softing is generally assum-
ing that capitalization of development costs will 

decrease slightly due to a high level of invest-
ment in new products seen in 2023. Investment 
in some product lines will decline due to comple-
tions, while new technologies and products will 
receive a kick-start. We also have opportunities for 
above-average returns in the existing business, for 
instance in the process and manufacturing indus-
tries, which Softing consolidates in the Industrial 
segment. Strong growth in our own products in 
the IT Networks segment is expected to continue 
thanks to new products. In the Automotive seg-
ment, the key factor is landing new projects from 
major customers, even though these will only have 
a minimal influence on revenue in the current year. 
However, they will be the foundation for growth 
in the years to come. We laid the foundations for 
this in 2023. The limitations triggered by the risks 
already mentioned continue to apply. The eco-
nomic upheaval in Germany caused by misguided 
industrial and energy policies, the ongoing war in 
Ukraine and other current and impending crises 
will play a major role in the development of our 
business in 2024 as well as in the medium term. As 
the only certainty is that nothing is certain, we are 
being cautious as a precaution.

The persistently rekindling uncertainty over macro-
economic trends and the effects on important cus-
tomer segments of Softing AG are difficult to esti-
mate. As a result, there remains a high level of 
uncertainty in the forecast for future business per-
formance, which is severely limiting the ability to 
make predictions.

This specific environment must be seen in addi-
tion to the transformation process in the automo-
tive industry and makes it difficult to reliably and 
realistically assess the forecast for the 2024 finan-
cial year.



The Executive Board is still planning for a normal 
procurement situation for electronic components 
in 2024. However, any increase in the potential for 
conflict or war between China and Taiwan over 
the coming year would exacerbate the problems 
encountered in procuring electronic components 
from this region during the coronavirus crisis.

At the Group level, revenue of between EUR 105 
million and EUR 113 million is expected due to eco-
nomic considerations. One factor to bear in mind is 
the planned decline in revenue and operating EBIT 
in the Industrial segment due to the US subsidiary 
OLDI Inc., after business in 2023 was character-
ized by very large order books originating in 2022. 
We anticipate strong revenue growth and much 
improved operating EBIT in the Automotive and 
IT Networks segments. We also expect increased 
uncertainty surrounding our forecast due to weak-
ness in the German market and negative signals 
worldwide across the different segments. In the 
absence of the non-recurring effect of impairment 
losses recorded in 2023, we anticipate a signifi-
cantly improved positive EBIT for the Group. Con-
solidated EBIT is therefore forecast to be positive in 
a range of EUR 3.2 million to EUR 4.6 million. The 
Executive Board expects operating EBIT to come in 
between EUR 5.0 million and EUR 7.0 million. 

In the case of the non-financial performance indi-
cators, it is planned to maintain the attained levels 
in the 2023 financial year.

Outlook for the 2024 Financial Year 
for Softing AG
Softing AG is dependent on the results outlined 
above.

Based on projected earnings, Softing AG is fore-
casting income from profit and loss transfer 
agreements and dividends of up to EUR 0.5 mil-
lion to EUR 1.0 million for the 2024 financial year. 
Expected earnings before taxes, assuming income 
from profit and loss transfer agreements and div-
idends, will range between EUR 0.5 million and 
EUR 1.0 million.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND 
RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM RELEVANT 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
REPORTING PROCESS

Definitions and Elements of the Softing Group’s 
Internal Control and Risk Management System
The Softing Group’s internal control system com-
prises all principles, procedures and actions 
required for ensuring the effectiveness, economy 
and propriety of the Company’s financial report-
ing as well as compliance with material legal 
requirements.

The internal control system of the Softing Group 
comprises an internal management and monitor-
ing system. 

Monitoring mechanisms that are process-inte-
grated or uninvolved in business processes con-
stitute the elements of the Softing Group’s inter-
nal monitoring system. Hence automated IT-based 
process controls besides manual process controls – 
such as the two-person integrity (TPI) principle – are 
an integral part of all process-integrated activities.

As part of the internal control system, those aspects 
of the risk management system that concern finan-
cial reporting are focused on the risk of misstate-
ments in the Group’s bookkeeping as well as its 
external reporting system. Besides risk manage-
ment at the operating level – which also includes 
risk transfer to insurance companies through insur-
ance policies serving to limit the risk of loss or lia-
bility as well as through suitable hedging transac-
tions serving to limit foreign currency risks – the 
Softing Group’s risk management system also com-
prises early detection as well as management and 
monitoring of risks, systematically and groupwide. 
The Softing Group has established a monitoring 
system pursuant to Section 91 (2) German Stock 
Corporation Act that is aimed at early detection 
of risks that might jeopardize the Company’s exis-
tence in order to ensure systematic early detection 
of risk throughout the Group. For additional disclo-
sures on the risk management system, please see 
the section entitled, “Risk Report.”
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As part of the risk reporting system, the Execu-
tive Board is regularly informed about risks. Risks 
are identified at an early stage and assessed. Risks 
are reported across all companies, with the risks 
recorded being listed and evaluated. The Executive 
Board is responsible for defining appropriate risk 
management measures. Significant individual risks 
are recorded independently of the regular cycle 
and reported without delay.

Use of IT Systems
Accounting transactions are recorded in the single-
entity financial statements of the German com-
panies’ subsidiaries using IFS’s bookkeeping sys-
tem. Our foreign subsidiaries utilize local providers 
of bookkeeping systems. All subsidiaries supple-
ment their separate financial statements by addi-
tional information using standardized reporting 
packages that are entered into Softing AG’s consol-
idation system in connection with the preparation 
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
The system from software manufacturer Lucanet is 
used as the consolidation system. All consolidation 
processes required to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements of Softing AG – e. g. acquisi-
tion accounting, asset and liability accounting, or 
elimination of expenses and earnings – are gener-
ated and documented in the consolidation system.

Specific Risks Related to the 
Financial Reporting Process
Specific risks related to the Group’s financial report-
ing process may arise from unusual or complex 
transactions that could be treated erroneously in 
the accounting systems. Transactions that are not 
routinely processed also entail inherent risks. Addi-
tional risks related to the financial reporting pro-
cess arise from the latitude that employees must 
be given in regards to the recognition and mea-
surement of assets and liabilities.

Material Control and Monitoring Activities 
Aimed at Assuring the Propriety and Reliability 
of the Financial Reporting Process 
All facets of the internal control system that serve 
to provide a proper and reliable financial report-
ing process ensure complete and timely recording 
of all transactions in compliance with all require-
ments under the law and the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation. It also assures that inventories are 
taken in proper fashion and that both assets and 
liabilities are accurately recognized, measured and 
shown in the consolidated financial statements. 
These control activities also serve to ensure that 
the bookkeeping records provide reliable and plau-
sible information. If errors occur and are identified 
despite these activities, these are corrected with-
out delay.

The monitoring activities serving to ensure that 
the financial reporting is proper and reliable also 
comprise the analysis of transactions and develop-
ments using specific analyses of key indicators. The 
separation of functions related to administration, 
execution, accounting and approval – as well as 
their perception as such by a variety of individuals 
– limits the possibilities for engaging in intentional 
acts. Other requirements also exist, as follows. For 
example, this also ensures that bookkeeping pro-
cesses are carried out both in the proper period 
and in full even if the IT systems that the Group 
companies use for the underlying accounting are 
changed. 

The internal control system also serves to make 
sure that changes in the Softing Group’s economic 
or legal environment are duly presented and that 
new or amended statutory requirements concern-
ing the financial reporting process are applied. 



The International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) represent the uniform accounting poli-
cies applied by the domestic and foreign entities 
included in Softing’s consolidated financial state-
ments. Besides general accounting policies, in par-
ticular, this concerns requirements related to the 
statement of financial position, the income state-
ment, the notes, the management report, the 
statement of cash flows, the statement of com-
prehensive income, the statement of changes 
in equity and segment reporting, taking require-
ments under EU law into account.

Softing’s accounting standards also govern con-
crete formal requirements that the consolidated 
financial statements must fulfill. They not only 
determine which companies to include in consoli-
dation, they also fix the components of the report-
ing packages that the Group companies must pre-
pare in detail. Among other things, these formal 
requirements serve to ensure the binding utiliza-
tion of a standardized and complete set of forms. 
Softing’s accounting standards also contain specific 
requirements regarding the treatment and settle-
ment of intra-group transactions and the reconcili-
ation of accounts based thereon. 

At the Group level, the specific elements of con-
trol designed to ensure the propriety and reliabil-
ity of Group accounting principles comprise anal-
yses and possibly revisions of Group companies’ 
separate financial statements. The centralized exe-
cution of impairment tests for the cash generat-
ing units from the Group’s perspective assures 
that uniform and standardized measurement cri-
teria are applied. Furthermore, additional data are 
processed and aggregated at the Group level in 
regards to external information in both the notes 
and the management report, including informa-
tion related to events after the reporting period.

Caveats
The internal control and risk management system 
makes it possible to record, process and measure 
all transactions pertaining to the Group as well as 
their appropriate presentation through the finan-
cial reporting process thanks to the Softing Group’s 
organizational, control and monitoring structures.

However, personal discretion, defective controls, 
criminal acts or other circumstances cannot be 
precluded by the very nature of the matter at hand 
and, as a result, may limit the effectiveness and 
reliability of the internal control and risk manage-
ment system such that even groupwide applica-
tion of the systems utilized cannot guarantee with 
absolute certainty complete, accurate and timely 
recording of transactions as part of the financial 
reporting process.
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DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH SECTION 289A HGB AND 
EXPLANATORY REPORT

1. In 2023, the share capital of Softing AG was 
EUR 9,105,381 denominated in the same 
number of no-par shares, all granting the 
same rights, specifically voting rights. No 
shareholder or shareholder group has special 
rights.

2. Shareholders’ voting rights are not restricted 
by law or the Company’s Articles of Incorpora-
tion. The voting rights are not limited to a spe-
cific number of shares or votes. The Executive 
Board is not aware of any limitations regarding 
the voting rights.

The shareholders of Softing AG are not lim-
ited by law or the Company’s Articles of Incor-
poration in their decision to purchase or sell 
shares. To be effective, the purchase or sale 
of shares does not require the approval of the 
Company’s boards. The Executive Board is not 
aware of any limitations regarding the assign-
ability of shares.

3. We have been notified of the following direct 
or indirect equity interests that exceed 10% of 
the voting rights:

Mr. Hugh Alan Durell notified us on Septem-
ber 16, 2020 that all notifications regarding 
the meeting of thresholds from December 1, 
2011 at 24.03%, December 5, 2011 at 26.69% 
and March 26, 2018 at 22.43% received from 
Hugh Alan Durell and Helm Trust Company 
Ltd. (last published on July 19, 2018) will be 
rescinded. These notifications subsequently 
proved unnecessary because the voting rights 
were not attributable to the persons named.

Dr. Dr. Wolfgang Trier notified us on Novem-
ber 24, 2020 that 24.03% of the voting 
rights have been attributed to him by Trier 

Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG since 
December 1, 2011.

Dr. Dr. Wolfgang Trier notified us on Novem-
ber 24, 2020 that 22.43% of the voting 
rights have been attributed to him by Trier 
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG since 
March 26, 2018.

Dr. Dr. Wolfgang Trier further notified us on 
November 27, 2020 that no voting rights have 
been attributed to him by Trier Vermögensver-
waltung GmbH & Co. KG since November 24, 
2020 because he no longer controls the entity. 
Trier Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG 
continues to hold 22.43% of the voting rights 
and no financial instruments as of Novem-
ber 24, 2020.

Mr. Gerhard Hönig notified us on Decem-
ber 4, 2020 that 22.43% of the voting rights 
have been attributed to him since Decem-
ber 3, 2020. He obtained control by personally 
assuming the management function at Trier 
Familienstiftung.
Voting rights are attributed via
- Trier Familienstiftung
- Trier Asset Management GmbH
- Trier Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG

Mr. Alois Widmann, Vaduz / Liechtenstein, 
notified us in accordance with Section 33 (1) 
German Securities Trading Act that his voting 
share in our company exceeded the threshold 
of 15% on March 28, 2018, and was 15.92% 
on that date (1,450,000 voting shares).

Of this amount, 15.92% (1,450,000 voting 
shares) must be attributed to Mr. Widmann in 
accordance with Section 34 (1) sentence 1 no. 1.



In 2023, there was no change to the above 
voting rights notifications.

4. The Company has not issued any shares with 
special rights conferring powers of control.

5. No employees may directly exercise their 
control rights in connection with their equity 
interests.

6. In accordance with Article 7 of the Articles 
of Incorporation of Softing AG, the Executive 
Board of Softing AG comprises one or more 
persons. Even if the Company’s share capital 
exceeds EUR 3,000,000, the Executive Board 
may comprise just one person. Deputy mem-
bers of the Executive Board may be appointed. 
The Supervisory Board appoints the members 
of the Executive Board and determines the 
number of persons serving on the Executive 
Board. The Supervisory Board may appoint a 
chairman of the Executive Board and a deputy 
chairman of the Executive Board.

The Supervisory Board is authorized to make 
amendments to the Articles of Incorpora-
tion insofar as they concern only the wording 
thereof. More comprehensive amendments to 
the Articles of Incorporation are subject to the 
requirements of Sections 133 and 179 Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act.

An average of 9,015,381 shares were out-
standing in the 2023 financial year.

On May 6, 2022, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorized the Executive Board of 
Softing AG to increase the Company’s share 
capital with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board by a total of EUR 4,552,690 on one or 
several occasions up to May 5, 2027 by issuing 
new no-par bearer shares against contribu-
tions in cash and/or in kind (Authorized Capital 
2022). The existing authorized capital (Autho-
rized Capital 2018) was cancelled based on a 
resolution adopted by the General Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting on May 6, 2022.

As of the balance sheet date, the fully 
paid-in share capital of the Company was 
EUR 9,105,381 (previous year: EUR 9,105,381 
thousand). It is divided into 9,105,381 (pre-
vious year: 9,105,381) no-par-value bearer 
shares with a notional value of EUR 1 each. 

7. The Executive Board is authorized to contin-
gently increase the Company’s share capital 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board 
by up to EUR 4,552,690.00 by issuing up to 
4,552,690 new no-par bearer shares (Con-
tingent Capital 2022). The contingent capi-
tal increase will serve the granting of option 
rights or obligations to the holders of warrants 
arising from bonds with warrants under the 
terms of the respective options or the grant-
ing of conversion rights or obligations to the 
holders of convertible bonds under the terms 
of the respective convertible bonds issued by 
the Company up to May 6, 2027 in accordance 
with the resolution of the General Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting on May 5, 2022. The new shares 
will be issued at the respective option or con-
version price to be determined in accordance 
with the above-mentioned authorization res-
olution. The contingent capital increase will 
be implemented only in the event that bonds 
with warrants or convertible bonds are issued 
and only to the extent that the holders of the 
bonds with warrants or the convertible bonds 
make use of their option or conversion right or 
the holders of bonds obligated to convert or 
to exercise the option fulfill this obligation and 
the contingent capital is needed in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the bond 
with warrants or the convertible bond. The 
new shares issued on the basis of the exer-
cise of the option or conversion right or the 
fulfillment of the conversion or option obliga-
tion have a share in the profit from the begin-
ning of the financial year in which they arise. 
The Executive Board is authorized, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to stipu-
late the further details of the implementation 
of the contingent capital increase. Said author-
ity was not exercised to date. The existing 
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contingent capital (Contingent Capital 2018) 
was cancelled based on a resolution adopted 
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 
May 6, 2022.

8. On May 6, 2020, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorized the Executive Board to 
purchase own shares until May 5, 2025, pro-
vided that such purchase is not made for the 
purpose of trading in treasury shares, and pro-
vided that the purchase price of said shares is 
not more than 10% above or below the share’s 
average closing price at the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange during the last ten days preceding 
the purchase (share repurchase). The clos-
ing price shall be determined as the share’s 
closing auction price in electronic trading on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (XETRA trading) 
or a system succeeding XETRA trading. The 
authorization may be exercised once or sev-
eral times, in whole or in part. It is limited to 
purchasing shares representing no more than 
a total of 10% of the Company’s share capi-
tal. Any treasury shares acquired under this 
authorization – together with other treasury 
shares that the Company has already acquired 
and still holds – may not exceed 10% of the 
Company’s share capital.

9. The buyback served to create an acquisition 
currency that is required in the medium term 
and that is available at a price which the Com-
pany believes to be considerably below fair 
value. The Company held 90,000 treasury 
shares as of December 31, 2023.

10. There are no material agreements entered 
into by the parent company that provide for a 
change of control following a takeover bid.

11. There are no compensation agreements of the 
parent company with members of the Execu-
tive Board or employees in the event of a take-
over bid.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Executive Board of Softing AG reports on issues 
of corporate governance in this statement – also 
on behalf of the Supervisory Board – pursuant to 
both Principle 22 of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code and Sections 289f (1) and 315d of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The statement 
applies both to Softing AG as the parent and to the 
Softing Group in equal measure. For the contents of 
the statement, please see this link on our website 
at www.softing.com: https://investor.softing.com/
corporate-governance-code/statement-on-cgc-
pursuant-to-sec-289f-and-315d-hgb.html

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

“To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the con-
solidated financial statements and the annual 
financial statements of Softing AG give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and profit or loss of the Softing Group and of 
Softing AG, and the combined management report 
includes a fair review of the development and per-
formance of the business and the position of the 
Softing Group and of Softing AG, together with a 
description of the material opportunities and risks 
associated with the expected development of the 
Softing Group and of Softing AG.”

Haar, Germany, March 20, 2024

Softing AG

The Executive Board

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka



Consolidated In o e State ent
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2023

Note
an    e   

E R (in t sds )
an    e   

E R (in t sds )

Revenue D1 112,595 98,311

t er o n or  apitali ed

t er operating in o e

Operating income 119,998 105,951

Cost o  aterials ost o  pur ased ser i es

Sta  osts D5

epre iation  a orti ation and i pair ent o  property  
plant and equip ent  rig t o use assets and intangi le assets

t ereo  depre iation a orti ation due to 
pur ase pri e allo ation i pair ent o  good ill

t ereo  depre iation due to a ounting or rig t o use assets

t er operating e penses

Operating expenses –122,722 –105,189

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT) –2,724 762

Interest in o e 

Interest e pense

Interest e pense ro  lease a ounting

t er finan e in o e finan e osts

Earnings before income taxes –3,248 –563

In o e ta es

Consolidated profit –5,712 –1,179

Consolidated profit a ri uta le to

S are olders o  So ing 

on ontrolling interests

Consolidated profit –5,712 –1,179

Earnings per s are (diluted  asi )

erage nu er o  s ares outstanding ( asi )

CO NSO L IDATED FINANCIAL  STATEM ENTS



Consolidated State ent o  Co pre ensi e In o e
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2023

an    e   
E R (in t sds )

an    e   
E R (in t sds )

Consolidated profit –5,712 –1,179

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated comprehensive income

Re easure ent o  pensions

Ta  e e t

Remeasurement from pensions, total

Items that will be reclassified to consolidated comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences

C anges in unreali ed gains losses

Ta  e e t 555

Total currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income –659 366

Consolidated comprehensive income for the period –6,371 –813

Consolidated comprehensive income for the period attributable to

S are olders o  So ing 

on ontrolling interests

Consolidated comprehensive income for the period –6,371 –813



Consolidated State ent o  Finan ial osition
as of December 31, 2023

ssets Note
e   

E R (in t sds )
e   

E R (in t sds )

Non-current assets

ood ill C C

t er intangi le assets C C

roperty  plant and equip ent C

t er finan ial assets C5

e erred ta  assets

Non-current assets, total 56,570 64,372

Current assets

In entories C

Trade re ei a les C

t er urrent finan ial assets C

Contra t assets C

Current in o e ta  assets C

Cas  and as  equi alents C

Current non finan ial assets C

Current assets, total 46,489 46,076

Total assets 103,059 110,448
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Equity and lia ilities Note
e   

E R (in t sds )
e   

E R (in t sds )

Equity

Su s ri ed apital C

Capital reser es C

Treasury s ares C

Retained earnings C

Equity  s are olders o  So ing 

on ontrolling interests C

Equity, total 54,295 61,835

Non-current liabilities

ensions C

ong ter  orro ings C

t er non urrent finan ial lia ilities C

e erred ta  lia ilities  

Non-current liabilities, total 21,314 23,203

Current liabilities

Trade paya les C

Contra t lia ilities C

ro isions C

In o e ta  lia ilities C

S ort ter  orro ings C

t er urrent finan ial lia ilities C

Current non finan ial lia ilities C

Current liabilities, total 27,450 25,410

Total equity and liabilities 103,059 110,448



Consolidated State ent o  C anges in Equity
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2023

Su
s ri ed 

apital

Capital 
reser es

Treasury 
S ares Retained earnings

Equity  
s are olders 
o  So ing 

on
ontrolling 
interests

Total equity

et retained 
profits and 

ot er

Re easure
ents

Curren y 
translation Total

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

Balance as of January 1, 2023 9,105 31,111 –485 20,664 –676 1,275 21,264 60,995 840 61,835

Consolidated profit 

t er o pre ensi e in o e 

o  i  ro  re easure ents

o  i  urren y translation

o  i  ta  e e t

Consolidated comprehensive income 
for the period –5,829 159 –818 –6,488 –6,488 117 –6,371

i idend pay ent 

ur ase o  o n s ares

C ange in inorities

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners –902 –902 –902 –1,169

Balance as of December 31, 2023 9,105 31,111 –485 13,933 –517 457 13,874 53,605 690 54,295

Su
s ri ed 

apital

Capital 
reser es

Treasury 
S ares Retained earnings

Equity  
s are olders 
o  So ing 

on
ontrolling 
interests

Total equity

et retained 
profits and 

ot er

Re easure
ents

Curren y 
translation Total

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

E R
(in t sds )

Balance as of January 1, 2022 9,105 31,111 –485 22,961 –1,744 1,977 23,195 62,926 622 63,548

Consolidated profit 

t er o pre ensi e in o e 

o  i  ro  re easure ents

o  i  urren y translation

o  i  ta  e e t 555

Consolidated comprehensive income 
for the period –1,397 1,068 –702 –1,031 –1,031 218 –813

i idend pay ent 

ur ase o  o n s ares

C ange in inorities

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners –900 –900 –900 0 –900

Balance as of December 31, 2022 9,105 31,111 –485 20,664 –676 1,275 21,264 60,995 840 61,835
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Consolidated State ent o  Cas  Flo s
for the Period from January 1 to December 31, 2023

an    e   
E R (in t sds )

an    e   
E R (in t sds )

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit (before tax) –3,249 –563

epre iation  a orti ation and i pair ent losses on fi ed assets

t er non as  transa tions

Cash flows for the period 13,488 6,448

Interest in o e finan e in o e

Interest e pense finan e osts

C ange in ot er pro isions and a rued lia ilities

C ange in in entories

C ange in trade re ei a les

C ange in finan ial re ei a les and ot er assets

C ange in trade paya les

C ange in finan ial and non finan ial lia ilities and ot er lia ilities

Interest re ei ed

In o e ta es re ei ed

In o e ta es paid

Cash flows from operating activities 9,097 3,815

Cas  paid or in est ents in ne  internal produ t de elop ents

Cas  paid or in est ents in ne  e ternal produ t de elop ents

Cas  paid or in est ents in ot er intangi le assets

Cas  paid or in est ents in non urrent assets

Cash flows from investing activities –7,927 –6,067

Cas  paid or di idends

Repay ent o  lease lia ilities

Cas  re ei ed ro  long ter  an  line

Cas  re ei ed ro  s ort ter  an  line

Cas  repay ent o  an  loans

Interest  lease a ounting

t er interest paid

Total interest paid

Cash flows from financing activities –3,065 –702

et ange in unds

E e ts o  e ange rate anges on as  and as  equi alents

Cas  and as  equi alents at t e eginning o  t e period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 4,859 6,802

For urt er in or ation  please see ite  E  o  t e otes



C anges in Intangi le ssets and 
roperty  lant and Equip ent

in Financial Year 2023
Cost

an   dditions 
Curren y 

di eren es
Restate ents

re lassifi ations isposals e   

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Intangi le assets

ood ill

Internally generated produ t de elop ents

E ternally generated produ t de elop ents

t er intangi le assets

109,432 6,682 –1,087 –31 114,996

roperty  plant and equip ent

Rig t o use assets  operating and o e equip ent

Rig t o use assets  uildings

Rig t o use assets  e i les

t er equip ent  urniture and fi tures 
and o e equip ent

15,241 2,059 –116 1,110 –736 17,558

124,673 8,741 –1,203 1,110 –767 132,554

in Financial Year 2022
Cost

an   dditions 
Curren y 

di eren es
Restate ents

re lassifi ations isposals e   

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Intangi le assets

ood ill

Internally generated produ t de elop ents

E ternally generated produ t de elop ents

t er intangi le assets

103,201 5,094 1,743 3 611 109,430

roperty  plant and equip ent

Rig t o use assets  operating and o e equip ent

Rig t o use assets  uildings

Rig t o use assets  e i les

t er equip ent  urniture and fi tures 
and o e equip ent

11,376 4,865 163 412 1,573 15,243

114,577 9,959 1,906 415 2,184 124,673

CO NSO L IDATED FINANCIAL  STATEM ENTS



epre iation a orti ation i pair ent Carrying a ounts

an   
Curren y

di eren es

epre iation
a orti ation in t e 

finan ial year
Restate ents

trans ers isposals e   e   

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

53,867 –385 14,149 30 67,601 47,395
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A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1. BASIS

The consolidated financial statements of Softing AG 
were prepared in accordance with all International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that 
were applicable on the balance sheet date and all 
Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Com-
mittee (IFRS IC) that were binding for the financial 
year ended and applicable in the European Union 
in accordance with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council on 
the application of international accounting stan-
dards. The term IFRS also includes the applicable 
International Accounting Standards (IASs). Fur-
thermore, the provisions applicable under German 
Commercial law as defined in Section 315e (1) Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB) were also taken into 
account.

The consolidated income statement is drawn up 
using the nature of expense format. The consoli-
dated financial statements are structured in accor-
dance with the provisions of IAS 1. The presen-
tation in the consolidated statement of financial 
position differentiates between current and non-
current assets. Assets are classified as current if 

they become due within one year. The consoli-
dated statement of financial position also differen-
tiates between current and non-current liabilities. 
Liabilities are classified as current if they become 
due within one year.

The reporting currency is the euro (EUR). All 
amounts are stated in thousands of euros 
(EUR thousand) unless indicated otherwise. These 
financial statements cover the 2023 financial year 
based on the reporting period from January 1 to 
December 31 of that same year. Due to rounding, it 
is possible that individual figures and percentages 
may not precisely add up to the totals shown.

The consolidated financial statements and the 
Combined management report are published in 
the electronic Federal Gazette.

The Executive Board of Softing AG released the 
consolidated financial statements to the Super-
visory Board on March 20, 2024. It is the task of 
the Supervisory Board to examine the consoli-
dated financial statements and declare whether it 
approves them.

otes to t e Consolidated Finan ial State ents 
or t e  Finan ial ear

2. PURPOSE OF THE GROUP

Softing AG, headquartered in Haar near Munich, 
Germany, is the Group’s parent company. 
Softing AG is a stock corporation under German 
law. It is registered at Munich Local Court with the 

address “Richard-Reitzner-Allee 6, 85540 Haar.” 
Softing AG is also the ultimate parent company of 
the Group.
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The purpose of Softing AG and its subsidiaries is 
to provide analysis, consulting, development and 
implementation services in the context of IT proj-
ects as well as business studies, expert opin-
ions and training, especially in the areas of pro-
cess automation and production data acquisition, 

system and user software for micro- and minicom-
puter systems, long-distance data transmission, 
computer networks and commercial IT applica-
tions. The results of these activities are incorpo-
rated into the products marketed by the Softing 
Group.

3.  PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON A 
GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Executive Board continues to stand by its real-
istic expectation that the Group has sufficient 
resources in order to continue to operate for at 
least a further period of twelve months and that 
the going concern principle remains appropriate as 
a basis for its financial reporting. The effects that 
led to a global procurement crisis for electronic 
components have eased during 2023. With the 
exception of a few products, our manufacturers 
were able to process orders placed in 2022. 

This resulted in an increase in revenue of 14.5% 
from EUR 98.3 million in 2022 to EUR 112.6 mil-
lion in the past financial year, marking the first 
time in its history that Softing generated revenue 
of more than EUR 100 million. Incoming orders 
returned to a more normal level of EUR 64.0 mil-
lion after EUR 155.8 million in the previous year. 
The orders on hand brought forward into the new 
financial year amount to EUR 45.1 million and are 
the basis for a solid revenue target in 2024. For 

the financial year ending December 31, 2023, the 
Group is reporting a negative EBIT of EUR 2.7 mil-
lion. The Group’s operating EBIT (EBIT adjusted for 
capitalized development services of EUR 5.7 mil-
lion and amortization of internally generated and 
third-party product developments of EUR 6.2 mil-
lion as well as effects from purchase price alloca-
tion in the amount of EUR 7.8 million) amounted 
to EUR 5.6 million (previous year: EUR 3.3 million). 
As of December 31, 2023, the Group had net cur-
rent assets in the amount of EUR 19.0 million. As of 
January 31, 2023, the Softing Group has cash and 
cash equivalents of EUR 4.9 million, current receiv-
ables of EUR 12.3 million and agreed but not yet 
drawn down credit lines of around EUR 3.2 mil-
lion at its disposal. This means that the Group has 
up to EUR 20.4 million in near-cash funds available 
at short notice to cope with the various continu-
ing economic uncertainties triggered by the vola-
tile global situation.



4.  NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS:

4.1.  New and Amended Standards and 
Interpretations Effective for the First Time

In the past financial year, the Group observed the 
following new and amended standards and inter-
pretations that became effective on January 1, 
2023 and reviewed them as to their applicability: 

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts Including 
Subsequent Amendments to IFRS 17
On May 18, 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance 
Contracts, a comprehensive new accounting stan-
dard that establishes the principles for the recogni-
tion, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
insurance contracts, and subsequently amended it 
on June 25, 2020. IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 Insur-
ance Contracts published in 2005. IFRS 17 applies 
to all types of insurance contracts (i. e. life, non-
life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless 
of the type of entity, as well as to certain guaran-
tees and financial instruments with discretionary 
participation features. A few scope exceptions will 
apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide 
a consistent accounting model for insurance con-
tracts. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, 
which are largely based on grandfathering previous 
local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a com-
prehensive model for insurance contracts, cover-
ing all relevant accounting aspects. Application of 
these amendments had no impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1: 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
The IASB issued amendments to IAS 1: Disclo-
sure of Accounting Policies on February 12, 2021. 
An entity is now required to disclose its ‘material’ 
accounting policy information in the notes instead 
of its ‘significant’ accounting policies. Guidance 
on applying the definition of materiality was also 
provided.

In the absence of a definition of the term ‘signifi-
cant’ in IFRS, the Board decided to replace it with 

‘material’, which is a defined term. Information on 
accounting policies may not be material in itself.

In assessing the materiality of accounting policy 
information, entities need to consider the scope of 
transactions, other events and the nature of them 
in the current financial statements. The amend-
ments clarify that events or conditions relating 
to accounting policy information may themselves 
be material despite the corresponding account-
ing policy information being immaterial. The same 
applies vice versa. 

Based on the amendments, an entity is likely to 
consider accounting policy information to be mate-
rial in the following situations:

A change of accounting policy results in a material 
change to the information in the financial state-
ments. A choice of accounting policy is permitted 
by IFRS.

An entity develops an accounting policy in accor-
dance with IAS 8 in the absence of an IFRS that spe-
cifically applies.

Application of accounting policy requires signifi-
cant judgments or assumptions.

Users of financial statements have difficulty under-
standing material transactions and other events or 
conditions because they require complex account-
ing decisions, e. g., when more than one IFRS is 
applied to a category of material transactions.

The amended IAS 1 explicitly acknowledges that 
disclosure of immaterial accounting policy infor-
mation may be acceptable provided it does not 
obscure material information.

Application of these amendments had no impact 
on the Group.
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Amendments to IAS 8: 
Definition of Accounting Estimates
On February 12, 2021, the IASB issued Amend-
ments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates, 
in which it introduces a new definition of account-
ing estimates.

The previously undefined term ‘accounting esti-
mates’ was defined in the amended standard 
IAS 8.5 as “monetary amounts in financial state-
ments that are subject to measurement uncer-
tainty”. In comparison, estimates that are not 
accounting estimates should generally relate to 
inputs used to develop an accounting estimate. 
The principle of IAS 8.35, which applies in cases of 
doubt, remains unchanged: When it is difficult to 
distinguish a change in an accounting policy from 
a change in an accounting estimate, the change is 
treated as a change in an accounting estimate.

The IASB also clarified that effects on an account-
ing estimate of a change in an input or a change in 
a measurement technique are changes in account-
ing estimates unless they result from the correc-
tion of prior period errors. Application of these 
amendments had no impact on the Group.

IAS 12: Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction
On May 7, 2021, the IASB issued IAS 12: Deferred 
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a 
Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12). The 
amendments clarify in particular how companies 
account for deferred tax on transactions such as 
leases and decommissioning obligations.

Entities are exempt from recognizing a deferred tax 
asset or liability in particular circumstances (initial 
recognition exemption). The amendments set out 
that the exemption does not apply to transactions 
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible tem-
porary differences.

In these cases, entities must recognize deferred 
taxes for such transactions. When a transaction 
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences, entities are exempt from 
recognizing a deferred tax asset or liability.

The amendments only apply to transactions that 
occur on or after the beginning of the earliest com-
parative period presented. Two exceptions that are 
relevant in accounting practice exist here. For tem-
porary differences associated with lease liabilities 
and decommissioning obligations, deferred taxes 
are recognized at the beginning of the compara-
tive period and the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of retained earnings (or other 
component of equity, as appropriate) at that date 
is also recognized. Application of these amend-
ments had no impact on the Group.



IFRS 17: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9 – Comparative Information
On December 9, 2021, the IASB issued Initial Appli-
cation of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Infor-
mation (Amendment to IFRS 17). The amendment 
permits an entity to apply a transition option (clas-
sification overlay) for classifying financial assets in 
the comparative periods presented on initial appli-
cation of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. The transition option 
was added in response to the concerns of a num-
ber of stakeholders about possible accounting mis-
matches that may arise between financial assets 
and insurance contract liabilities on the initial 
application of the two standards.

Such accounting mismatches may arise from the 
differing transition requirements of IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 17. IFRS 17 requires entities to restate com-
parative information, while IFRS 9 only allows 
restatement if doing so does not require the use 
of hindsight. However, comparative information 
will not be restated for financial assets that were 
derecognized prior to initial application of IFRS 9.

An entity applying the classification overlay to a 
financial asset must present comparative infor-
mation as if the classification and measurement 
requirements of IFRS 9 had been applied to that 
financial asset. The entity must use reasonable 
and supportable information available at the tran-
sition date to determine how the entity expects 
the financial asset would be classified and mea-
sured on initial application of IFRS 17 together with 
IFRS 9. In applying the classification overlay to a 
financial asset, an entity is not required to apply 
the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 for the 
comparative period. In such cases, the impairment 
requirements of IAS 39 must be applied instead.

A classification overlay can be applied by entities 
that apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 at the same time and 
restate comparative information for IFRS 9. In such 
cases, the transition regulation can only be applied 
to financial assets derecognized in the comparative 
period.

If the comparative information is not restated 
under IFRS 9, the classification overlay can be 
applied to all financial assets in the comparative 
period. On application of IFRS 9 before initial appli-
cation of IFRS 17, an entity can apply classifica-
tion overlay to the financial assets redesignated in 
accordance with IFRS 17.C29 if they had not been 
derecognized in the comparative period.

The amendment sets out that entities applying 
the classification overlay option must disclose this 
in the notes. They must also disclose qualitative 
information that enables users of financial state-
ments to understand the effects of the classifica-
tion overlay on the presentation for the compara-
tive period. Application of these amendments had 
no impact on the Group.

IAS 12: International Tax Reform – 
Pillar Two Model Rules
On May 23, 2023, the IASB issued International Tax 
Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments 
to IAS 12). The amendments introduce a tempo-
rary exception to the accounting for deferred taxes 
arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two 
Model Rules, together with extended disclosure 
requirements for affected entities. Application of 
these amendments had no impact on the Group.
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4.2.  Standards Issued but not Yet Effective
The new and amended standards and interpreta-
tions that are issued, but not yet effective, up to 
the date of issuance of the Group’s financial state-
ments are disclosed below. The Group intends 
to adopt these new and amended standards and 
interpretations, if applicable, when they become 
effective.

IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
On September 22, 2022, the IASB issued Lease 
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to 
IFRS 16). The amended standard requires a seller-
lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities 
arising from a sale and leaseback transaction in a 
way that it does not recognize any amount of the 
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

In a sale and leaseback transaction, one entity 
(seller-lessee) sells an asset to another entity 
(buyer-lessor) and leases back that asset. When 
determining whether the transfer of an asset is 
accounted for as a sale of that asset, the seller-
lessee is required to apply IFRS 15 to assess 
whether legal ownership of the underlying asset 
has been transferred. If the transfer of an asset is 
classified as a sale, the seller-lessee records the 
leaseback as a lease and recognizes a lease liabil-
ity and a right-of-use-asset retained for the asset 
sold. While IFRS 16.100 (a) sets out that the seller-
lessee must measure the right-of-use asset arising 
from the leaseback at the proportion of the previ-
ous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the 
right of use retained by the seller-lessee, IFRS 16 
does not contain more specific guidance on mea-
suring the lease liability arising from a sale-and-
leaseback transaction.

After the commencement date, the seller-lessee 
must apply paragraphs 29 to 35 of IFRS 16 to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the leaseback and 
paragraphs 36 to 46 of IFRS 16 to the lease liability 
arising from the leaseback. In applying paragraphs 
36 to 46 of IFRS 16, the seller-lessee must deter-
mine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ 
in a way that the seller-lessee would not recognize 
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the 
right of use retained by the seller-lessee. Applying 
the requirements in this paragraph does not pre-
vent the seller-lessee from recognizing in profit or 
loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full 
termination of a lease.

The amendment of IFRS 16 does not provide spe-
cific guidance on measuring lease liabilities aris-
ing from a sale and leaseback transaction. Ini-
tial measurement of the lease liability from a sale 
and leaseback transaction can lead a seller-lessee 
to determine ‘lease payments’ that do not meet 
the definition of lease payments in Appendix A of 
IFRS 16. The seller-lessor must therefore develop 
and apply an accounting policy in accordance with 
IAS 8 that leads to information that is relevant and 
reliable.

The amendments are effective for annual report-
ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. 
Early application is permissible subject to endorse-
ment by the EU. A seller-lessor is required to apply 
the amendments retrospectively to sale and lease-
back transactions concluded after the date of ini-
tial application of IFRS 16.



IAS 1: Classification of Debt with Covenants 
as Current or Non-current
In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued 
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements specifying how an entity shall classify 
debt as current or non-current when complying 
with conditions specified in their loan agreements 
(‘covenants’). The amendments in 2022 eliminate 
ambiguities in the amendments from 2020 relat-
ing in particular to covenants to be complied with 
within twelve months after the reporting period 
rather than at the reporting date.

IAS 1.72B now clarifies that the classification of 
debt as current or non-current is merely subject to 
whether an entity is required to comply with cov-
enants on or before the reporting date. Covenants 
with which an entity only has to comply after the 
reporting date are not significant for the classifica-
tion at the end of the reporting period. In these 
cases, pursuant to IAS 1.76ZA the entity is required 
to disclose information in the notes that the liabil-
ity (still presented as non-current) could become 
repayable within twelve months after the report-
ing period in the event of a breach of covenant. 
If a breach of covenant occurs on or before the 
reporting date, making the liability immediately 
repayable at the lender’s request, a liability must 
(continue to) be recognized as non-current only if 
the borrower has a right at the end of the report-
ing period to defer settlement for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. Otherwise, the 
liability must be classified as current (IAS 1.69 (d)). 
Here, too, IAS 1.72A ff. clarifies that the right to 
defer settlement of a liability is exclusively sub-
ject to the entity complying with the conditions 
at the end of the reporting period. The right must 
have substance, which is only the case if the lender 
agreed to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period. 

Later agreement (even if this is given before the 
financial statements are authorized for issuance) 
can no longer be considered. The classification of 
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the 
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of 
the liability (IAS 1.75A). Where a right to defer set-
tlement exists, a liability is therefore classified as 
non-current even if it is likely to be settled within 
the next twelve months. Conversely, an entity that 
does not have a right to defer settlement at the 
end of the reporting period must report the liabil-
ity as current even if it expects to roll over an obli-
gation under an existing loan facility (IAS 1.73).

Both amendments are effective for annual report-
ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. 
Uniform early application of both amendments is 
permissible subject to endorsement by the EU.

IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements
On May 25, 2023, the IASB issued amendments to 
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 which address in particular addi-
tional disclosure requirements in connection with 
supplier finance arrangements (reverse factoring 
arrangements) and serve to enhance the transpar-
ency of such arrangements and their effects on a 
company’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to 
liquidity risk. The amendments also clarify charac-
teristics of supplier finance agreements.

The new disclosure requirements complement 
current requirements in IFRS by adding to disclo-
sure requirements about:

• the terms and conditions of the supplier finance 
arrangements;

• for the arrangements, as at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period: the carrying 
amounts of financial liabilities that are part of 
the arrangement and the associated line item 
presented;
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• the carrying amount of financial liabilities and 
line items for which suppliers have already 
received payment from the finance providers;

• the range of payment due dates for financial lia-
bilities from supplier finance arrangements com-
pared with the due dates of comparable trade 
payables that are not part of a supplier finance 
arrangement (in each case at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period);

• the type and effect of non-cash changes in 
the carrying amounts of supplier finance 
arrangement financial liabilities, due for exam-
ple to exchange rate volatility or business 
combinations; 

• effects on exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments require an entity to aggregate 
information about its supplier finance arrange-
ments. However, the entity must disaggregate 
information about unusual or unique terms and 
conditions of individual arrangements when they 
are dissimilar. Explanatory information about pay-
ment due dates, when those payment due date 
ranges are wide, must also be disaggregated.

The amendments are effective for annual report-
ing periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. 
Voluntary early application is permissible subject to 
endorsement by the EU. An entity is not required 
to disclose comparative information for any report-
ing periods presented before the beginning of the 
annual reporting period in which the amendments 
first apply. Furthermore, the amendments clarify 
that entities are not required to provide disclosures 
according to the new requirements in any interim 
reporting period during the first annual reporting 
period in which those amendments apply.

IAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability
On August 15, 2023, the IASB issued amend-
ments to IAS 21 to clarify the accounting when 
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments fill a 
gap in IAS 21 by providing explicit requirements on 
the exchange rate an entity uses when there is no 
observable exchange rate on the reporting date.

The amended standard now contains guidance to 
specify when a currency is exchangeable and how 
to determine the exchange rate when it is not. The 
standard also clarifies in which cases a currency is 
not exchangeable as well as the information to be 
disclosed in this context.

Under the amendments, a currency is considered 
to be exchangeable into another currency when an 
entity is able to obtain the other currency within a 
time frame that allows for a normal administrative 
delay And through a market or exchange mecha-
nism in which an exchange transaction would cre-
ate enforceable rights and obligations.

If the conditions are not met, the currency is not 
exchangeable and the spot exchange rate on the 
reporting date is estimated. For this, an entity can 
use an observable exchange rate without adjust-
ment or another estimation technique.

If a currency is not exchangeable, the report-
ing entity is required to disclose information that 
enables users of its financial statements to under-
stand how the currency not being exchangeable 
into the other currency affects, or is expected to 
affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial 
position and cash flows.

Assuming prompt endorsement by the EU, the 
amendments to IAS 21 are effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2025; earlier application is permitted.



1. RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the con-
sideration received or rendered, less returns and 
discounts and volume rebates granted. The follow-
ing details apply to the recognition of revenue:

Revenue from the Sale of Products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized 
when control of distinct goods is transferred to 
the customer. This means that the customer can 
direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the 
remaining benefits from, the goods. A contract 
between Softing and the customer provides the 
basis for this. The parties must have agreed to the 
contract and the arrangements stipulated therein, 
the individual obligations of the parties and the 
payment terms must be identifiable, the contract 
must have commercial substance, and it must be 
likely that Softing will receive consideration for 
the service provided. The revenue generally cor-
responds to the transaction price. Softing bases 
its determination of the transfer of control on the 
Incoterms agreed. A receivable is reported on ship-
ment of the goods because at this time the right to 
consideration is unconditional, meaning that from 
this date payment automatically becomes due in 
time. If the contract contains more than one dis-
tinct performance obligation, the transaction price 
is divided up between the individual performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative standalone 
selling prices. If no standalone selling prices can be 
observed, Softing estimates these. The individual 
identifiable performance obligations are realized 
on a specific date. Payments normally fall due no 
later than 30 days after the goods have been sent 
to the customer.

Revenue from Services
Revenue from services mainly comprises customer-
specific software developments. If, based on their 
specifications, the customer developments do not 
have an alternative use and there is an enforce-
able right to payment from the customer at least 
in the amount of a refund of the costs arising 
from the performance completed to date, includ-
ing a reasonable profit margin, revenue is recog-
nized over time. The percentage of completion is 
calculated using the cost-to-cost method because 
the costs incurred represent the best indicator for 
the performance obligation that has already been 
satisfied. The performance that has been com-
pleted at the end of the reporting period is rec-
ognized as a proportion of the total performance 
to be completed. Where contracts include hard-
ware installation, the revenue for the hardware 
is recognized at the date on which the hardware 
was delivered, ownership was transferred, and the 
customer accepted the hardware. Estimates con-
cerning the revenue, cost or order progress are 
adjusted as soon as circumstances change. Any 
resulting increases or decreases in the estimated 
revenue or costs are recognized in profit or loss for 
the period in which management becomes aware 
of the circumstances leading to the adjustment. 
In the case of fixed-price contracts, the customer 
pays an amount set in a payment schedule. If the 
services Softing performs exceed the amount paid 
at that particular time, a contract asset is recog-
nized. If the payments received are higher than the 
value of the services performed, a contract liabil-
ity is disclosed.

B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of Softing AG and its 
domestic and international subsidiaries have been 
prepared using uniform accounting policies. The 

accounting policies were applied consistently for 
all periods presented in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Revenue from the performance of other services 
is recognized in the reporting period in which the 
services are performed. Where the contact stipu-
lates a fixed hourly rate, revenue is recognized in 
the amount which Softing is entitled to invoice. 
Services are normally invoiced on a monthly or 
quarterly basis and payment is due within 30 days 
of receipt of invoice.

Interest Income
Interest is recognized using the effective interest 
method. Interest income from bank balances and 
other financial assets is recognized as income only 
if the Company is likely to partake of the economic 
benefit and if the amount of income can be reli-
ably determined.

2. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2023 include Softing AG and the following 

subsidiaries, over which Softing AG directly or indi-
rectly exercises control:
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The share of the profits of Softing Electronic Sci-
ence & Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai/
China formerly Shanghai Softing software Co., Ltd. 
attributable to minority interests amounted to 
EUR 115 thousand in the financial year ended 
(previous year: EUR 158 thousand) and that at 
Buxbaum Automation GmbH, Eisenstadt/Austria 
amounted to EUR 2 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 60 thousand).

Softing Electronic Science & Technology (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd. is included in the group of consolidated 
affiliated companies because Softing is responsible 
for the company’s economic and financial manage-
ment. Softing holds two of the three seats on its 
Board of Directors and Softing Electronic Science 
& Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is dependent 
on the marketing of software products developed 
by subsidiaries of Softing. A dividend of EUR 534 
thousand was paid by Softing Electronic Science & 
Technology (Shanghai) Co., of which EUR 267 thou-
sand was attributable to the minority shareholder. 
No dividend was paid by Buxbaum Automation 
GmbH, Eisenstadt/Austria.

As of December 31, 2023, there were no changes 
in the basis of consolidation of Softing AG com-
pared to December 31, 2022.

The Group also held an 6.0% equity interest in Yoma 
Solutions GmbH in Norderstedt. The fair value 
remained unchanged compared to the previous 
year at EUR 435 thousand (previous year: EUR 435 
thousand). Equity according to the German Com-
mercial Code in 2023 amounted to EUR –1,573 
thousand (previous year: EUR –361 thousand) and 
the loss for the year was EUR 1,212 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 1,319 thousand). 

The following subsidiaries avail themselves of 
exemption pursuant to Section 264 (3) German 
Commercial Code:

• Softing Industrial Automation GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Services GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Engineering & Solutions GmbH 

(Kirchentellinsfurt)
• Softing IT Networks GmbH (Haar) 

3. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are all companies that the Group con-
trols in terms of financial and operating policies. 
The consolidation of an entity is contingent on the 
possibility of control. According to IFRS 10, a con-
trol relationship requires power over an investee, 
returns, and the ability to affect those returns 
through this power. Power is defined as a situation 
in which the parent has the ability to direct the rel-
evant activities of the investee which significantly 
affect the investee’s returns. Power can be dem-
onstrated by way of voting rights or other contrac-
tual rights. A combination of both is also possible. 
Power is exerted if an entity holds more than 50% 
of the voting rights in an investee, and no other 
contradictory agreements or circumstances exist. 

In assessing control, potential voting rights, eco-
nomic dependence, the interest held compared 
with that of the other shareholders, and voting 
patterns at shareholder meetings must be taken 
into consideration.

Subsidiaries acquired are accounted for using the 
purchase method. The consideration for the acqui-
sition is equal to the fair value of the transferred 
assets, the equity instruments issued by the Group 
and the liabilities assumed from the previous own-
ers of the acquired subsidiary as of the acquisition 
date. In addition, the consideration paid includes 
the fair value of any recognized assets or liabili-
ties arising from agreed contingent consideration. 
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Acquired assets identifiable in the course of a busi-
ness combination along with liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities assumed are recognized when they 
are acquired at their fair value at the time of acqui-
sition. For each acquisition of an entity, the Group 
decides on a case-by-case basis whether the non-
controlling interests in the entities acquired are 
recognized at fair value or in the amount of their 
proportional share of the net assets of the acquired 
entity. Historically, the full goodwill method has 
not been applied. 

Any contingent consideration to be paid by the 
Group is recognized at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. Future adjustments to the fair value of 
contingent consideration classified as an asset or 
a liability are measured in accordance with IFRS 9 
and recognized in profit or loss. Contingent con-
sideration that is classified as equity is not remea-
sured and, when settled later, is accounted for in 
equity.

Transactions involving non-controlling interests 
without a loss of control are reported as trans-
actions with the owners of the Group acting in 
their capacity as owners. Any difference between 
the fair value of the consideration paid and the 
acquired interest in the carrying amount of the net 
assets of the subsidiary arising from the acquisition 
of a non-controlling interest is recognized in equity. 
Gains and losses arising from the sale to non-con-
trolling interests are also recognized in equity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date on which control begins and until 
the date on which control ends.

Intragroup sales, expenses and income, receiv-
ables and payables as well as the results of intra-
group transactions (intercompany profits) are 
eliminated during consolidation.

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprise goodwill resulting from 
acquisition accounting as well as other intangible 
assets and capitalized development costs. With 

the exception of goodwill resulting from acquisi-
tion accounting, all intangible assets have a finite 
useful life.

5. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Development costs for developing new products 
and for materially refining a product or process 
are capitalized if the product or process is techni-
cally and financially feasible; if there is an intention 
to complete it; if the development is marketable; 
if the costs can be reliably determined; and if the 
Group possesses sufficient resources to complete 
the development project. All other development 
costs are immediately recognized as expenses in 
the income statement. Capitalized development 

costs for completed projects are reported at cost 
net of accumulated amortization and impairment. 
In this context, production costs include labor 
costs and other directly allocable costs that are 
necessary to create the development project. The 
Softing Group amortizes the development costs 
for new product lines and product versions over 
their respective useful life of between three and 
five years using the straight-line method; amor-
tization in the year the product lines or versions 



6. GOODWILL

Goodwill arises in conjunction with the acquisi-
tion of subsidiaries and equals the total of the con-
sideration paid, the amount of all non-controlling 
interests in the acquired entity, and the fair value 
of previously held equity interests in the acquired 
entity, less the fair value of the net assets acquired. 
If the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds 
the total of the consideration paid, the amount of 
all non-controlling interests, and the fair value of 
the previously held equity interests, the difference 
is recognized directly in profit or loss.

According to IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized but 
subjected to an annual impairment test pursuant 
to IAS 36 if there is an indication of impairment. 
For the purpose of this impairment test, goodwill is 
allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU).

At Softing, the cash-generating units correspond 
to the individual entities unless an entity’s busi-
ness activity covers more than one segment. In this 
case, goodwill is allocated based on segments. The 
relevant cash-generating units for goodwill are:

• Softing Engineering & Solutions GmbH, 
Kirchentellinsfurt, Germany together with 
Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH.

• Softing Industrial Automation GmbH, 
Haar/Germany

• OLDI Online Development Inc., Knoxville/USA
• Softing IT Networks GmbH, Haar/Germany & 

Softing Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore 
• GlobalmatiX AG Vaduz/Liechtenstein & 

GlobalmatiX Inc. Knoxville/USA

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
goodwill is allocated is higher than the recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If 
the carrying amount of the CGU is higher than its 
recoverable amount, the difference is directly rec-
ognized as an impairment charge in profit or loss. 
As the fair value less costs to sell cannot be deter-
mined with reasonable effort, the value in use is 
recognized.

The value in use of the cash-generating unit was 
determined as follows: Based on the bottom-
up planning for the next four financial years as 
approved by the management of Softing AG, the 
future cash flows (before interest and taxes) of the 
cash-generating unit were determined. The plan-
ning is based on historical data and the best pos-
sible estimates of management regarding future 
developments. (In order to carry out the impair-
ment test, the management estimated the cash 
generated beyond the planning period, assum-
ing that growth of 1.0% (previous year: 1.0%) is 
recorded in future years.) The value in use of the 
underlying cash-generating unit was determined 
by applying the discounted cash flow method. 
The discount rate used is a pre-tax interest rate 
based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capi-
tal (WACC) concept. These comprise the cost of 
equity and borrowing weighted at fair value. The 
costs of capital are determined using Capital Asset 
Pricing Model (CAPM) and comprise the risk-free 
interest rate and a risk premium calculated as the 

are completed is recognized on a pro-rata basis. 
Amortization is shown in the consolidated income 
statement under the item “Depreciation of prop-
erty, plant and equipment and amortization of 

intangible assets”. In accordance with IAS 38, 
research costs cannot be capitalized and are imme-
diately recognized as an expense in the consoli-
dated income statement.
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difference of the average market return and the 
risk-free interest rate multiplied by the company-
specific risk (beta factor). The beta factor for this 
is derived from a group of comparable companies. 
The borrowing costs are composed of a base inter-
est rate and a specific credit spread derived from 

capital market data. When determining the value 
in use, discount rates before taxes are taken as a 
basis for each cash-generating unit. 

An impairment loss recognized on goodwill is not 
reversed in future periods.

7.  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for consideration are 
carried at amortized cost. They are amortized in 
accordance with their respective useful life using 
the straight-line method. Software and technology 
is amortized over a period of three to seven years 
in accordance with its respective useful life using 

the straight-line method. Rights and business rela-
tions are amortized over a period of five to twenty 
years. Amortization is shown in the consolidated 
income statement under the item “Depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment and amortization of 
intangible assets”.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost, 
less accumulated depreciation, usage-based accu-
mulated depreciation and usage-based accumu-
lated impairment losses. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
using the straight-line method in accordance with 
its useful life. Hardware is depreciated over three 
years; furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 
five to seven years, and new equipment installed is 
depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. 
Amortization is shown in the consolidated income 
statement under the item “Depreciation of prop-
erty, plant and equipment and amortization of 
intangible assets”. If fixed assets are disposed, cost 

and accumulated depreciation are derecognized; 
income/loss from the disposal of fixed assets is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement 
under other operating income/expenses.

Costs related to repairs and maintenance work 
are recognized as expenses at the time they are 
incurred. Significant renovations and improve-
ments are only allocated to the carrying amount 
of the original asset or capitalized as a separate 
asset if it is probable that economic benefits will 
flow to the Group in connection with that asset in 
the future, and these benefits can be estimated 
reliably.



9. IMPAIRMENT

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of intan-
gible assets and property, plant and equipment at 
each reporting date for indications of impairment. 
In this case, the recoverable amount of the rele-
vant asset is determined for the purpose of deter-
mining the scope of the potential impairment loss. 
The recoverable amount corresponds to the fair 
value less costs to sell or the value in use, which-
ever is higher. The value in use corresponds to the 
present value of the estimated cash flows. An inter-
est rate before taxes that corresponds to market 
rates is used as the discount rate. If no recoverable 
amount can be determined for an individual asset, 
the recoverable amount for the smallest identifi-
able class of assets (cash-generating unit – CGU), 
to which the respective asset can be allocated, is 
determined. Goodwill resulting from acquisitions 

are allocated to the CGUs that are to reap the ben-
efits from the synergies arising from the acquisi-
tion. Such cash-generating units represent the 
lowest reporting level in the Group at which man-
agement monitors the goodwill for internal con-
trol purposes. The recoverable amount of a CGU 
that contains goodwill is tested for impairment at 
least once a year. This is also done for development 
projects that are currently under development. An 
impairment loss is recognized for an asset imme-
diately if its recoverable amount is lower than its 
carrying amount. If the recoverable amount of 
the asset or the CGU is determined to be higher 
after an impairment loss has been recognized, 
the impairment loss recognized on goodwill is not 
reversed.

10. LEASES

Softing exclusively acts as a lessee in rental and 
lease agreements. Since January 1, 2019, it has 
recognized leases in accordance with the guidance 
of IFRS 16. 

Only the accounting policies with relevance for the 
Group from the perspective of the Softing Group as 
a lessee are described below. In line with the inter-
nal reporting, intercompany leases will also con-
tinue to be presented in accordance with IAS 17, 
as operating leases were in the past, and are elimi-
nated for consolidated reporting purposes.

For all new contracts effective on or after Janu-
ary 1, 2019, Softing examines whether a contract 
is or contains a lease. However, for this the Group 
does not apply the guidance of IFRS 16 to right-of-
use intangible assets.

A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a con-
tract, that conveys the right to use an asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. In 
application of this definition, the Group assesses 
whether the contract meets the following three 
preconditions:

• The contract refers to an identified asset which 
is either expressly indicated in the contract or is 
implicitly specified and can thus be considered 
to have been identified.

• The Group has the right to obtain substantially 
all of the economic benefits from the use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use, 
while taking into consideration its rights within 
the defined scope of the contract.

• The Group has the right to determine the use 
of the identified asset throughout the period of 
use.
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In the case of multiple-element arrangements, 
each separate lease component is accounted for 
separately, excluding real estate lease agreements 
for individual sites. Depending on the terms of the 
contract in question, the surrender of use and ben-
efit of office and storage space as well as parking 
spaces for each site is accounted for as a single 
lease component. Non-lease components such as 
servicing and maintenance are recognized directly 
as an expense in the period in which the expenses 
are incurred. 

Determination of the relevant lease term includes 
the contractual term, extension options and termi-
nation options. In the Softing Group, the assess-
ment as to whether it is reasonably certain that a 
termination option, an extension option, or a pur-
chase option will be exercised is generally made by 
the management of the individual company and is 
comprehensively determined following an evalua-
tion of all economic advantages and disadvantages 
and reviewed periodically.

As of the date of provision of the leased asset, the 
Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability in the balance sheet. The cost of the right-
of-use asset comprises the amount of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability less any initial 
direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of 
costs to be incurred in dismantling and removing 
the underlying asset when the lease ends, and any 
lease payments made before the commencement 
date, less any lease incentives received. In subse-
quent periods, the right-of-use asset will be mea-
sured at depreciated cost.

The lease liability is measured according to the 
present value of the lease payments made during 
the term of the lease, on the basis of the under-
lying interest rate for the lease or, if this is not 

available, the incremental borrowing rate of inter-
est. Within the scope of the subsequent measure-
ment, interest will accrue to the carrying amount 
of the lease liability on the basis of the interest rate 
used for discounting, while the lease payments 
made will be deducted from this carrying amount.

Based on Softing’s current portfolio of contracts, 
the lease payments included in the measurement 
of the lease liability solely comprise fixed payments 
(including de facto fixed payments) and variable 
payments coupled to an index or (interest) rate.

In principle, changes to leases and remeasure-
ments of lease liabilities are recognized in other 
comprehensive income against the right-of-use 
asset. They are recognized in the consolidated 
income statement if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has already been reduced to zero 
or this is the result of a partial termination of the 
lease.

As a rule, the Group depreciates on a straight-
line basis the right-of-use assets from the start 
of the lease up to the end of the period of use of 
the leased asset or the end of the contract term, 
whichever is earlier. In addition, the Group tests for 
impairment in case of relevant indicators.

For short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets, the corresponding payments are mea-
sured on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease and presented as an expense in the income 
statement.

In the statement of financial position, right-of-use 
assets are presented under property, plant and 
equipment, while lease liabilities are presented 
under other current and non-current financial 
liabilities.



11. INVENTORIES

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. As a rule, production supplies 
and goods for resale/finished merchandise are rec-
ognized at the weighted average.

Production costs comprise material and produc-
tion costs overheads directly attributable to the 
production process as well as reasonable amounts 
of the production-related overheads. Production 
costs do not include selling costs and general 

administration costs. If the net realizable value at 
the balance sheet date is below cost, for instance 
because of long periods of storage, damage or 
reduced marketability, inventories are written 
down to the lower value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price of the item in the course 
of ordinary business less estimated costs incurred 
until completion and less estimated necessary sell-
ing costs.

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS – IFRS 9 

Financial assets comprise in particular:

• Equity instruments in other companies held 
by the Group

• Trade receivables
• Other financial assets
• Cash and cash equivalents 

Financial assets with a term of more than twelve 
months are presented under non-current financial 
assets.

Financial assets are classified based on the under-
lying business model and the cash flow char-
acteristics, which stipulate that the contractual 
cash flows of a financial asset may solely com-
prise repayments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding. The cash flow 

characteristics are always tested at the level of 
the individual financial instrument. The business 
model is assessed based on the question of how 
financial assets can be managed to generate cash 
flows. Management can be based on a hold or sell 
model or a combination of the two. 

The Group divides financial assets into one of the 
following categories:

• Financial assets at amortized cost 
(debt instruments)

• Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss

• Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (equity instruments)
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Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
(Debt Instruments)
The most important category of financial assets for 
the Group is the category of assets measured at 
amortized cost relating to debt instruments. They 
are recognized at amortized cost if the following 
two criteria are met:

• The business model for managing these financial 
instruments involves holding them to collect the 
underlying contractual cash flows, and the con-
tractual cash flows generated consist solely of 
principal and interest. 

• These financial assets are subsequently mea-
sured using the effective interest method sub-
ject to the impairment rules in IFRS 9.5.5 ff. In 
the Group it is mainly trade receivables, other 
financial assets and bank deposits that belong to 
this category.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other 
Comprehensive Income (Debt Instruments)
Debt instruments are recognized at fair value 
through other comprehensive income including 
recycling if the following two criteria are met:

• The business model for managing these finan-
cial instruments involves holding them to collect 
the underlying contractual cash flows, and sell-
ing them, and

• The contractual cash flows generated consist 
solely of principal and interest.

For this category of financial assets, interest, for-
eign currency measurement effects, and expenses 
and income are recognized through profit or 
loss in the income statement in connection with 

impairment losses. Any changes are recognized in 
other comprehensive income in accordance with 
IFRS 9 and reclassified to profit or loss when the 
assets are sold (recycling).

The Group currently does not have any financial 
assets that fall in the scope of this measurement 
category.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss
This category comprises financial assets held for 
trading, financial instruments measured using 
the fair value option, financial assets mandato-
rily at fair value and equity instruments not mea-
sured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. An asset is classified as held for trading if it 
is acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing it in the near term. Derivatives that 
are not part of a hedge are always held for trading. 
Financial assets that do not satisfy the cash flow 
characteristics are always measured at fair value 
through profit or loss irrespective of the underlying 
business model. The same measurement applies 
to financial instruments that are held within a busi-
ness model whose objective is to collect contrac-
tual cash flows (“sell” model).

The fair value option for financial assets is not used 
in the Group.

Any changes in the fair value of these instruments 
are recognized in profit or loss.

Within the Group, only the equity investment in 
YOMA Solutions GmbH, Norderstedt is currently 
subject to this measurement.



Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other 
Comprehensive Income (Equity Instruments)
When recognizing an equity instrument for the 
first time, the Group has the irrevocable option 
to measure this at fair value through other com-
prehensive income. This is subject to the condi-
tion that the instrument is an equity instrument in 
accordance with IAS 32 that is not held for trad-
ing purposes and does not constitute contingent 
consideration within the meaning of IFRS 3. The 
option is exercised separately for each individual 
equity instrument.

On the disposal of such financial assets, any gains 
or losses are not recycled through profit or loss. 
Dividends from such instruments are recognized in 
profit or loss. Equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income are 
not subject to the provisions on impairment.

The Group currently does not have any financial 
assets that fall in the scope of this measurement 
category.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or part of a financial asset or part 
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecog-
nized (i. e. removed from the consolidated state-
ment of financial position) mainly if one of the fol-
lowing conditions is met:

• The contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
of the financial asset have expired.

• The Group has transferred its contractual rights 
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset 
to third parties or assumed a contractual obliga-
tion to an immediate payment of the cash flow 

to a third party under a pass-through arrange-
ment, thereby

(a) transferring substantially all risks and rewards 
of the ownership of the financial asset or

(b) neither transferring nor retaining substan-
tially all risks and rewards of the ownership 
of the financial asset, but transferring the 
control of the asset.

The Group participates in a customer’s reverse 
factoring program and sells receivables to a bank 
under this program. When the Group transfers its 
contractual rights to receive cash flows from an 
asset or enters into a pass-through arrangement, it 
assesses whether and to what extent it retains the 
risks and rewards of ownership. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substan-
tially all risks and rewards of the ownership of this 
asset, nor transfers the control of the asset, it con-
tinues to recognize the transferred asset to the 
extent of its continuing involvement. In this case, 
the Group also recognizes the liability associated 
with it. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the 
rights and obligations retained by the entity. If 
the continuing involvement guarantees the trans-
ferred asset, the extent of the continuing involve-
ment corresponds to the lower of the asset’s ini-
tial carrying amount and the maximum amount of 
the consideration received which the Group might 
have to pay back.

Under factoring, the rewards and risks are trans-
ferred to the contractual partner and the receiv-
ables are derecognized at the time of sale.
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Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets, except financial assets measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, contract assets 
in accordance with IFRS 15, lease receivables, loan 
commitments and financial guarantees are subject 
to the impairment model within the meaning of 
IFRS 9.5.5. According to this approach, the Group 
must recognize a loss allowance on these assets 
based on the expected credit loss. The expected 
credit loss is the difference between the contrac-
tually agreed cash flows and the expected cash 
flows, measured at present value and applying the 
original effective interest rate. Expected cash flows 
also include proceeds from short hedges and other 
loan collateral that is an integral part of the rele-
vant contract.

As a rule, expected credit losses are recognized in 
three stages. For financial assets which have not 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance in the 
amount of the expected 12-month credit loss is 
recognized (Level 1). Where a significant increase 
in credit risk has occurred, the expected credit loss 
for the remaining lifetime of the asset is deter-
mined (Level 2). The Group generally assumes that 
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred if 
payments are 30 days past due. This principle can 
be refuted if reliable and justifiable information 
indicates in individual cases that credit risk has not 
increased. If there is objective indication of impair-
ment, the underlying assets must be assigned 
to Level 3. Objective evidence of impairment is 

assumed if the assets are more than 90 days past 
due unless there is reliable, justifiable informa-
tion in the specific case that longer arrears are 
acceptable. Moreover, a refusal to make payment 
and similar are considered objective evidence of 
impairment.

The class of assets that is relevant for the Group 
for application of the simplified impairment 
model comprises trade receivables and contract 
assets. For these, the Group applies the simplified 
approach in accordance with IFRS 9.5.15. In this 
approach, the loss allowance always equals the 
credit loss expected over the lifetime of the asset. 

For other assets subject to the amended impair-
ment model in IFRS 9 and to which the general 
approach is applied, the expected credit loss is 
measured by grouping financial assets on the basis 
of common credit risk characteristics, and consid-
ering individual default information. In any case, 
the calculation is based on current probabilities of 
default on the respective reporting date.

Softing generally assumes that a default has 
occurred when contractual payments are more 
than 360 days past due. In addition, in individual 
cases, other internal and external information may 
be considered that indicates that contractual pay-
ments cannot be paid in full. Financial assets are 
derecognized when there is no reasonable expec-
tation that future payments will be made.



13.  CONTRACT ASSETS AND 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 

Contract assets arise from the application of rev-
enue recognition over time. At Softing this is par-
ticularly the case when the products, based on 
their specifications, do not have an alternative use 
and there is an enforceable right to payment from 
the customer at least in the amount of a refund 
of the costs arising from the performance com-
pleted to date, including a reasonable profit mar-
gin (software development for customers). In such 
cases, Softing recognizes revenue on the basis of 
the input-oriented cost-to-cost method. Here, the 
revenue is recognized in accordance with the stage 
of completion. The stage of completion is the pro-
portion that contract costs incurred for work per-
formed to date bear to the total contract costs.

Since revenue is required to be recognized before 
the date on which Softing has received the full con-
sideration, a contract asset is recognized.

Contract liabilities mainly result from advances 
received from customers where these are in con-
nection with a customer order and the prod-
ucts have not yet been delivered or performance 
completed.

Contract assets and contract liabilities are netted 
at the level of the individual contract. The con-
tract balances at Softing generally have a current 
remaining term.

The provisions of IFRS 9 on impairment are applied 
to contract assets.

14. CURRENT ASSETS

Current assets are initially measured at fair value 
and then are recognized at depreciated or amor-
tized cost.
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15. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred taxes.

Taxes are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement unless they relate to an item that was 
recognized directly in equity or in other compre-
hensive income. In this case, the taxes are also 
recognized in equity or in other comprehensive 
income.

The current tax expense is measured based on the 
tax regulations of the countries in which Softing 
and its subsidiaries do business and generate tax-
able income that are applicable on the reporting 
date (or applicable in the near future). Manage-
ment regularly reviews tax returns, particularly 
with regard to circumstances open to interpreta-
tion and, where appropriate, recognizes provisions 
in the amounts the Company is expected to have to 
pay to the tax authorities. Income taxes are deter-
mined using the balance sheet liability method. 

As a rule, deferred tax assets and deferred tax lia-
bilities are recognized for all temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liabil-
ity and its fair value determined for tax purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax loss 
carryforwards and tax credits.

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards must 
be recognized to the extent that the future use 
of these tax loss carryforwards is probable. All 

deferred tax assets on tax losses were therefore 
recognized taking their realizability into account.

Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the 
tax rates which, based on the current legal situa-
tion, apply at the time of realization or which are 
expected to apply in the individual countries. The 
effect of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes is 
recognized in profit or loss, or in equity, at the time 
the legal changes become effective.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized in the 
amount in which it is probable that taxable income 
will be available against which temporary differ-
ences can be applied.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets, which arise 
through temporary differences in the context of 
investments in subsidiaries are recognized, unless 
the Group can determine when the temporary dif-
ferences reverse and it is probable that the tempo-
rary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future as a result of this effect.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or dif-
ferent taxable entities where there is an intention 
to settle the balances on a net basis.



16. PENSION PROVISIONS

Provisions for defined benefit pension plans are 
measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method. This method takes 
into account not only the pensions and bene-
fits accrued but also expected future pension 
increases based on a prudent assessment of rel-
evant factors. Calculation is based on actuar-
ial expert opinions taking into consideration bio-
metrical assumptions and a discount rate derived 
from the yield of high-quality corporate bonds with 

matching maturities. The amount of the provision 
for defined benefit plans recognized in the state-
ment of financial position corresponds to the pres-
ent value of the defined benefit obligation on the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan 
assets. The present value is calculated by discount-
ing the expected future cash flows at an interest 
rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds. 
Actuarial remeasurements are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

17. PROVISIONS 

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only if 
the current obligation (factually or legally) arises 
from a past event, if utilization is probable, and 
if the amount of the obligation can be estimated 

reliably. The amount recognized comprises the 
present value of the expected expenditure, includ-
ing interest cost, if any, on non-current provisions, 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

18.  CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities frequently constitute an obli-
gation to return in cash and cash equivalents or 
another financial asset. Financial liabilities are only 
recognized if Softing is a party to the agreement 
governing the financial liabilities. Financial liabili-
ties are removed from the statement of financial 
position when they have been extinguished, i. e. 
when the obligations specified in the contract are 
discharged or canceled or expire.

Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are 
measured at fair value after deduction of trans-
action costs. They are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost. Any difference between the dis-
bursement amount (after deduction of transaction 
costs) and the repayment amount is amortized 
over the term of the loan using the effective inter-
est method and recognized in the consolidated 
income statement. All financial liabilities held for 
trading fall into the category of financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss. These include 
derivatives that are not part of a hedge and finan-
cial instruments for which the fair value option was 
exercised. Softing does not have any such financial 
instruments at present.
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The Group has not made use of the fair value 
option for debt instruments in accordance with 
IFRS 9.

Financial liabilities comprise the statement of 
financial position items “Short-term and long-term 
borrowings”, “Trade payables” and “Other current 
financial liabilities”.

19.  SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM 
BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings include current liabilities 
to banks that are due within one year. Long-term 
borrowings include liabilities to banks that are due 
after more than one year. Short-term and long-
term borrowings are initially recognized at fair value.

Borrowings are classified as short-term if Softing 
does not have the unconditional right to postpone 
extinguishment of the liability to a point in time at 
least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

20.  CURRENT NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Non-financial liabilities are carried at the repay-
ment amount.

21.  EXERCISE OF JUDGMENT AND 
ESTIMATE UNCERTAINTIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the IASB requires forward-looking assumptions 
to be made and estimates to be used that have 
an effect on the carrying amounts of recognized 
assets and liabilities, income, expenses, and con-
tingent liabilities. The forward-looking assump-
tions and estimates essentially relate to the uni-
form determination of useful lives throughout the 
Group, the determination of the term of leases, 
the determination of the incremental borrowing 
rate for leases, the recognition and measurement 
of provisions (in particular pension provisions), 
and the realizability of future tax benefits as well 

as the material exercise of judgment with regard 
to the expected time of occurrence, the amount of 
the future taxable income, and future tax planning 
strategies (tax forecasts). As a rule, the forward-
looking assumptions and estimates are based on 
experience and knowledge gained from the past; 
they also take into account macroeconomic fac-
tors which might be used as a reliable basis. Fore-
casts are intrinsically uncertain and difficult espe-
cially because they are forward-looking. In indi-
vidual cases, the actual values may deviate from 
the assumptions and estimates. The assumptions 
and estimates are reviewed regularly. Changes are 
recognized in profit or loss as of the time better 



Recognizing revenue over time using the cost-to-
cost input method entails recognizing revenue 
based on the stage of completion. This method 
requires careful assessment of the stage of comple-
tion. Factors such as contract revenue, total con-
tract costs, costs yet to be incurred until comple-
tion and contract risks are material to the estimate. 

There is discretion in assessing the criteria relevant 
to the capitalization of development costs and the 
amount of the hourly rates for personnel used in 
the capitalization. The following assessments, in 
particular, are subject to our discretion: whether 
the given asset possesses technical and commer-
cial utility for sale or own use; whether we plan on 
and are capable of completing the intangible asset 
and either using or selling it; and whether the asset 
will generate a future economic benefit.

knowledge is obtained, or in the period in which 
better knowledge is obtained, as well as in future 
periods if the changes comprise several periods.

The most important forward-looking assumptions 
and other material sources of estimate uncertain-
ties as of the closing date that could result in a con-
siderable risk of having to make significant adjust-
ments to the recognized assets and liabilities in the 
next financial year concern the measurement of 
pension provisions, and the possible impairment 
of goodwill. The weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) and the tax rates are the material param-
eters for carrying out the annual impairment test 
of goodwill.

22. CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign currencies are translated using the func-
tional currency method as defined in IAS 21. With 
the exception of Softing IT Networks in Singa-
pore, where the functional currency is the USD, 
the functional currency of all foreign subsidiaries 
is the respective local currency because the mate-
rial foreign companies that are included in the con-
solidated financial statements operate their busi-
nesses independently in financial, economic and 
organizational terms primarily in their respective 
economic environment. The exchange rate risk 
within the Softing Group is essentially restricted to 
USD, RON and CHF.

At each reporting date, monetary items denom-
inated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
closing rate. Non-monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 
are translated using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items measured at cost are trans-
lated using the exchange rate at the date of initial 
recognition.

For Group companies which do not report in EUR, 
the assets and liabilities are translated into euros 
at the exchange rate applicable at the balance 
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sheet date, and expenses and income are trans-
lated at the annual average exchange rate for the 
purpose of preparing consolidated financial state-
ments. Equity is translated at historical rates. Cur-
rency translation differences arising from currency 
translation of foreign operations are recognized in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
retained earnings. They are shown separately as 
a currency reserve in the statement of changes in 
equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising during 
an acquisition of a foreign entity are recognized as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and trans-
lated at the rate of exchange on the closing date. 
All resulting currency translation differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Currency translation differences arising on mon-
etary items receivable from / payable to a foreign 

operation that are neither planned nor likely to be 
settled and therefore form part of the net invest-
ment in that foreign operation are initially rec-
ognized in other comprehensive income and are 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal 
or repayment of loans.

On disposal of a foreign operation or repayment of 
a long-term loan, all accumulated currency transla-
tion differences attributable to the Group from the 
operation are reclassified to profit or loss. In this 
context, the following transactions are considered 
to be disposals of a foreign operation:

The sale of the Group’s entire equity interest or the 
partial sale resulting in loss of control, or partial or 
full repayments of loans that were originally con-
sidered non-repayable.

The euro exchange rates applicable for currency 
translation changed as follows:

Currency gains or losses resulting from foreign 
currency transactions (transaction in a currency 
other than a company’s functional currency) are 
reported as other operating income or other oper-
ating expenses in the individual financial state-
ments of the Group companies. Currency differ-
ences arising from financing are reported under 
finance income/finance costs.

S   E R R   E R C F  E R

Closing rate ( e  )

erage e ange rate



Change in the CGUs: Softing Engineering & Solu-
tions GmbH and Softing Automotive Electronics 
GmbH are both active in the Automotive sector 
and share some customers, even more so now that 
Softing Engineering & Solutions GmbH is expand-
ing its business portfolio further and its activities 
are more closely aligned with those of Softing 
Automotive Electronics. The Group also believes 
that this will generate sales synergies, which is why 
it considers the two companies in the Automotive 
segment to be a single cash-generating unit. Even 
a stand-alone approach would not lead to impair-
ment of goodwill.

Due to the change in the EUR/USD exchange rate, 
the goodwill of OLDI Online Development Inc. 
decreased by EUR 270 thousand in 2023.

The 2024 detailed planning period was defined 
on the basis of short-term revenue and margin 
expectations. 

In the medium term between 2025 and 2027, 
Softing expects the trend towards new technol-
ogies to accelerate and investments in product 
development to pay off. The market for electronic 
components has also behaved cyclically in the past. 
Delivery capability improved in almost product 
areas in 2023, which is also the basis for planning.

Management continues to carefully monitor the 
ongoing market environment and planning param-
eters to ensure that any necessary adjustments to 
the estimates can be made.

Dec. 31, 2023
EUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2022
EUR (in thsds.)

So ing Engineering  Solutions   So ing uto oti e Ele troni s 

So ing Industrial uto ation 

So ing IT et or s 

I nline e elop ent In

lo al ati  

Goodwill 10,950 17,398

2. GOODWILL

C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

1.  CHANGES IN THE BASIS 
OF CONSOLIDATION

As of December 31, 2023, there were no changes 
in the basis of consolidation of Softing AG com-
pared to December 31, 2022. 
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The entities’ goodwill was tested for impairment 
pursuant to IAS 36. The recoverable amount of the 
CGUs was determined based on a calculation of 
the entities’ value in use. The following parameters 
were used for the items of goodwill:

For Europe:
• Discount rates (WACC) before taxes:

10.6% – 13.1% (previous year: 11.5% – 12.5%)
• Risk-free interest rate: 2.31% 

(previous year: 2.0%)
• Market risk premium: 7.00% 

(previous year: 7.00%)
• Beta factor relevered (weighted average of a 

group of comparable companies): 
1.24 (previous year: 1.20)

For the USA:
• Discount rates (WACC) before taxes: 13.2% 

(previous year: 12.5%)
• Risk-free interest rate: 4.14% 

(previous year: 3.67%)
• Market risk premium: 6.00% 

(previous year: 6.00%)
• Beta factor relevered (weighted average of a 

group of comparable companies): 1.24 
(previous year: 1.21)

Management has planned the cash flows for a 
period of 4 years (previous year: 4 years), after 
which a growth rate of 1.0% (previous year: 1.0%) 
was assumed for extrapolating the cash flow 
forecasts.

The material planning premises include, in par-
ticular, the expected development of the market 
in relation to the performance of the CGUs, the 
change in both sales and profits and the weighted 
average cost of capital. General market forecasts 
and current developments as well as historical 
experience are used to establish the assumptions. 
In particular, the long-term growth rates reflect cir-
cumstances specific to the business.

Besides sales, the margin is the material driver 
of value in the determination of the recoverable 
amount. The discount rate also has a significant 
impact on the measurement gain or loss.

The Group recognized impairment losses on good-
will of EUR 6,177 thousand in 2023 (previous year: 
EUR 120 thousand), broken down into EUR 5,061 
thousand for Softing IT Networks GmbH and 
EUR 1,117 thousand for GlobalmatiX AG.

The impairment is attributable to the fact that 
goodwill was recognized at the time of the respec-
tive company acquisition on the basis of the 
expected income from the businesses known or 
anticipated at the acquisition date. Current plan-
ning showed that the present value of expected 
future cash flows is estimated to be lower than at 
the acquisition date given the continuous interest 
rate hikes and a changing business model due to 
the phase-out of the legacy products in the Psi-
ber GmbH CGUs. At GlobalmatiX AG, the afore-
mentioned impairment losses were attributable to 
the continuous interest rate hikes and the longer-
term market penetration with a changed portfolio 
of services.

Sensiti ity nalysis
An increase in the interest rate by 100 basis points 
would lead to further impairment of goodwill in 
the GlobalmatiX AG cash-generating unit. Likewise, 
a 5% decrease in the forecast EBIT would lead to a 
need for further impairment of goodwill. 

The sensitivity analysis does not show a need for 
impairment of the goodwill for the other cash-gen-
erating units.

Climate-related matters: The Group continuously 
monitors legislation related to climate change and 
in financial year 2022 prepared its first sustainabil-
ity report. At present, no laws have been adopted 
that impact negatively on the Group.



E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Capitali ed de elop ent osts

E penses not quali ying or apitali ation

18,817 15,884

3. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The change in capitalized development costs is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (appendix to the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Expenses for research and development (without 
capitalized development costs) in the financial year 
just ended totaled EUR 13,127 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 11,936 thousand).

In financial year 2023, the discontinuation of a 
development project at year-end 2023 resulted in 
need for correction in the amount of EUR 2,000 
thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand). 

The following overview shows the total expendi-
tures for research and development:

4. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The development of other intangible assets is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment (appendix to the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements). With the 
exception of goodwill, no impairment losses were 
recognized in addition to amortization.

5. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

At the end of December 2019, Softing acquired 
a stake in a start-up company by way of a capital 
increase; this company is allocated to the Automo-
tive segment. The equity interest acquired was less 
than 10%. An obligation to transfer an additional 
EUR 1,495 thousand to the capital reserves of the 
investee was written into the investment agree-
ment; this payment was made in early 2020. For 
subsequent measurement of the equity invest-
ment the Group decided to recognize the effects 

of changes in the fair value in profit or loss. There 
was no change in the fair value of the investment’s 
carrying amount in 2023. The fair value remained 
at EUR 435 thousand (previous year: EUR 435 
thousand).

Significant quantitative inputs for measurement 
include the growth rate, the assumptions regard-
ing revenue and cost trends, and the discount rate.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The change in property, plant and equipment is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment, which is attached to the 
consolidated financial statements. No impairment 
losses were recognized in addition to amortiza-
tion. The Group has entered into leases for several 
properties, mostly for office space and, to a lesser 
extent, storage facilities. Other leases have been 
entered into for vehicles. Rental agreements were 
concluded with terms of between one and five 
years and include extension options in some cases.

The rights of use to motor vehicles cover the leased 
fleet. As of December 31, 2023, approximately 
49 leases for vehicles with remaining terms of 
between one and three years had been concluded.

Please refer to section C16 for information on the 
corresponding lease liabilities.

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

Ra  aterials and onsu a les

Finis ed goods

Inventories 23,679 18,984

7. INVENTORIES

Loss allowances recognized in 2023 total EUR 406 
thousand (previous year: EUR 278 thousand). 
As in the previous year, no reversals of impair-
ment losses were recognized in profit or loss. The 

purchased inventories are subject to reservation of 
title until the purchase price receivable has been 
settled.

8.  TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are 
due in less than one year. All trade receivables are 
receivables from contracts with customers. Receiv-
ables management is being monitored more 
closely than before the coronavirus crisis, and no 
deterioration in customer payment behavior has 
been observed so far. This is also due to the fact 
that most of Softing’s customers are large interna-
tional corporations with sufficient funds.

Softing recognizes loss allowances for general 
credit losses using the expected loss model in 
accordance with IFRS 9.5.5. These are initially rec-
ognized through allowance accounts unless it can 
be assumed at the time the reason for the loss 
allowance arises that the receivable will be unre-
coverable in full or in part. In such cases, the car-
rying amount of the receivables is written down 
directly through profit or loss.



Carrying 
a ount

 i  
i paired re ei

a les (stage )

 i  
neit er past due 

nor i paired

 i  not i paired and past due 
it in t e ollo ing ti e ands

ess t an 
days

 to 
days

 to 
days

ore t an 
 days

Dec. 31, 2023
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )

Trade re ei a les (gross)

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Trade re ei a les (net) 12,270 0 8.925 2.349 970 26 0

Changes in expected credit losses on trade receiv-
ables are shown in the following table:

s o  an   
E R (in t sds )

se
E R (in t sds )

Re ersal
E R (in t sds )

ddition
E R (in t sds )

s o  e   
E R (in t sds )

Carrying 
a ount

 i  
i paired re ei

a les (stage )

 i  
neit er past due 

nor i paired

 i  not i paired and past due 
it in t e ollo ing ti e ands

ess t an 
days

 to 
days

 to 
days

ore t an 
 days

Dec. 31, 2022
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )
E R 

(in t sds )

Trade re ei a les (gross)

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Trade re ei a les (net) 16.756 0 15.448 1.244 63 1 0

Changes in expected credit losses on trade receiv-
ables are shown in the following table:

s o  an   
E R (in t sds )

se
E R (in t sds )

Re ersal
E R (in t sds )

ddition
E R (in t sds )

s o  e   
E R (in t sds )
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9.  CURRENT OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

Creditors it  de it alan es

t er finan ial assets

341 318

10.  CONTRACT ASSETS AND 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Carrying a ount
 i  neit er past 

due nor i paired

Dec. 31, 2023 E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Contra t assets (gross)

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Contra t lia ilities 

Net amount –5,055 –5,055

Carrying a ount
 i  neit er past 

due nor i paired

Dec. 31, 2022 E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Contra t assets (gross)

Ris  pro ision (stage )

Contra t lia ilities 

Net amount –4,474 –4,474

Revenue of EUR 4,395 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 2,766 thousand) from contracts with custom-
ers included in contract liabilities at the beginning 
of the period was recognized in the current period. 
A transaction price totaling EUR 8,564 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 7,272 thousand) is allocated 
to the performance obligations that were partly 
or entirely unsatisfied at the end of the report-
ing period. Softing will recognize EUR 7,794 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 6,295 thousand) of the 

transaction price in the next reporting period and 
EUR 770 thousand (previous year: EUR 977 thou-
sand) in subsequent periods. The transaction 
prices stated are prices for software maintenance 
agreements and customer-specific engineering 
work. For performance obligations with a maxi-
mum term of one year or where invoicing is based 
on fixed hourly rates, the transaction price is not 
stated in accordance with IFRS 15.



11.  CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS

The current income tax assets mainly concern cor-
poration tax/federal tax (USA) receivables amount-
ing to EUR 391 thousand (previous year: EUR 324 

thousand) and Softing Italy with EUR 192 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 0 thousand). The Group’s taxes 
are described in detail in section D 9.

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

Cas  and as  equi alents 4,859 6,802

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
bank balances and are measured at their nomi-
nal value as of the balance sheet date. Bank bal-
ances comprise time deposits and current account 
funds. The time deposits can be liquidated within 

three months. Cash and cash equivalents are not 
impacted significantly by foreign currencies. A 
review of the banks’ ratings has not revealed any 
additional risks to cash. The maximum counterparty 
credit risk corresponds to the carrying amounts.

12.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

Re ei a les ro  e ployees

T re ei a les

repaid e penses prepay ents

Resear  grant re ei a les

eleistete n a lungen

d an es paid

t er non finan ial assets

3,845 2,367

13.  CURRENT NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
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14. EQUITY

Subscribed Capital
As of the balance sheet date, the fully paid-in share 
capital of the Company was EUR 9,105,381 (pre-
vious year: EUR 9,105,381 thousand). It is divided 
into 9,105,381 (previous year: 9,105,381) no-par-
value bearer shares with a notional value of EUR 1 
each. An average of 9,015,381 shares were out-
standing in the reporting year (previous year: 
9,015,381). Softing AG holds 90,000 of its own 
shares in treasury share (previous year: 90,000 
shares)

Shareholders’ voting rights are not restricted by 
law or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. 
The voting rights are not limited to a specific num-
ber of shares or votes.

For more information, please see the disclosures 
under Section 315 (4) German Commercial Code 
in the management report.

Authorized Capital
The Executive Board is authorized to increase the 
Company’s share capital with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board once or several times by up 
to EUR 4,552,690.00 by issuing up to 4,552,690 
new no-par bearer shares against contributions in 
cash and/or in kind (authorized capital 2022) until 
May 5, 2027. The Executive Board is also autho-
rized to disapply shareholders’ statutory pre-emp-
tive right with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, as necessary for offsetting factional shares; 
if the shares are issued against in-kind contribu-
tions for the purpose of acquiring companies or 
equity interests in companies or business units or 
for the purpose of acquiring receivables from the 
given entity; if a capital increase against cash con-
tributions does not exceed 10% of the share cap-
ital and the issue price of the new shares is not 
substantially lower than the share price pursuant 
to Section 186 (3) sentence 4 German Stock Cor-
poration Act. Disapplying shareholders’ pre-emp-
tive right under other authorizations pursuant to 

Section 186 (3) sentence 4 German Stock Corpora-
tion Act shall be considered in connection with any 
exercise of this authorization under the aforemen-
tioned statute.

The Executive Board is authorized to fix all other 
details of the capital increase and its implementa-
tion. The Supervisory Board is authorized to amend 
the Articles of Incorporation such that they reflect 
the extent of each capital increase from authorized 
capital.

The authorized capital as of December 31, 2023, 
was EUR 4,552,690 (previous year: EUR 4,552,690).

Profits for the year eligible for distribution were 
determined based on the net retained profits of 
Softing AG pursuant to the German Commercial 
Code.

Contingent Capital
The Executive Board is authorized to contin-
gently increase the Company’s share capital with 
the approval of the Supervisory Board by up to 
EUR 4,552,690.00 by issuing up to 4,552,690 new 
no-par bearer shares (Contingent Capital 2022). 
The contingent capital increase will serve the grant-
ing of option rights or obligations to the holders of 
warrants arising from bonds with warrants under 
the terms of the respective options or the granting 
of conversion rights or obligations to the holders of 
convertible bonds under the terms of the respec-
tive convertible bonds issued by the Company up 
to May 6, 2027 in accordance with the resolution 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 7, 
2022. The new shares will be issued at the respec-
tive option or conversion price to be determined 
in accordance with the above-mentioned authori-
zation resolution. The contingent capital increase 
will be implemented only in the event that bonds 
with warrants or convertible bonds are issued and 
only to the extent that the holders of the bonds 
with warrants or the convertible bonds make use 



of their option or conversion right or the holders 
of bonds obligated to convert or to exercise the 
option fulfill this obligation and the contingent 
capital is needed in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the bond with warrants or the con-
vertible bond. The new shares issued on the basis 
of the exercise of the option or conversion right or 
the fulfillment of the conversion or option obliga-
tion have a share in the profit from the beginning 
of the financial year in which they arise. The Exec-
utive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to stipulate the further details 
of the implementation of the contingent capital 
increase. Said authority was not exercised to date.

Capital Reserves
The capital reserves contain the premium on the 
issue of shares less transaction costs.

Treasury Shares
On April 3, 2020, Softing AG announced in an ad 
hoc disclosure that it would launch a share buy-
back program starting on April 15, 2020. This pro-
gram was fully completed on December 28, 2020 
and thus ended. A bank was instructed to buy back 
a maximum of 90,000 Company shares, with the 
buyback being limited to either that number of 
shares or to a total purchase price of EUR 500,000. 
The acquired shares are to be used primarily as 
acquisition currency. The Executive Board is thus 
exercising the authorization granted by the Annual 
General Meeting dated May 4, 2016 to repur-
chase treasury shares in accordance with Section 
71 (1) no. 8 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz – AktG). 

The bank was instructed to buy back the shares 
exclusively via the stock market, independently 
of the company and without being influenced by 
the company. This is without prejudice to the com-
pany’s right to terminate its relationship with this 
securities firm at any time and to instruct another 
securities firm or an investment bank. The offered 

purchase price per share (excluding incidental 
acquisition costs) was not permitted to be more 
than 10% above or below the average closing price 
at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange during the last ten 
stock market days prior to the date of publication 
of this offer.

The buyback was managed by a bank, in accor-
dance with the Market Abuse Regulation and 
Art. 2 to 4 of the Commission Delegated Regula-
tion (EU) 2016/1052 of 8 March 2016 supplement-
ing Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council with regard to regu-
latory technical standards for the conditions appli-
cable to buy-back programs and stabilization mea-
sures. The bank may thus on any given date not 
acquire more than 25% of the average daily vol-
ume of the shares on the trading venue on which 
the purchase is carried out. The average daily vol-
ume of shares was calculated on the basis of the 
average daily volume of trading on the 20 stock 
market days prior to the date of purchase. 

The transactions were announced in a form com-
plying with the requirements of Article 5 (3) of 
Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 in 
conjunction with Art. 2 (2) and (3) of Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2016/1052, by no later than the 
end of the seventh day following their execution, 
and were published, inter alia, on the Company’s 
website at investor.softing.com/de/aktie/aktien
rueckkauf.html.

The General Shareholders’ Meeting authorized the 
Executive Board on May 6, 2020 to purchase trea-
sury shares of the Company and to accept treasury 
shares of the Company in pledge in the period up 
to May 5, 2025. The treasury shares purchased in 
2020 were purchased on the basis of the authori-
zation granted by the General Shareholders’ Meet-
ing on May 4, 2016.
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u er o  
s ares

Transa tion 
dates

roportionate 
s are apital

Interest in s are 
apital Cost

E R (in t sds ) % E R (in t sds )

Balan e on e   

Balance on Dec. 31, 2023 90,000 90 0.99 482

No treasury share transactions took place in 2023.

As of the reporting date, Softing AG held 90,000 
shares in treasury (previous year: 90,000). Softing 
reports its treasury shares in its balance sheet by 
means of the cost method. The cost of these trea-
sury shares is thus presented within the scope of a 
separate item within equity as a deductible item.

The changes in consolidated equity including the 
changes from acquisitions are presented in the 
“Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” 
2023/2022.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings include the accumulated, undis-
tributed profits of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements. A dividend of 

EUR 0.10 per eligible share (previous year: 
EUR 0.10) was paid out in the 2023 financial year 
for 2022. The Executive Board proposes a dividend 
of EUR 0.13 per share for financial year 2023. This 
corresponds to a total dividend of 1,172 thousand.

Retained earnings also include the differences 
from the currency translation and the associated 
deferred taxes of transactions made by foreign 
subsidiaries, and the remeasurements from pen-
sion obligations and their deferred tax effects not 
recognized through profit or loss.

Non-controlling Interests
The non-controlling interests in the amount of 
EUR 689 thousand (previous year: EUR 839 thou-
sand) concern other shareholders in Austria and 
China.

15. PENSIONS

This item concerns the partially reinsured and 
defined benefit pension commitments granted to 
the three former members and one current mem-
ber of the Executive Board, which provide for life-
long retirement and widow’s benefits, as well as 
orphans’ benefits in the event one or both par-
ents are lost. There is a variable commitment in 
addition to a fixed commitment. The amount of 
benefits is determined individually. The liabilities 
in connection with the pension plans are deter-
mined annually by independent experts in accor-
dance with the projected unit credit method. The 
fair value of the reinsurance cover of EUR 3,663 

thousand (previous year: EUR 3,544 thousand) 
was offset against pension provisions. Actuarial 
remeasurements were recognized immediately in 
retained earnings in accordance with IAS 19.120. 
The cumulative gains and losses reported in this 
item were EUR –517 thousand as of December 31, 
2023 (previous year: EUR –674 thousand).

The pensions under variable commitments 
increase or decrease in line with the change in the 
Consumer Price Index for Germany (2020 = 100). It 
rose from 116.3 points to 121.4 points on average 
between 2023 and 2024.



The actuarial assumptions on which the calculation 
is based are summarized in the following table:

Basis o  al ulation
e   

%
e   

%

ssu ed interest rate

Salary trend

E pe ted rate o  pension in rease

nti ipated e ployee turno er rate

e elop ent o  t e o ligation
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

B  as o  anuary 

Ser i e ost

Interest e pense

ension pay ents to pensioners

Expected DBO as of December 31 4,752 6,090

Re easure ents  o  i

E e ts ro  ad usting t e assu ed interest rate

E e ts ro  anges in trend assu ptions

E e ts ro  e perien e ad ust ents

Actual DBO as of December 31 4,554 4,666

The average remaining life of the obligation is 
12.14 years (previous year: 13.15 years).

Cal ulation o  annual in o e and annual e pense
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Interest in o e

Interest e pense

Ser i e ost 

Annual expense –155 –197

e elop ent o  plan assets
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

lan assets as o  anuary 

ay ent ro  plan assets 

ay ents into t e e ployer s plan assets

Interest earned ro  plan assets 

d ust ent o  plan assets

Plan assets as of December 31 3,663 3,544
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Only reinsurance policies not quoted on an active 
market are taken out to hedge portions of the obli-
gations arising from pensions. Each of these pol-
icies relates directly to the underlying pension 
commitment. The expected contributions to plan 

assets amount to EUR 107 thousand in 2024 (pre-
vious year: EUR 107 thousand). Payments into plan 
assets of EUR 107 thousand are also expected in 
the years up to 2026.

Re on iliation it  t e state ent o  finan ial position
e   

E R (in t sds )
e   

E R (in t sds )

resent alue o  t e defined enefit o ligations ( B )

Fair alue o  t e e ternal plan assets 

Provision 891 1,121

e elop ent o  t e pro ision
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

ro ision as o  anuary 

Ser i e ost

et interest e pense

Re easure ents

ension pay ents

Benefit pay ent ro  plan assets

ay ents into plan assets

Provisions as of December 31 891 1,121

The sensitivity of the overall pension obligation to 
changes in the weighted main assumptions is:

E e t on t e o ligation

C ange 
ssu ption 

C ange 
ssu ption

Relati e e e t o  interest rate ange on B  B  
 pp  pp

Relati e e e t o  interest rate ange on B  B  
 pp  pp

E e t on t e o ligation

C ange 
ssu ption 

C ange 
ssu ption

Relati e e e t o  a ange in t e pension trend on B  
 pp  pp

Relati e e e t o  a ange in t e pension trend on B  
 pp  pp



No sensitivity analysis based on life expectancy 
was presented because participants in question 
include only three former beneficiaries and one 
active beneficiary.

The sensitivities were determined by changing 
one parameter while leaving all other parameters 
unchanged.

Pension payments of EUR 200 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 180 thousand) are expected for 
the 2024 financial year. Contributions to the plan 
are expected to be EUR 107 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 107 thousand), and interest income is 
expected to be EUR 141 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 114 thousand).

16.  LONG-TERM BORROWINGS AND OTHER 
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

In 2019, the long-term borrowings were renegoti-
ated with the principal banks, the long-term exist-
ing debt was extinguished and new loans totaling 
EUR 14,000 thousand were taken out; these loans 
were defined as redemption-free for two years 
and will subsequently be repaid on a straight-line 
basis / quarterly within five years. Softing AG also 
received a loan of EUR 2,500 thousand in 2022. 
This loan has a term of three years and is due for 
repayment in one lump sum at the end of the term. 
In the course of obtaining these loans, Softing AG 
agreed to comply with financial covenants entail-
ing an obligation to maintain certain financial 
ratios. The financial covenants require Softing to 
maintain a specified equity ratio and not exceed a 
maximum debt-to-equity ratio for the Group. Dur-
ing the financial year, Softing AG had no problem 
fulfilling the covenant regarding equity ratio and 
debt-to-equity ratio. The non-current portion of 
these loans amounted to EUR 6,356 thousand as 
of December 31, 2023 (previous year: EUR 9,150 
thousand).

There are also long-term loans of EUR 2,500 thou-
sand that mature in 2025 and loans taken out by 
a subsidiary from a bank in the amount of EUR 6 
thousand (previous year: EUR 108 thousand).

Some elements of the Executive Board remunera-
tion were not paid out in recent years due to the 
COVID-19 crisis, Russia’s war of aggression and the 
related procurement crisis for electronic compo-
nents, with payment of those elements deferred. 

An amount of EUR 4,493 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 4,451 thousand) is therefore included in other 
non-current liabilities. The increased cash flow 
attributable to this waiver was used to support 
contract manufacturers and assist with the related 
stockpiling. 

As of the balance sheet date, the lease liabilities 
had a carrying amount of EUR 5,546 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 5,019 thousand), divided into 
non-current lease liabilities of EUR 4,260 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 3,737 thousand) and current 
lease liabilities of EUR 1,286 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 1,282 thousand).

In financial year 2023, other financial lease liabili-
ties were repaid in the amount of EUR 1,350 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 1,227 thousand) and an 
interest portion of EUR 139 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 128 thousand) on leases was paid. Total 
cash outflow for leases including variable lease 
payments and payments in connection with cur-
rent leases, as well as leases of low-value assets, 
came to EUR 1,499 thousand in financial year 2023 
(previous year: EUR 1,374 thousand). As of the 
balance sheet date, EUR 5,904 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 5,313 thousand) was recognized for 
future cash outflows.

Possible future cash outflows of EUR 67 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 911 thousand) were not 
included in the lease liability because it is not rea-
sonably certain that the lease will be extended 
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(or not terminated). As of December 31, 2023, 
there were future cash outflows of EUR 3,915 
thousand (previous year: EUR 387 thousand) for 
leases that the Softing Group had entered into as 
the lessee as of the balance sheet date but which 
have not yet commenced. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Group was bound by 
current leases for which the corresponding exemp-
tion option was utilized. The total obligation as of 
this date approximates the expense incurred in the 
financial year.

The right-of-use-assets under leases are recog-
nized under property, plant and equipment with 
carrying amounts of EUR 5,271 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 4,763 thousand).

Lease liabilities resulting in particular from prop-
erty leases and vehicle leases are repaid in monthly 
installments through the end of the lease term.

In the financial year, expenses for current leases for 
which the Group made use of the practical expedi-
ents amounted to EUR 12 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 19 thousand) and expenses for leases of low-
value assets stood at EUR 1 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 0 thousand). 

The outlay for variable lease payments not 
included in the measurement of the lease liabili-
ties was EUR 0 thousand in the financial year (pre-
vious year: EUR 0 thousand).

17.  TRADE PAYABLES

The trade payables of EUR 6,750 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 9,267 thousand) exclusively concern 
current payables toward non-Group third-parties 

for supplied goods and services. All trade payables 
are due and payable within one year.

18. PROVISIONS

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only 
if utilization is probable and the amount of the 

obligation can be estimated reliably. The amount 
recognized is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

s o  
E R (in t sds )

se
E R (in t sds )

Re ersal
E R (in t sds )

ddition
E R (in t sds )

s o  e   
E R (in t sds )

arranties

t er

Total 52 22 0 49 79

This exclusively comprises current provisions that 
are estimated to become due within one year.



19. INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

In the financial year just ended, liabilities of EUR 279 
thousand (previous year: EUR 334 thousand) were 

20. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings amount to EUR 8,476 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 5,477 thousand), which 

21. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

ages and salaries paya le 

ease lia ilities (   year)

t er

5,181 4,157

22. CURRENT NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

ia ilities related to so ial se urity

t er ta  lia ilities pri arily (sales and age ta )

t er

728 1,125

recognized for expected tax payments. The Group’s 
taxes are described in detail in section D9.

in the financial year relates to the utilization of 
overdraft lines of credit.
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D. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

1. REVENUE

Re enue y regions
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

er any

S

t er ountries

112,595 98,311

Re enue y produ ts and ser i es
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

rodu ts

Ser i es

112,595 98,311

In 2023, one customer in the Industrial Automa-
tion segment who was responsible for revenue of 
EUR 33,478 thousand (previous year: EUR 17,790 
thousand) and 30% (previous year: 18%) of con-
solidated revenue exceeded the revenue threshold 
of 10%.

For detailed information on operating segments, 
we refer to the segment reporting (see chapter E1).

Re enue re ogni ed at a point in ti e o er ti e
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

oint in ti e

 i  produ ts

 i  ser i es

er ti e

 i  produ ts

 i  ser i es

112,595 98,311

2. OTHER OWN WORK CAPITALIZED

Other own work capitalized concerns costs for /
investments in the development of new prod-
ucts. Most of these costs are personnel costs of 

the development departments and the associated 
costs.



3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

T e ot er operating in o e o prises t e ollo ing ite s
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

In o e ro  e ange di eren es

In o e ro  insuran e enefits

Re enue ro  t e redu tion o  loss allo an es

Re arged osts

Resear  grants

In o e ro  o issions

t er in o e

1,713 3,692

4. COST OF MATERIALS

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

ur ase o  o ponents and produ ts

T ird party ser i es

51,857 48,311

5. STAFF COSTS 

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Current salaries

So ial se urity and retire ent enefit osts

rofit s aring  royalties

se o  o pany ars y e ployees

t er te porary or ers

40,107 35,986

The statutory pension scheme in Germany is 
treated as a defined contribution scheme. 

Expenses recognized for the statutory pension 
scheme total EUR 1,607 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,432 thousand). The service cost for pension 
provisions amounts to EUR 122 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 168 thousand).
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6. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 
are listed in detail in the statement of changes in 
non-current assets (appendix to the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements). Impairment 
losses of EUR 6,178 thousand were recognized 

on goodwill in financial year 2023 (previous 
year: EUR 120 thousand). Impairment losses of 
EUR 2,000 thousand were recognized on internally 
generated intangible assets.

7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

T e ot er operating e penses are as ollo s
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

E ployee related osts

In rastru ture osts

istri ution osts

Consulting osts

T ird party ser i es

Capital ar et osts

Contri utions and ees

perating osts

E ange di eren es

t er produ t de elop ent e penses

t er osts

14,115 11,925

8. INTEREST INCOME/INTEREST EXPENSE 
AND OTHER FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

The financial result comprises interest expense, 
interest income and other finance income/costs.

T e total interest e pense rea s do n as ollo s
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

t er interest e pense

Interest ro  un inding o  dis ounts on pro isions

Interest on loans

t er interest

Total ot er interest e pense

Interest ro  IFRS  lease a ounting

644 409



The other finance income/finance costs of 
EUR –964 thousand in the previous year related 
to currency fluctuations of a USD loan to the 

American holding company. In the financial year, 
other finance income/finance costs came to EUR 0 
thousand.

9. INCOME TAXES

T e in o e ta  e pense rea s do n as ollo s
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

e erred ta es on te porary di eren es

e erred ta es on ta  loss arry or ards

Total de erred ta  e pense in o e

Current ta  e pense in o e finan ial year

Current ta  e pense in o e pre ious year

Total urrent ta  e pense in o e

–2,464 –616

E e ti e ta  rate

% %

rpers a steuer eins lie li  Solidarit ts us lag 

e er esteuersat  

28.08 28.08

Since the impairment of goodwill in the amount 
of EUR 6,177 thousand in financial year 2023 does 
not effect tax, the effective tax rate is 75.85%. 

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary dif-
ferences between the amounts recognized for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

recognized for tax purposes, and for any differ-
ences arising from uniform measurement and con-
solidation within the Group. Deferred taxes are 
determined based on the applicable country-spe-
cific tax rates. The underlying domestic tax rate, 
which has not changed compared to the previous 
year, is determined as follows:

Interest in o e o prises t e ollo ing ite s  
E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Interest in o e ro  pension pro isions

t er interest

120 49
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The deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards in 
Germany and abroad were recognized because in 
the Group’s opinion the loss carryforwards are not 
impaired in the amount recognized due to positive 

tax forecasts and a positive market outlook as of 
the balance sheet date.

The tax loss carryforwards of the individual com-
panies are as follows:

Of the total tax loss carryforwards in the amount of 
EUR 22,407 thousand (previous year: EUR 17,058 
thousand), EUR 6,753 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 8,333 thousand) was recognized on deferred 
tax assets. No deferred tax assets were recognized 
for tax loss carryforwards of EUR 15,672 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 8,725 thousand).

The current income tax expense is derived as fol-
lows from the expected tax expense. As in the pre-
vious year, the calculation for the Group is based 
on the tax rate applicable for Softing AG, as this 
company is responsible for the main part of the 
Group’s business.

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Earnings e ore ta es

E pe ted ta  in o e e pense ( )

Ta  additions and dedu tions

I pair ent o  good ill

i erent ta  rates 

t er de erred ta es  te porary di eren es  loss arry or ards not re ogni ed

Ta es  pre ious years

Current tax expense shown in the income statement 2.464 616

e   
E R (in t sds )

e   
E R (in t sds )

sa le until

So ing  (trade ta ) nli ited

So ing  ( orporation ta ) nli ited

So ing Singapore nli ited

So ing ort  eri a olding (State) nli ited

lo al ati  nli ited



Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
allocable to the following items:

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

ssets ia ilities ssets ia ilities

Intangi le assets

ension pro ision

(  i  re ogni ed dire tly in equity) ( ) ( )

Contra t assets trade paya les and trade re ei a les

t er pro isions 55

Current assets

Future ta  enefits ro  loss arry or ards

e ng

Gross amount/carrying amount 606 5,314 753 4,537
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E. OTHER DISCLOSURES

1.  OPERATING SEGMENTS BY PRODUCT 
AND COMPANY

For the purpose of corporate management, the 
Group has business units based on the products 
and services offered. These business units are pri-
marily reflected in individual Group entities. The 
Group has the following three reportable operat-
ing segments:

Industrial Automation Segment
This segment comprises the entities Softing Indus-
trial Automation GmbH, Online Development 
Inc., Softing Inc., Softing Italia, Buxbaum Automa-
tion GmbH, and Holding Softing North America 
Inc., as these entities mainly develop, manufac-
ture and sell the following industrial products and 
applications:

Products and services for integrating communica-
tion functions in automation systems and devices, 
specifically for standards such as PROFIBUS, PROFI-
NET, EthernetIP, EtherCAT, Powerlink, Modbus, 
CAN, CANopen, DeviceNet, FOUNDATION Fieldbus 
and (wireless) HART;

Interface cards, integration modules, chip solu-
tions and communications software (stacks) for 
implementing bus links in systems and devices 
used in process and production automation;

Gateways for linking fieldbuses to Ethernet-based 
communication systems and groupwide planning 
and administration systems;

Tools for configuring networks, as well as tool-
kits for integrating configuration functions into 
the engineering systems of automation system 
manufacturers;

Tools and devices for signal and protocol analysis of 
industrial communication networks; and

OPC servers, OPC middleware and development 
tools for OPC Clients and Servers (Toolkits);

Development and import of motors and geared 
motors for various applications, as well as offering 
specialized expertise in AC, DC, brushless, induc-
tion and shielded pole technologies.

Automotive Segment 
The segment comprises the entities Softing Auto-
motive Electronics GmbH, Softing Engineering & 
Solutions GmbH, Globalmatix AG as well as Global-
matix Inc. and GlobalmatiX GmbH, which manu-
facture and sell the following automotive products 
and applications:

e i le dapters and ata Bus Inter a es
Interfaces for CAN, K-Line, LIN, Ethernet and 
FlexRay data bus systems in different form factors 
with a variety of PC connections such as USB, 
WLAN, Bluetooth, PCI, PCIexpress, PC/104 and 
PCMCIA. Programming interfaces compliant with 
ISO and other standards as well as customized 
adaptations. Special solutions for development/
testing, production and service.

iagnosti  Tools
Diagnostic solutions for development/testing, pro-
duction and service. Editors for diagnostic data. 
Diagnostic servers for the real-time processing of 
diagnostic data based on ISO and customer stan-
dards. Customized and proprietary analytic tools 
for diagnostic data. ODX and OTX solutions play an 
important role in this context.



Test uto ation
Software interfaces for connecting diagnostic 
servers to production systems. Editing and run-
time systems for test sequences with connections 
to numerous third-party products. Customized test 
stations for development, quality assurance and 
production. Solutions for the flash programming 
of control units. Devices for simulating electronic 
control units and rest bus systems.

Custo i ed e elop ent
Customer-specific software and hardware devel-
opments for data communication / diagnosis / test 
systems.

Resident Engineering
On-site customer support in the form of consulta-
tion, project management and project participa-
tion as well as development activities in the fields 
of data communication, diagnosis, trade fairs and 
test systems.

easure ent Te nology
Softing measurement technology (SMT) represents 
a unique system whose development was driven 
entirely by automotive developments. This results 
in a broad range of applications for test rigs or 
“raw” mobile applications in vehicle testing. Appli-
cation of this comprehensive measurement and 
automation system is not limited to automotive 

technology at all; indeed, it is well suited for appli-
cations in any industrial environment.

Re ote iagnosti s Tele ati s Ser i es
The use of GlobalmatiX telematics solutions cre-
ates the prerequisites for the complete digitaliza-
tion of a connected car concept (connecting the 
vehicle with the possibilities of cloud technolo-
gies). This will simplify complex return processes 
for rental cars, car sharing models and vehicle sub-
scription provider in a customer-friendly way and 
make them more cost-effective.

IT Networks Segment
The IT Networks segment comprises the subsidiar-
ies Softing IT Networks GmbH, Softing Singapore 
and Softing France.

The product portfolio includes diagnostic devices 
for Ethernet networks in the automation industry 
and for the diagnosis of copper and optical fiber 
networks in data centers and office installations.

Other Segment 
The Other segment comprises the entities Softing 
Services GmbH, Softing Romania, Softing China 
and Softing AG insofar as these do not provide ser-
vices for other segments and costs are charged to 
them.

2. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segmentation is primarily along the main prod-
uct groups and use cases, with these being mainly 
reflected in the Group companies that manu-
facture and distribute the respective main prod-
ucts. The activities of the Group are segmented 
in accordance with IFRS 8 using the management 

approach. Segmentation is based on the Group’s 
internal reporting and organizational structure, 
taking into account the different risks and income 
structures of each individual division. The corpo-
rate divisions are shown in the following table in 
accordance with IFRS 8.

CO NSO L IDATED NO TES



Industrial uto oti e IT et or s t er Total seg ents t er 
onsolidation Total

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

Re enues it  
t ird parties

Re enues it  
ot er seg ents

Total re enue

epre iation
a orti ation

I pair ent o  assets

perating 
seg ent result

EBIT

Seg ent assets

o  i  IFRS

Seg ent lia ilities

o  i  IFRS

Capital e penditure

The column entitled “Other” comprises the busi-
ness activities of Softing AG’s centralized units and 
the costs not allocable to the segments. The major-
ity of Softing AG’s costs are allocated to the operat-
ing segments based on their origin. 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and the 
resulting operating EBIT of EUR 5,645 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 3,273 thousand) are the key 
parameters for evaluating and managing a seg-
ment’s earnings. Operating EBIT corresponds to 
EBIT shown in the consolidated income state-
ment adjusted for capitalized development costs 

of EUR 5,690 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,948 
thousand) and amortization of internally gener-
ated and third-party product developments of 
EUR 6,205 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,649 
thousand), and depreciation and amortization 
from purchase price allocation of 7,845 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 1,810 thousand). With 
the exception of the write-downs, other income 
and expense items are not regularly reviewed at 
the segment level by the responsible corporate 
department, given their secondary importance to 
the Group, and thus are not presented by segment.

Re enue ro  
ontra ts it  usto ers 

re ogni ed o er ti e
Industrial uto oti e IT et or s t er Total

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

oint in ti e

er ti e

Total



eograp i al seg ents Re enue Fi ed assets dditions to fi ed assets

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

E R (in 
t sds )

er any

S

t er ountries

Total 112,595 98,311 55,965 63,738 8,741 9,959

The regional allocation of revenue is based on cus-
tomer address.

Segment information is based on the same 
accounting principles as the consolidated finan-
cial statements. The segments are assessed on the 
basis of operating results, with financing and tax 

effects not taken into account. For a reconciliation 
from earnings before taxes, please refer to the con-
solidated income statement.

With regard to information on key customers, 
please refer to the notes under D.1.

3. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows represents the consol-
idated cash flows of the consolidated companies; it 
was determined indirectly. 

The cash and cash equivalents shown in the state-
ment of cash flows comprise cash on hand and 
bank balances.

Liabilities from financing activities at Softing 
include the short-term and long-term borrowings 

presented separately in the statement of finan-
cial position and, since 2019, current and non-
current lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16. 
The latter are presented in the statement of finan-
cial position under other current and non-current 
financial liabilities. 

For the reconciliation of the change in liabilities 
from financing activities, Softing does not divide 
the corresponding amounts by maturity. The rec-
onciliation was as follows:

CO NSO L IDATED NO TES



C anges in lia ilities arising ro  finan ing a ti ities E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

Borrowings Leases

Liabilities from financing activities as of January 1, 2022 12,966 1,900

Cas  o s

quisitions o  leases

E ange rate anges

C anges in air alue

Liabilities from financing activities as of December 31, 2022 14,735 5,019

Cas  o s

quisitions o  leases

E ange rate anges

C anges in air alue

Liabilities from financing activities as of December 31, 2023 14,832 5,546

Borrowings consist of short-term borrowings of 
EUR 8,476 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,477 
thousand) and long-term borrowings of EUR 6,356 
thousand (previous year: EUR 9,258 thousand).

Leases consist of non-current leases of EUR 1,286 
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,282 thousand) and 
long-term borrowings of EUR 4,260 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 3,737 thousand).

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE IAS 33

Consolidated profit a ri uta le to s are olders
o  So ing  (diluted  asi  onsolidated profit) E R (in t sds )

on ontrolling interests E R (in t sds )

Consolidated profit EUR (in thsds.) –5,712 –1,179

eig ted a erage nu er o  s ares

Basi u er

iluted u er

Basi  earnings per s are E R

iluted earnings per s are E R

As in the previous year, no options rights exist as of 
December 31, 2023, which could influence diluted 
earnings per share in the future.



5.  RELATED PARTIES

Besides the companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements, the members of the 
Executive Board and of the Supervisory Board are 
considered related parties of the Softing Group as 
defined in IAS 24, both in their function as mem-
bers of corporate boards and, in some cases, as 
shareholders.

In addition, Trier Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & 
Co. KG, which holds an equity interest of 22.43% 
(2,042,302) in the Company, is a related party. 
Since December 7, 2020, the voting rights have 
been attributed to Trier Asset Management GmbH, 
Trier Familienstiftung and Mr. Gerhard Hönig.

Mr. Alois Widmann, Managing Director of Global-
matiX AG, holds 1,450,000 (previous year: 
1,450,000) shares, i. e. 15.92% of Softing’s shares. 

The dividend payment to the major shareholder 
amounted to EUR 902 thousand in the 2023 finan-
cial year (previous year: EUR 349 thousand).

The key management personnel at Softing in 
accordance with IAS 24 consists of the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board, and the execu-
tive management of GlobalmatiX AG, because that 
executive management holds 15.92% of the shares 
in Softing AG and has a material influence on the 
future strategy of the Company. We refer to chap-
ters E12 and E13 for information regarding the 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board and the 
Executive Board.

The Chairman of the Company’s Executive 
Board, Dr. Wolfgang Trier, held 163,234 shares in 
Softing AG as of December 31, 2023 (previous 
year: 163,234).

The Executive Board member Ernst Homolka held 
10,900 shares in Softing AG as of December 31, 
2023 (previous year: 10,900 shares).

The Supervisory Board member, Dr. Klaus Fuchs, 
held 278,820 shares in Softing AG as of Decem-
ber 31, 2023 (previous year: 278,820).

The Supervisory Board member, Andreas Kratzer, 
held 10,155 shares in Softing AG as of Decem-
ber 31, 2023 (previous year: 10,155).

The managing director of GlobalmatiX AG held 
1,450,000 shares in Softing AG as of December 31, 
2023 (previous year: 1,450,000).

Dividends totalling EUR 191 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 191 thousand) were paid to key manage-
ment personnel in the financial year under review, 
in each case based on their equity interest held at 
the time of dividend payment.

The total remuneration of related parties in key 
positions amounts to EUR 2,166 thousand (previ-
ous year EUR 1,887 thousand).

Transa tions it  Related arties ( ersons)
The Supervisory Board member Dr. Fuchs received 
a total fee of EUR 69 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 59 thousand) for providing consulting services 
in connection with the coordination of Softing IT 
Networks.

Ter s o  Transa tions it  Related arties 
( ersons)
Group companies acquired assets from xTCU AG in 
financial year 2023 and 2022 at arm’s length con-
ditions. A person in a key position of the Group is 
a controlling shareholder of xTCU AG. A contract 
exists between the Group and xTCU AG for the 
supply of technical components and development 
services.

In addition, office and accounting services are pro-
cured from a related party.

CO NSO L IDATED NO TES



6. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of the balance sheet date, the subsidiaries have 
provided EUR 14,365 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 14,794 thousand) in guarantees to collateral-
ize loans of Softing AG and overdraft lines of credit 

of Softing AG. Most of the guarantees were pro-
vided in connection with the refinancing carried 
out in 2019.

alue o  transa tions
in E R t ousand

Balan es outstanding 
in E R t ousand

Purchase of services 2023 2022 2023 2022

t er related parties (persons) 

Co pany under t e ontrol o  a related party (person)

Sale of goods and purchase of services

Co pany under t e ontrol o  a related party (person)

7.  OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

As of the balance sheet date, the Company had 
incurred purchase commitments in the amount of 
EUR 18,240 thousand under long-term contracts 
(previous year: EUR 16,702 thousand). As in the 

previous year, there were no purchase commit-
ments for intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment as of the balance sheet date. 

8. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

s o  anuary  

Re ei ed in t e finan ial year

o  i  re ersed t roug  profit or loss

s o  e e er  

The transactions were of the following value:



9.  DISCLOSURE OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS 
OF THE INDIVIDUAL CATEGORIES 
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
ACCORDING TO IFRS 7

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The following table shows both the carrying 
amounts and the fair values of all financial instru-
ments recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements that fall within the scope of IFRS 7. 
Almost all of the fair values correspond to the 

carrying amounts because, with the exception of 
cash, the financial instruments recognized almost 
solely comprise non-derivative current receivables 
and liabilities. As in the previous year, there were 
no financial instruments as of December 31, 2023, 
for which IFRS 7 is not applicable.

The Group, as in the previous year, also received 
grants for a research project in the field of autono-
mous driving amounting to EUR 76 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 177 thousand). Further grants 
under research projects from 2020 and 2021, 
amounting to EUR 769 thousand, were approved 
in 2023 and recognized as receivables in profit 

or loss. Government grants in 2022 were pro-
vided by public authorities by way of contributions 
to current expenses during the COVID-19 pan-
demic (short-time work allowance). An amount of 
EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 8 thousand) 
was deducted directly from personnel expenses.

E R (in t sds )
Categories 

a  to 
IFRS

Carrying 
a ount

easure
ent a  

to IFRS Fair alue
ierar y 

le el

Financial assets by class e   orti ed 
ost

Fair alue 
CI

Fair alue e   

on urrent finan ial assets

t er in est ents F T e el 

Current finan ial assets

Trade re ei a les C e el 

Current ot er finan ial assets C e el 

Cas  and as  equi alents C e el 

Financial liabilities by class

on urrent finan ial lia ilities

ong ter  orro ings F C e el 

t er non urrent finan ial lia ilities

o  i  lia ilities ro  lease a ounting n a n a

o  i  long ter  repay ent o ligation F C

Current finan ial lia ilities

Trade paya les F C e el 

S ort ter  orro ings F C e el 

t er urrent finan ial lia ilities

o  i  lia ilities ro  lease a ounting n a n a

o  i  is ellaneous ot er 
urrent finan ial lia ilities F C e el 
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Carrying amount by category
Category

e   
E R (in t sds )

Finan ial assets at a orti ed ost C

Finan ial assets at air alue t roug  profit or loss F T

Finan ial lia ilities at a orti ed ost F C

E R (in t sds )
Categories 

a  to 
IFRS

Carrying 
a ount

easure
ent a  

to IFRS Fair alue
ierar y 

le el

Financial assets by class e   orti ed 
ost

Fair alue 
CI

Fair 
alue e   

on urrent finan ial assets

t er in est ents F T e el 

Current finan ial assets

Trade re ei a les C e el 

Current ot er finan ial assets C e el 

Cas  and as  equi alents C e el 

e el 

Financial liabilities by class

on urrent finan ial lia ilities

ong ter  orro ings F C e el 

t er non urrent finan ial lia ilities

o  i  lia ilities ro  lease a ounting n a n a

o  i  long ter  repay ent o ligation F C

Current finan ial lia ilities

Trade paya les F C e el 

S ort ter  orro ings F C e el 

t er urrent finan ial lia ilities

o  i  lia ilities ro  lease a ounting n a n a

o  i  is ellaneous ot er 
urrent finan ial lia ilities F C e el 

Carrying amount by category
Category

e   
E R (in t sds )

Finan ial assets at a orti ed ost C

Finan ial assets at air alue t roug  profit or loss F T

Finan ial lia ilities at a orti ed ost F C

No further disclosures on the fair value have to be 
made pursuant to IFRS 7.29a if the carrying amount 
is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 



Financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at fair value are allocated to the following levels of 
the fair value hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs).

• Observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
(Level 2 inputs).

• Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 
(Level 3 inputs).

The fair value of the unquoted equity instruments 
(equity interest in YOMA Solutions GmbH) was 
EUR 435 thousand in 2023. The significant unob-
servable inputs are the growth rate (1% for the ter-
minal value) and the risk-adjusted discount rate of 
9.5%, which has to be allocated to Level 3. In 2022, 
a transaction with equity investors and year-end 
remeasurement resulted in a change in value of 
EUR 1,064 thousand. 

The fair value of the fixed-interest loans has been 
determined on the basis of currently available euro 
swap rates with equivalent maturities.

The Group can only enter into foreign currency 
forwards with investment-grade financial insti-
tutions. Present value computation-based for-
ward price models are among the most frequently 
used valuation methods. These models include 
various factors, e. g. the credit ratings of business 
partners, spot and forward exchange rates, yield 
curves for selected foreign currencies, currency 
spreads between selected foreign currencies, 
yield curves and forward curves for the underlying 
commodities. 

Any payment obligations arising from the payment 
based on the enterprise value are calculated using 
a formula on the basis of a comparison of Softing’s 
market capitalization at the beginning and end of 
the financial year and are allocated to Level 2.

The net gains / losses of the respective categories 
of financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 
for 2023 and 2022 are shown in the following 
overview:

Net gains and losses, 2023 (EUR thsds.) Interest I pair ent

Curren y 
translation 

gains losses et gain loss

ro  finan ial assets at a orti ed ost C  

ro  finan ial lia ilities at a orti ed ost F C

Net gains and losses, 2022 (EUR thsds.) Interest I pair ent

Curren y 
translation 

gains losses et gain loss

ro  finan ial assets at a orti ed ost C

ro  finan ial lia ilities at a orti ed ost F C
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There were no net gains/losses from the equity 
investment, which is measured at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Interest income from financial assets at amortized 
cost totaled EUR 6 thousand in the current period 
(previous year: EUR 10 thousand), while inter-
est expense on financial liabilities at amortized 
cost came to EUR –359 thousand (previous year: 
EUR –213 thousand). 

10.  OBJECTIVES AND METHODS OF 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Softing AG’s capital management aims first and 
foremost at ensuring that the Company maintains 
a solid equity ratio to support its business activi-
ties. The Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments, allowing for changes in eco-
nomic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the Group may make repayments of cap-
ital to its shareholders or issue new shares. There 
were no changes in the objectives, guidelines and 
procedures as of December 31, 2023, and Decem-
ber 31, 2022.

The Group monitors its capital using the equity 
ratio. But the Executive Board does not define a 
specific target to that end. The equity ratio in the 
financial year was 52.7% (previous year: 55.9%).

The capital of the Softing Group relevant for con-
trolling purposes encompasses subscribed capi-
tal, capital reserves, retained earnings and non-
controlling interests; it therefore corresponds to 
the equity of EUR 54,295 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 61,835 thousand) reported at the balance 
sheet date. Softing AG funds the development of 
its business to the greatest extent possible from its 
own cash flow.

As an internationally operating company, Softing 
is exposed to a variety of risks in the course of its 
operations. Therefore, the objective of its financial 
risk management is to detect all material financial 
risks early on and to take appropriate measures to 
protect existing and future success potential.

These risks include currency risks resulting from 
activities in different currency regions; counter-
party credit risks involving non-fulfillment of con-
tractual obligations by contracting parties; interest 
rate risks, where fluctuations in the market inter-
est rate trigger changes in the fair value of a finan-
cial instrument; and interest-related cash flow risks 
that trigger changes in the future cash flow of a 
financial instrument because of changes in market 
interest rates.

To evaluate and take into account such risks, 
Softing has defined principles through a central-
ized risk management system that serve to identify 
and evaluate such risks consistently and system-
atically. Continual reporting is used by Softing to 
check compliance with all principles. This enables 
the Company to identify and analyze risks early on.



With the exception of the major customers men-
tioned under D1., there are no material concentra-
tions of risk in the Group.

Please also see the disclosures on risks and oppor-
tunities in the combined management report.

Default Risks
Softing is exposed to default risks if contractual 
partners fail to meet their obligations. To avoid of 
risks of this nature, Softing enters into contracts 
only with contractual partners that have an excel-
lent credit rating. As of the closing dates of Decem-
ber 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, there was 
no material counterparty credit risk. While the 
Executive Board therefore believes the risk of non-
fulfillment on the part of its contractual partners to 
be very low, it cannot completely exclude the risk 
in the final analysis.

Counterparty credit risks primarily concern trade 
receivables. Loss allowances are recognized to allow 
for any discernable counterparty credit risks in con-
nection with individual financial assets. Loss allow-
ances as of December 31, 2023, totaled EUR 453 
thousand (previous year: EUR 276 thousand).

Regardless of any existing collateral, the carrying 
amount of financial assets equals the maximum 
counterparty credit risk if the contractual partners 
fail to meet their payment obligations.

Interest Rate Risks
Softing is also exposed to interest rate risks. The 
assets subject to interest rate fluctuations essen-
tially concern cash and cash equivalents and securi-
ties classified as current assets. Bank balances total-
ing EUR 4,859 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,801 
thousand) bear interest of 0.00% (previous year: 
0.00%). No material interest rate risks result from 
subsidiaries’ liabilities to banks in the amount of 
EUR 14,832 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,735 
thousand) because these loans in the amount of 
EUR 9,156 thousand are fixed-interest loans.

An increase of the market interest rate by 50 basis 
points would have an impact of EUR 28 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 14 thousand) on interest 
expense relating to the short-term loans.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Softing Group’s foreign currency risk is limited 
to three currencies: USD, CHF and RON. The for-
eign currency risk relating to US dollars is hedged 
naturally, because in the United States and in Sin-
gapore (where US dollars are the functional cur-
rency), income and expenses are generated/
incurred for products. The foreign currency risk 
associated with the Romanian RON and CHF is 
minimal because these currencies are linked to the 
euro, and the agreements with the Romanian sub-
sidiary stipulate euros.

The following sensitivities apply with regard to USD:

In EUR thsds. / USD USD

Closing rate: USD 1.105
1.22

+10%
0.99

–10%
i eren e i eren e

Financial assets/liabilities USD USD in EUR +10% –10%

Trade re ei a les

Re ei a les ro  a liated o panies

t er urrent assets

Cas  and as  equi alents

Current lia ilities

26,320 23,819 –2,165 2,647
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Movements in the USD:EUR exchange rate would 
in part be reflected in the equity of the Softing 
Group and in part in the consolidated income 
statement.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might 
not have adequate funds to fulfill its payment 
obligations.

The Group’s liquidity requirements are met primar-
ily through its operating business. Softing AG con-
tinuously monitors the risk of a potential liquidity 
bottleneck using its liquidity planning. The Group’s 
goal is to continue meeting its liquidity require-
ments through its own cash flow.

The Group possesses sufficient liquidity and 
unused credit lines in the amount of EUR 3.2 mil-
lion to meet its obligations over the next four years 
in line with its strategic plans. For disclosures on 
maturities, please see section C.

Cash and cash equivalents at year’s end were 
EUR 4,859 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,801 
thousand), Accounting for 4.7% (previous year: 
6.2%) of the Group’s total assets. 

The following table shows the financial liabilities 
of the Group by maturity classes based on the 
remaining life as of the reporting date and based 
on the contractually agreed maturity. With the 
exception of the fixed-interest loans, the amounts 
shown in the table are not discounted cash flows.

e    (E R t sds ) p to  year  years ore t an 
years

Total 
ontra tual CF

Total arrying 
a ounts

Financial liabilities

L oan

ease lia ilities

Trade paya les

t er finan ial lia ilities

e    (E R t sds ) p to  year  years ore t an 
years

Total 
ontra tual CF

Total arrying 
a ounts

Financial liabilities

L oan

ease lia ilities

Trade paya les

t er finan ial lia ilities

11.  HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS 
AND DERIVATIVES

The Softing Group is exposed to certain risks in its 
business operations due to its international activi-
ties. The Softing Group manages the related cur-
rency risk partly by means of the sporadic use of 
derivative financial instruments.

The Softing Group’s risk management strategy and 
its implementation are explained in Note E.10.



12. PERSONNEL

The number of employees (exclusively salaried 
employees) excluding the Executive Board was as 
follows:

s o  t e alan e s eet date

nnual a erage

ar eting  Sales

Resear   e elop ent

d inistration  eneral

anage ent

Benefits granted
E R (in t sds )

Total

Fi ed re uneration

Fringe enefits

Total

is retionary onus

ne year aria le re uneration

ulti year aria le re uneration

ulti year aria le re uneration ased on enterprise alue

Total

ension e pense

Total re uneration

13.  TOTAL REMUNERATION 
OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

The following persons were members of the Exec-
utive Board of Softing AG in the reporting period:

Dr.-Ing. Dr. rer. oec. Wolfgang Trier, Munich, Ger-
many, Chairman of the Executive Board 

Mr. Ernst Homolka, Munich, Germany, Executive 
Board member for Finance and Human Resources

eri ati es ot esignated as 
edging Instru ents

The Softing Group uses forward exchange con-
tracts to hedge a portion of the transaction risks. 
These forward exchange contracts are not desig-
nated as cash flow hedges. The period for which 

these forward exchange contracts are entered into 
corresponds to the period for which a foreign cur-
rency risk applies in relation to the hedge, gener-
ally up to three months. Forward exchange con-
tract are also entered into on a revolving basis.
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All remuneration components are deemed to 
have been earned in the financial year. A portion 
of the total remuneration, including that of previ-
ous years, is presented under other non-current 
financial liabilities at the balance sheet date in the 
amount of EUR 4,493 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 4,451 thousand).

In addition, unused vacation days in the amount of 
EUR 8 thousand from the previous year were set-
tled in the financial year (previous year: EUR 10 
thousand).

The obligations from non-reinsured pension ex-
penses for the Executive Board amount to EUR 135 
thousand (previous year: EUR 80 thousand).

The fringe benefits and the pension expense 
include flat-rate vehicle allowances and the 
employer contributions to social security, and con-
tributions to pensions and pension expenses.

Remuneration based on the enterprise value con-
sists of a current variable remuneration com-
ponent paid in cash. Here, the Executive Board 
receives a pro-rata share of any increase in market 
capitalization during Softing AG’s financial year. The 
remuneration component is redefined each year. 
A payment obligation only arises if the increase in 
the enterprise value exceeds a predefined rate of 
increase. If the market capitalization decreases or 
falls below the rate of increase, the entitlement 

will expire without compensation. The payment 
obligation is calculated using a formula on the basis 
of a comparison of Softing’s market capitalization 
at the beginning and end of the financial year. Staff 
costs were recognized in the amount of the fixed 
payment obligation as of the balance sheet date. 
The obligation had not yet been paid out by the 
balance sheet date and is reported under financial 
liabilities.

The total remuneration must be classified as short-
term in accordance with IAS 24.17.

Furthermore, service cost of EUR 122 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 168 thousand) was recognized. 

A D&O insurance with a deductible of 10% has 
been taken out for the members of the Executive 
Board.

The Executive Board member also holds the Com-
pany’s key central positions.

Pension obligations for former members of the 
Executive Board as of December 31, 2023 totaled 
EUR 2,228 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,285 
thousand). The total remuneration of former mem-
bers of the Executive Board amounted to EUR 194 
thousand (previous year: EUR 182 thousand).

All other details are presented in the remuneration 
report pursuant to Section 162 AktG.

14.  TOTAL REMUNERATION 
OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The following persons were members of the 
Supervisory Board of Softing AG in the 2023 finan-
cial year:

Matthias Weber, business graduate, Baierbrunn, 
Germany (Chairman)

Andreas Kratzer, certified public accountant, 
Neuheim, Switzerland (Deputy Chairman)

Dr. Klaus Fuchs, graduate computer scientist und 
graduate engineer, Helfant, Germany



Mr. Matthias Weber was also a member of the 
supervisory board of the following companies:
• Salutas Pharma GmbH, Barleben, 

Germany, chairman of the Supervisory Board
• Lek d.d., Ljublijana, Slovenia, 

chairman of the Supervisory Board
• Sandoz GmbH, Kundl, Austria, 

chairman of the Supervisory Board
• Rowex Ltd, Bantry/ Ireland, 

member of the Supervisory Board
• Sandoz Austria GmbH, Austria, 

member of the Supervisory Board 

Mr. Andreas Kratzer is also a member of one other 
Supervisory Board:
• Fox e-mobility AG, Munich, Germany

Dr. Klaus Fuchs does not hold any offices on other 
Supervisory Boards.

In addition to being reimbursed for their expenses 
and any VAT applicable on their remuneration and 
expenses, each member of the Supervisory Board 
receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 15,000.00 
for each full financial year of service on the Super-
visory Board, payable after the end of the financial 
year. The Chairman receives EUR 25,000.00 and 
the Deputy Chairman receives EUR 20,000.00.

In addition, each member receives variable remu-
neration amounting to 0.5% of Group EBIT before 
variable Supervisory Board remuneration.

The total remuneration is presented under other 
current financial assets at the balance sheet date 
in the amount of EUR 60 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 62 thousand). The total remuneration for 
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
amounts to EUR 1,976 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,698 thousand).

15. AUDITOR’S FEES

The following expenditure (including expenses) 
was incurred in the financial year just ended for 

services provided by the 2023 auditor, Rödl & 
Partner GmbH:

E R (in t sds ) E R (in t sds )

udit o  annual finan ial state ents

t er ser i es

197 163
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16. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events after the reporting date to 
report.

17.  STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 
289F AND 315D GERMAN COMMERCIAL 
CODE (HGB)

The declaration pursuant to Section 289f and 
315d of the German Commercial Code was issued 
by the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board of Softing AG and has been made perma-
nently available to shareholders on the Internet at 
www.softing.com.

Haar, Germany, March 20, 2024

Softing AG

The Executive Board

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka



TO SOFTING AG, HAAR

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND OF THE COMBINED MANAGEMENT 
REPORT

Audit Opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments of Softing AG, Haar, and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as at December 31, 
2023, and the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the financial year from January 1, 
2023 to December 31, 2023, and notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, including a sum-
mary of significant accounting policies. In addi-
tion, we have audited the combined management 
report of Softing AG, Haar, for the financial year 
from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. In 
accordance with German law, we have not audited 
the contents of the disclosures made in the section 
“Statement on corporate governance” of the com-
bined management report, and the Sustainability 
Report to which the Company refers in the section 
“Internal management system”.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge 
obtained in the audit,

• the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments comply, in all material respects, with the 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pur-
suant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetz-
buch: German Commercial Code] and, in com-
pliance with these requirements, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial 
position of the Group as at December 31, 2023, 

and of its financial performance for the finan-
cial year from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 
2023, and

• the accompanying combined management 
report as a whole provides an appropriate view 
of the Group’s position. In all material respects, 
this combined management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, com-
plies with German legal requirements and appro-
priately presents the opportunities and risks of 
future development. Our audit opinion on the 
combined management report does not extend 
to the contents of the aforementioned compo-
nents of the combined management reports, 
whose contents we have not audited.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we 
declare that our audit has not led to any reserva-
tions relating to the legal compliance of the consol-
idated financial statements and of the combined 
management report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and of the combined management 
report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and 
the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014; herein-
after referred to as “EU Audit Regulation”), and 
generally accepted German standards for the 
audit of financial statements promulgated by the 
Institute of Public Auditors in Germany [Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer] (IDW). Our responsibilities 
under those requirements and principles are fur-
ther described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments and of the Combined Management Report” 
section of our auditor’s report. We are indepen-
dent of the group entities in accordance with the 
requirements of European law and German com-
mercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled 

Independent auditor s report
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our other German professional responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. In addition, 
in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the 
EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not 
provided non-audit services prohibited under Arti-
cle 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the combined management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most signifi-
cance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements for the financial year from January 1, 
2023 to December 31, 2023. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the con-
solidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not pro-
vide a separate audit opinion on these matters.

RECOGNITION OF REVENUE FROM 
CUSTOMER PROJECTS OVER TIME 
(SERVICE SOLUTIONS)

• Reasons why the matter was determined to be a 
key audit matter

In the consolidated financial statements of 
Softing AG, revenue of EUR 14,990 thousand from 
the development of customer projects arising from 
the fulfillment of service obligations over time is 
reported. Provided that the criteria of IFRS 15 have 
been met, the revenue is recognized in accordance 
with the stage of completion, with the estimate of 
the stage of completion being based on the ratio 
of costs actually incurred in relation to the contract 
to the planned total costs (“cost-to-cost method”). 

In particular, estimating the planned total costs 
and appropriately allocating personnel expenses 
to the projects require the management to use 
estimates and assumptions.

Due to the complexity of the accounting, the long-
term nature of the contracts and the resulting 
uncertainties relating to the estimates, this matter 
was of particular significance in the context of our 
audit.

• Our audit approach

As part of our audit, we assessed and evaluated, 
among other things, the processes and controls 
established by the Group in relation to recogniz-
ing revenue over time from customer projects 
taking into account the stage of completion. We 
examined projects on a sample basis to establish 
whether the conditions for recognizing revenue 
over time as set out in IFRS 15 were met. Moreover, 
we evaluated the determination of the stage of 
completion of customer-specific contracts on the 
basis of the cost-to-cost method and the resulting 
proportion of revenue and profit recognized, bear-
ing in mind the probability of an expected loss to 
be recognized immediately. In this connection we 
retraced the calculation of the planned total costs 
as well as of the costs actually incurred. In addi-
tion, we assessed the consistency of the methods 
used to calculate the costs incurred. Furthermore, 
in order to mitigate the inherent audit risk in this 
audit area, we ensured that audit procedures were 
consistently carried out throughout the Group.

• Reference to related disclosures

The Company’s disclosures on recognizing revenue 
over time are contained in sections B.1, B.13, C.10 
and D.1 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.



RECOVERABILITY OF GOODWILL

• Reasons why the matter was determined to be a 
key audit matter

In the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, goodwill amounting to a total of 
EUR 10,950 thousand (10.62% of total assets and 
20.17% of equity) is reported. Goodwill is tested for 
impairment by the Company once a year or when 
there are indications of impairment to determine 
any possible need for write-downs. The impair-
ment test is carried out at the level of the groups 
of cash-generating units to which the relevant 
goodwill has been allocated. The carrying amount 
of the relevant goodwill is compared with the cor-
responding recoverable amount in the context of 
the impairment test. The calculation of the recov-
erable amount generally employs the value in use. 
The present value of the future cash flows from the 
respective group of cash-generating units normally 
serves as the basis of valuation. Present values 
are calculated using discounted cash flow mod-
els. For this purpose, the medium-term business 
plan adopted by the Group forms the starting point 
which is extrapolated based on assumptions about 
long-term rates of growth. Expectations relat-
ing to future market developments and assump-
tions about the development of macroeconomic 
factors are also taken into account. The discount 
rate used is the weighted average cost of capital 
for the relevant group of cash-generating units. 
The impairment test identified an impairment of 
EUR 5,061 thousand in the IT Networks segment 
and EUR 1,117 thousand at GlobalmatiX AG.

The outcome of this valuation is dependent to a 
large extent on the estimates made by manage-
ment with respect to the future cash inflows for 
the respective group of cash-generating units, the 
discount rate used, the rate of growth and other 
assumptions, and is therefore subject to consider-
able uncertainty. Against this background and due 
to the complex nature of the valuation, this mat-
ter was of particular significance in the context of 
our audit.

• Our audit approach

As part of our audit, we assessed the methodol-
ogy employed for the purposes of performing the 
impairment test, among other things. After match-
ing the future cash inflows used for the calculation 
against the medium-term business plan adopted 
by the Group, we evaluated the appropriateness 
of the calculation especially through reconciliation 
with general and sector-specific market expecta-
tions. Furthermore, we also evaluated the proper 
consideration of the costs for Group functions. In 
the knowledge that even relatively small changes 
in the discount rate applied can have a material 
impact on the value of the entity calculated in this 
way, we also focused our testing in particular on 
the parameters used to determine the discount 
rate applied, and evaluated the valuation model. 
We assessed the sensitivity analyses performed by 
the Company, in order to reflect the uncertainty 
inherent in the projections.

• Reference to related disclosures

The Company’s disclosures on impairment test-
ing and goodwill are contained in sections B.6 
und C.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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DEVELOPMENT COSTS FOR INTERNALLY 
GENERATED PRODUCT DEVELOPMENTS

• Reasons why the matter was determined to be a 
key audit matter

In the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, an amount of EUR 17,918 thousand 
for internally generated product developments is 
reported under the “Other intangible assets” item 
in the statement of financial position. This amount 
relates to development costs for new products 
and significant further developments (hereinaf-
ter “product developments”), which were capital-
ized in accordance with IAS 38. The development 
costs include directly allocable costs. The criteria 
of IAS 38.57 determine whether internally gener-
ated product developments are eligible for capi-
talization – specifically the technical feasibility of 
completing the intangible asset, how the intangi-
ble asset will generate probable future economic 
benefits and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development – and provide considerable 
scope for judgment. The asset is generally amor-
tized over 5 years once the Company begins con-
suming the economic benefits from that asset. 
Own work capitalized contributed EUR 5,690 thou-
sand to consolidated profit in financial year 2023. 
This was offset by amortization and impairment 
of internally generated intangible assets amount-
ing to EUR 5,057 thousand, of which EUR 2,000 
thousand concerned impairment losses. In our 
view, this matter was of particular significance for 
our audit because the capitalization, recoverability 
and amortization of development costs are based 
to a large extent on management estimates and 
assumptions and are therefore subject to corre-
sponding uncertainties.

• Our audit approach

As part of our audit, we evaluated, among other 
things, the capitalization requirements for individ-
ual projects, using the criteria set out in IAS 38.57. 

We also assessed the methodology used to calcu-
late the costs eligible for capitalization. We deter-
mined that the process for capitalizing develop-
ment costs is appropriately designed and evalu-
ated whether the established controls have been 
properly implemented. We assessed the amount of 
the capitalized development costs and the recover-
ability of the product developments on the basis 
of appropriate evidence (sales forecasts, impair-
ment tests). In so doing, we also inspected project 
records and talked to technical project managers 
in order to satisfy ourselves of the respective per-
centage of completion. 

• Reference to related disclosures

The Company’s disclosures on capitalized develop-
ment costs are contained in sections B.5 and C.3 of 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other Information
The executive directors and the Supervisory Board 
are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises:

• the statements in accordance with Section 297 
(2) sentence 4 HGB and Section 315 (1) sentence 
5 HGB on the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report,

• the Report of the Supervisory Board, the Letter 
from the CEO,

• the remaining parts of the “annual report”, 

but not the consolidated financial statements, not 
the audited content of the combined management 
report, and not our auditor’s report thereon.



The Supervisory Board is responsible for the report 
of the Supervisory Board. In all other respects, the 
executive directors are responsible for the other 
information.

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the combined management 
report do not cover the other information, and 
consequently we do not express an audit opinion 
or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the aforementioned other information and, in so 
doing, to consider whether the other information

• is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, the audited disclosures of 
the combined management report or our knowl-
edge obtained in the audit, or

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we con-
clude that there is a material misstatement of such 
other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors 
and the Supervisory Board for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the Combined Management Report
The executive directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments that comply, in all material respects, with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursu-
ant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consol-
idated financial statements, in compliance with 
these requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial 
performance of the Group. In addition, the execu-
tive directors are responsible for such internal con-
trol as they have determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud (i. e. fraudulent financial 
reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the executive directors are responsible for assess-
ing the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. They also have the responsibility for disclos-
ing, as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern. In addition, they are responsible for financial 
reporting based on the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Furthermore, the executive directors are responsi-
ble for the preparation of the combined manage-
ment report that, as a whole, provides an appro-
priate view of the Group’s position and is, in all 
material respects, consistent with the consoli-
dated financial statements, complies with German 
legal requirements, and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. In 
addition, the executive directors are responsible 
for such arrangements and measures (systems) 
as they have considered necessary to enable the 
preparation of a combined management report 
that is in accordance with the applicable German 
legal requirements, and to be able to provide suffi-
cient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
combined management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for oversee-
ing the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the combined management report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and of the Combined Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 
the combined management report as a whole pro-
vides an appropriate view of the Group’s position 
and, in all material respects, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and the knowl-
edge obtained in the audit, complies with the Ger-
man legal requirements and appropriately pres-
ents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our audit opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined man-
agement report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regulation and in compliance with German Gen-
erally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschafts-
prüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstate-
ment. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial state-
ments and this combined management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the combined management report, 
whether due to fraud error, design and per-
form audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opin-
ions. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than 
the risk of not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-
resentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control rel-
evant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report 
in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the 
effectiveness of these systems.



• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting poli-
cies used by the executive directors and the rea-
sonableness of estimates made by the executive 
directors and related disclosures.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the execu-
tive directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast sig-
nificant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a mate-
rial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and in the combined management report 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated financial state-
ments, including the disclosures, and whether 
the consolidated financial statements present 
the underlying transactions and events in a man-
ner that the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and financial performance of 
the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to Section 
315e (1) HGB.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the enti-
ties or business activities within the Group to 
express audit opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined man-
agement report. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinions.

• Evaluate the consistency of the combined man-
agement report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with German law, and 
the view of the Group’s position it provides.

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by the executive direc-
tors in the combined management report. On 
the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence we evaluate, in particular, the significant 
assumptions used by the executive directors as a 
basis for the prospective information, and eval-
uate the proper derivation of the prospective 
information from these assumptions. We do not 
express a separate audit opinion on the prospec-
tive information and on the assumptions used 
as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk 
that future events will differ materially from the 
prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with gov-
ernance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and signif-
icant audit findings, including any significant defi-
ciencies in the internal control system that we 
identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with the 
relevant independence requirements and commu-
nicate with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, the actions 
taken or safeguards applied to eliminate indepen-
dence threats.

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the cur-
rent period and are therefore the key audit mat-
ters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter.

OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Report on Assurance in Accordance with 
Section 317 (3a) HGB on the Electronic 
Reproduction of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Combined Management 
Report Prepared for Publication Purposes

Opinion
We have performed an assurance engagement in 
accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the repro-
duction of the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report (here-
inafter the “ESEF documents”) contained in the 
electronic file SOFTING_AG_KA+LB_ESEF_31-12-
2023.zip (SHA 256-Hashwert: 460d5cf5cc0fbf-
7714b1e263b796cc33082b49f95f969da2e02b-

dbbe2cad7991) and prepared for publication pur-
poses complies in all material respects with the 
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the elec-
tronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In accor-
dance with German legal requirements, this assur-
ance only extends to the conversion of the infor-
mation contained in the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report 
into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither 
to the information contained in this reproduction 
nor any other information contained in the above-
mentioned electronic file.

In our opinion, the reproduction of the consol-
idated financial statements and the combined 
management report contained in the above-men-
tioned electronic file [provided] and prepared 
for publication purposes complies in all material 
respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) 
HGB for the electronic reporting format. We do not 
express any opinion on the information contained 
in this reproduction nor on any other information 
contained in the above-mentioned file beyond this 
reasonable assurance opinion and our audit opin-
ion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements and the accompanying combined man-
agement report for the financial year from Janu-
ary 1 2023 to December 31, 2023 contained in the 
“Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements and the Combined Management 
Report” above.

Basis for the Reasonable Assurance Conclusion
We conducted our assurance work on the repro-
duction of the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report contained 
in the above-mentioned electronic file [provided]
in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB, and the 



IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance in accordance 
with Section 317 (3a) HGB on the Electronic Repro-
duction of Financial Statements and Management 
Reports Prepared for Publication Purposes (IDW 
AuS 410 (06.2022)). Accordingly, our responsibili-
ties are further described below in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Assurance Engagement on 
the ESEF Documents” section. Our audit firm has 
applied the IDW Standard on Quality Manage-
ment: Requirements for Quality Management in 
the Audit Firm (IDW QMS 1 (09.2022)).

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and 
the Supervisory Board for the ESEF Documents
The executive directors of the Company are 
responsible for the preparation of the ESEF docu-
ments including the electronic reproduction of the 
consolidated financial statements and the com-
bined management report in accordance with 
Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB and for the 
tagging of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 
item 2 HGB.

In addition, the executive directors of the Company 
are responsible for such internal control as they 
have considered necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of ESEF documents that are free from mate-
rial non-compliance with the requirements of Sec-
tion 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting for-
mat, whether due to fraud or error.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for oversee-
ing the process of preparing the ESEF documents 
as part of the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Assurance Engagement on the ESEF Documents
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the ESEF documents are free from 
material intentional or unintentional non-com-
pliance with the requirements of Section 328 
(1) HGB. We exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material non-com-
pliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) 
HGB, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform assurance procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our assurance conclusion.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control rel-
evant to the assurance engagement on the ESEF 
documents in order to design assurance proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an assur-
ance conclusion on the effectiveness of these 
controls.

• Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF doc-
uments, i. e. whether the electronic file [pro-
vided] containing the ESEF documents meets 
the requirements of Commission Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 as applicable on the 
reporting date on the technical specification for 
this electronic file.

• Evaluate whether the ESEF documents enable 
an XHTML reproduction with content equivalent 
to the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the audited combined management report.

• Evaluate whether tagging the ESEF documents 
with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accor-
dance with the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 
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of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in 
the version applicable at the date of the consoli-
dated financial statements provides an appropri-
ate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy 
of the XHTML reproduction.

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 
of the EU Audit Regulation
We were elected as group auditor by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 4, 2023. We were 
engaged by the Supervisory Board on Decem-
ber 5, 2023. We have been the group auditor of 
the Softing AG, Haar, without interruption since 
the financial year 2019. 

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in 
this auditor’s report are consistent with the addi-
tional report to the audit committee pursuant to 
Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form 
audit report).

OTHER MATTER – USE OF THE 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
Our auditor’s report must always be read together 
with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the audited combined management report as 
well as the assured ESEF documents. The consoli-
dated financial statements and the combined man-
agement report converted to the ESEF format – 
including the versions to be published in the Com-
pany Register – are merely electronic renderings of 
the audited consolidated financial statements and 
the audited combined management report and do 
not take their place. In particular, the ESEF report 
and our assurance opinion contained therein are 
to be used solely together with the assured ESEF 
documents made available in electronic form.

GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR 
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ENGAGEMENT
The German Public Auditor responsible for the 
engagement is Felix Haendel.

Munich, Germany, March 20, 2024

Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Signed: Ronald Hager Signed: Felix Haendel
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]



Report o  t e Super isory Board
for Financial Year 2023

The Supervisory Board of Softing AG carried out its 
duties as provided by law and the Company’s Arti-
cles of Incorporation in financial year 2023. The 
Supervisory Board regularly advised the Execu-
tive Board in matters of management and dili-
gently monitored its actions. The Supervisory 
Board was informed regularly about the situation 
of Softing AG and the Softing Group and monitored 
and accompanied the work of the Executive Board 
as well as compliance with applicable legal provi-
sions and the Company’s internal guidelines. The 
Executive Board informed the Supervisory Board in 
writing and orally about the business policies, fun-
damental questions of future business activities, 
the economic situation and future strategic devel-
opment, the risk situation and risk management as 
well as significant business transactions, and dis-
cussed these matters with the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board was involved in decisions of 
material significance at all times. 

A total of five in-person and two virtual Super-
visory Board meetings were held in the 2023 finan-
cial year: 

On March 21, March 24, May 4, June 20, July 24, 
October 13 and December 22.

Given that the Supervisory Board has three mem-
bers, the Audit Committee comprises the entire 
Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee is chaired 
by Mr. Andreas Kratzer. 

A total of five Audit Committee meetings were 
held in the 2023 financial year:

On February 9, February 20, March 9, Septem-
ber 22 and December 22. 

The regular deliberations during Supervisory Board 
meetings and between the Executive Board and 

the Supervisory Board focused on the organiza-
tional and strategic development and orientation 
of the Softing Group, the positioning and financial 
development of Softing AG, and significant busi-
ness events for the Company. Between meetings, 
the Supervisory Board was also informed of plans 
and developments that were of particular impor-
tance. The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed, 
discussed and approved all matters which require 
approval under legal provisions and the Articles of 
Incorporation or the Rules of Procedure.

Furthermore, in regular discussions with the Execu-
tive Board, the chairman of the Supervisory Board 
obtained information about important decisions 
and business transactions of special significance. 
He also held separate discussions with the Exec-
utive Board on strategy to explore the perspec-
tives for and future alignment of each individual 
business.

Our deliberations and reviews focused on the 
entire accounting system of Softing AG and the 
Group, the monitoring of the internal control sys-
tem as well as the refinement of the internal audit-
ing and risk management system. 

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY 
BOARD AND THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
In the reporting year, the Supervisory Board was 
comprised of Mr. Matthias Weber (Chairman), Mr. 
Andreas Kratzer (Deputy Chairman) and Dr. Klaus 
Fuchs. 

The duties of the Audit Committee were per-
formed by the entire Supervisory Board, chaired 
by Mr. Andreas Kratzer. The full Supervisory Board 
was responsible for all other tasks and decisions. 
In the year under review, the Executive Board con-
sisted of Dr. Dr. Wolfgang Trier and Ernst Homolka.
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MAIN FOCUS OF THE MEETINGS
Some parts of the meetings took place without the 
Executive Board and were used for internal coordi-
nation within the Supervisory Board.

During the preparation phase, the Audit Commit-
tee provided regular information on the progress 
of the work and the results, both within the organi-
zation and in direct talks with the auditors.

At the Supervisory Board meeting on March 21, 
2023, the Supervisory Board dealt with the Com-
pany’s performance in the 2022 financial year and 
the first results for 2023. 

The Supervisory Board had already received 
advance drafts of the audit reports via mail from 
Mr. Haendel (Rödl & Partner) on March 9, 2023. 
On March 14, 2023, Mr. Kratzer asked the Super-
visory Board’s combined questions in a separate 
consultation with Mr. Haendel and Mr. Homolka. 
At this meeting, the Supervisory Board asked the 
auditors, who were present, for further explana-
tions about the audit reports for the Softing Group, 
Softing AG and the remuneration report.

The invitation to the 2023 General Shareholders’ 
Meeting on May 4 was also approved at this meet-
ing, as well as the Declaration of Compliance with 
the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) 
and the Statement on Corporate Governance pur-
suant to Sections 289f and 315d of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). 

Managing director Mr. Widmann presented the 
2023 business outlook for GlobalmatiX AG.

Other topics included a report on changes in con-
trolling, expanding the internal control system, and 
setting individual targets for the Executive Board 
in 2023.

At its virtual meeting on March 24, the Supervisory 
Board adopted the 2022 annual financial state-
ments of Softing AG and approved the 2022 con-
solidated financial statements.

On May 4, 2023, the General Shareholders’ Meet-
ing was followed by the inaugural Supervisory 
Board meeting due to the reelection of the Supervi-
sory Board. At this inaugural meeting, Mr.  Matthias 
Weber was elected Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, and Mr. Andreas Kratzer was appointed 
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board. There 
was a recapitulation of the General Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting. This meeting was concluded with a 
report of the Executive Board on the status and 
outlook of the Company’s strategy, operations and 
financial position. 

At the virtual meeting held on June 20, 2023, the 
Executive Board presented data and background 
information on the business figures for the first 
five months and the financial planning at the 
Supervisory Board meeting. The Supervisory 
Board obtained a detailed report from the Execu-
tive Board on the development of business in the 
past first months. 

At the meeting on July 24, 2023, held at the busi-
ness premises of GlobalmatiX AG in Vaduz, the 
Executive Board provided detailed commentary on 
data and background information on the financial 
figures for the first six months of 2023, the finan-
cial planning for the rest of the year, and the risk 
report for the first half of the year.

The executive management of GlobalmatiX AG 
provided a report on the course of business for 
2023 so far and the outlook for the second half of 
the year. 



On September 27, Mr. Homolka and his expert col-
leagues provided Mr. Weber and Mr. Kratzer with 
detailed reports about ICS and the risk manage-
ment system.

At the meeting on October 13, 2023, the Execu-
tive Board provided detailed commentary on data 
and background information on the financial fig-
ures for the first nine months of 2023 and the 
financial planning for the rest of the year. This was 
followed by a status report on current business 
and the latest outlook for GlobalmatiX AG and IT 
Networks. The Executive Board also informed the 
Supervisory Board about two potential acquisi-
tion targets and planned changes to the Group’s 
structure. Mr. Kratzer also provided a report on the 
Audit Committee’s first meeting with auditors from 
Rödl & Partner in anticipation of the 2023 annual 
financial statements.

At the Supervisory Board meeting held on Decem-
ber 22, 2023, the Executive Board presented to 
the Supervisory Board a first estimate of the 2023 
annual results, its business plan for 2024 and its 
multi-year planning. After careful review, the 
Supervisory Board approved the two plans. 

The Executive Board explained its approach to 
the impairment tests for the 2023 annual finan-
cial statements. At this meeting, the Supervisory 
Board also carried out the efficiency review rec-
ommended by the German Corporate Governance 
Code. The Supervisory Board came to the conclu-
sion that its work was efficient. The Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board also decided on the 
update regarding the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code pursuant to Section 161 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act and the update to the 
Statement on Corporate Governance pursuant to 
Sections 289f and 315d of the German Commer-
cial Code. Mr. Homolka presented the risk report 
for the second half of 2023 and answered the 
Supervisory Board’s follow-up questions.

At the Audit Committee’s meetings on February 9, 
2023, February 20, 2023 and March 9, 2023, the 
Supervisory Board received a summary of the 
audit work carried out by audit firm Rödl & Partner 
for the 2022 annual financial statements. 

At the meeting held on September 22, 2023, 
Rödl & Partner, the audit firm elected at the Gen-
eral Shareholders’ Meeting, was engaged as statu-
tory auditor. The focal points of the 2023 prelimi-
nary and main audit were also determined, as was 
the Supervisory Board’s approach to assessing the 
quality of the auditors.

At its meeting on December 22, the Supervisory 
Board received a summary of the results of this 
preliminary audit and agreed a course of action 
for the main audit with Rödl & Partner. In partic-
ular, impairment testing and the resulting possi-
ble allowances to be recognized were discussed in 
detail.

All members of the Supervisory Board attended all 
Supervisory Board meetings in 2023. There was no 
conflict of interest of members of the Supervisory 
Board in the financial year just ended. The inde-
pendence of the financial experts on the Supervi-
sory Board was monitored on an ongoing basis and 
is assured. 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The annual financial statements of Softing AG were 
prepared in accordance with the German Com-
mercial Code and the consolidated financial state-
ments and the Group management report were 
prepared in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The annual finan-
cial statements and the management report of 
Softing AG, and the consolidated financial state-
ments and the Group management report as of 
December 31, 2023, were audited as required by 
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law by Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaft s prü fungs-
gesellschaft  Steuerberatungsgesellschaft , Munich, 
Germany, the auditors appointed by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeti ng. 

The auditors issued an unqualifi ed auditor’s opin-
ion each for the annual fi nancial statements and 
the consolidated fi nancial statements. The audi-
tors performed an audit in accordance with Sec-
ti on 317 (4) German Commercial Code and came 
to the conclusion that the Executi ve Board estab-
lished a monitoring system which fulfi lls the legal 
requirements for the early detecti on of risks jeop-
ardizing the Company’s existence as a going con-
cern and that the Executi ve Board took appropri-
ate measures to detect developments at an early 
stage and avert risks.

The auditors stated their independence vis-à-vis 
the Supervisory Board as required by the German 
Corporate Governance Code and disclosed the 
audit and consulti ng fees received in the fi nancial 
year. 

The annual fi nancial statements and the audit 
reports of the auditors were made available in ti me 
to all members of the Supervisory Board. At its 
fi nancials meeti ng on March 20, 2024, the Super-
visory Board examined the annual fi nancial state-
ments and the management report of Soft ing AG 

as well as the consolidated fi nancial statements 
and the Group management report presented by 
the Executi ve Board including the audit report pre-
pared by the auditors of the fi nancial statements. 
The auditors and the Executi ve Board parti cipated 
in the meeti ng.

The auditors reported on their audit in general as 
well as on individual focal points and the signifi cant 
results of their audit. They answered the questi ons 
raised by the members of the Supervisory Board 
in detail. The Supervisory Board approved the 
result of the audit. There was no reason to raise 
any objecti ons based on the fi nal result of this 
examinati on. 

The Supervisory Board approved the annual fi nan-
cial statements and the consolidated fi nancial 
statements for 2023 at its meeti ng on March 20, 
2024. The annual fi nancial statements are there-
fore formally adopted. The Supervisory Board 
agreed with the appropriati on of the net retained 
profi ts proposed by the Executi ve Board.

THANK YOU
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Exec-
uti ve Board and all employees for their extraordi-
nary eff orts for Soft ing during a diffi  cult 2023 that 
was again dominated by global events, and for 
their achievements in the 2023 fi nancial year. 

Haar, Germany, March 20, 2024

Matt hias Weber

Chairman
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